ALMA MATER STUDIORUM UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI BOLOGNA

Dottorato di Ricerca in Farmacologia e Tossicologia

XXII CICLO Settore scientifico disciplinare BIO14

MOLECULAR ANALYSIS OF SIGMA-1

RECEPTOR MODULATION OF

THE DOPAMINE TRANSPORTER

Presentata da:

Dott. Nicola Fazio

Coordinatore Chiar.mo Prof. Giorgio Cantelli Forti Relatore Chiar.mo Prof. Santi Spampinato

ANNO ACCADEMICO 2009-2010

To my beloved wife Giulia

Abstract

Sigma (σ) receptors are well established as a non-opioid, nonphencyclidine, and haloperidol-sensitive receptor family with its own binding profile and a characteristic distribution in the central nervous system (CNS) as well as in endocrine, immune, and some peripheral tissues. Two σ receptors subtypes, termed σ_1 and σ_2 , have been pharmacologically characterized, but, to date, only the σ_1 has also been cloned.

Activation of σ_1 receptors alter several neurotransmitter systems and dopamine (DA) neurotrasmission has been often shown to constitute an important target of σ receptors in different experimental models; however the exact role of σ_1 receptor in dopaminergic neurotransmission remains unclear. The DA transporter (DAT) modulates the spatial and temporal aspects of dopaminergic synaptic transmission and interpret the primary mechanism by wich dopaminergic neurons terminate the signal transmission. For this reason present studies have been focused in understanding whether, in cell models, the human subtype of σ_1 (h σ_1) receptor is able to directly modulate the human DA transporter (hDAT).

In the first part of this thesis, HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y cells were permanently transfected with the $h\sigma_1$ receptor. Subsequently, they were transfected with another plasmid for transiently expressing the hDAT. The hDAT activity was estimated using the described [³H]DA uptake assay and the effects of σ ligands were evaluated by measuring the uptaken [³H]DA after treating the cells with known σ agonists and antagonists. Results illustrated in this thesis demonstrate that activation of overexpressed $h\sigma_1$ receptors by (+)-pentazocine, the σ_1 agonist prototype, determines an increase of 40% of the extracellular [³H]DA uptake, in comparison to non-treated controls and the σ_1 antagonists BD-1047 and NE-100 prevent the positive effect of (+)-pentazocine on DA reuptake

DA is likely to be considered a neurotoxic molecule. In fact, when levels of intracellular DA abnormally invrease, vescicles can't sequester the DA which is metabolized by MAO (A and B) and COMT with consequent overproduction of oxygen reactive species and toxic catabolites. Stress induced by these molecules leads cells to death. Thus, for the second part of this thesis, experiments have been performed in order to investigate functional alterations caused by the (+)-pentazocine-mediated increase of DA uptake; particularly it has been investigated if the increase of intracellular [DA] could affect cells viability. Results obtained from this study demonstrate that (+)pentazocine alone increases DA cell toxicity in a concentrationdependent manner only in cells co-expressing $h\sigma_1$ and hDAT and σ_1 antagonists are able to revert the (+)-pentazocine-induced increase of cell susceptibility to DA toxicity.

In the last part of this thesis, the functional cross-talking between $h\sigma_1$ receptor and hDAT has been further investigated using confocal microscopy. From the acquired data it could be suggested that, following exposure to (+)-pentazocine, the $h\sigma_1$ receptors massively translocate towards the plasma membrane and colocalize with the hDATs. However, any physical interaction between the two proteins remains to be proved.

In conclusion, the presented study shows for the first time that, in cell models, $h\sigma_1$ receptors directly modulate the hDAT activity.

Facilitation of DA uptake induced by (+)-pentazocine is reflected on the increased cell susceptibility to DA toxicity; these effects are prevented by σ_1 selective antagonists. Since numerous compounds, including several drugs of abuse, bind to σ_1 receptors and activating them could facilitate the damage of dopaminergic neurons, the reported protective effect showed by σ_1 antagonists would represent the pharmacological basis to test these compounds in experimental models of dopaminergic neurodegenerative diseases (i.e. Parkinson's Disease).

Table of Contents

1.1	Historical background	14 -
1.2 σ ₁ ar	Pharmacological characterization of the σ recepnd the σ_2 receptors	tors: the 15 -
1.3 recej	Cloning and molecular characterization of σ_1 ptors	21 -
1.4	Distribution of σ_1 receptors	24 -
1.4	Anatomical distribution of σ_1 receptors	24 -
1.4	Subcellular distribution of σ_1 receptors	26 -
1.5	Potential σ_1 receptor endogenous ligand(s)	28 -
1.6	Allosteric modulation of the σ_1 receptors	31 -
1.7	Modulation of cellular effectors by σ_1 receptors.	32 -
1.7	Is the σ_1 coupled to the G-proteins?	32 -
1.7 intr	σ_1 modulation of PLC-PKC-IP ₃ Ca ²⁺ release system: racellular dynamics following the σ_1 receptors activation	33 -
1.7		36 -
j	1.7.3.1 Calcium channels 1.7.3.2 Potassium channels 1.7.3.3 Sodium channels	36 - 37 - 30

1.9.1	Modulation of the adrenergic system 41 -
1.9.2	Modulation of cholinergic system 42 -
1.9.3	Modulation of serotonergic neurotransmission 43 -
1.9.4	Modulation of GABAergic system 44 -
1.9.5	Modulation of glutamatergic system 44 -
1.9.6	Modulation of the dopaminergic neurotransmission 47 -
1.9.7 DA con-	Biphasic effects of of σ_1 agonists in regulating of extracellular centrations
1.10	Therapeutical potential of σ_1 receptors
1.10.1	Role of σ_1 receptors in learning and memory 57 -
1.10.2	Alzheimer's desease and σ_1 receptors 60 -
1.10.3	Schizophrenia and σ_1 receptors 61 -
1.10.4	Role of σ_1 receptors in depression 64 -
1.10.5	Role of σ_1 receptors in anxiety 67 -
1.10.6	σ_1 receptors and analgesia 69 -
1.10.0	6.1 Modulation of opioid analgesia 69 -
1.10.0	6.2 Analgesic effect of the σ_1 ligands
1.11	σ_1 receptors and drug abuse 72 -
1.11.1	Cocaine and σ_1 receptors72 -
1.11. 1.11.	1.1 σ_1 receptors modulation of the acute effects of cocaine 73 - 1.2 σ_1 receptors modulate the chronic effects of cocaine 74 -
1.11.2	Methamphetamine, MDMA and σ_1 receptors 76 -
1.11.3	Ethanol and σ_1 receptors77 -
REFERENCE	S 78 -

CHAPTER 2, THE DOPAMINE TRANSPORTER- 102 -

2.1	His	storical background	- 103 -
2.2	Fui	nctions of DAT	- 104 -
2.2.	.1	Physiological activity of DAT	104 -
2.2.	.2	DAT mediated DA efflux	105 -
2.3	Str	uctural basis of physiological functions	- 106 -
2.3	.1	Molecular characterization	106 -
2.3	.2	Structural basis of DA uptake	108 -
2.3	.3	Glycosilation of DAT	109 -
2.3	.4	Phosphorylation of DAT	110 -
2.4	Loo	calization of DAT	- 112 -
2.4	.1	Anathomical distribution of DAT	112 -
2.4	.2	Subcellular localization of DAT	114 -
2.5	DA	T regulation	- 115 -
2.6	DA	T pharmacology	- 121 -
2.6	.1	Dopamine reuptake inhibitor	121 -
2.6	.2	DAT and psychostimulants	123 -
2.7	Mo	lecular pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease	- 127 -
2.7	.1	Dopamine metabolism and oxidative stress	128 -
2.7.	.2	Genetic factors contributing to Parkinson's disease	131 -
REFEREN	NCES		135 -

AIM OF THE STUDY, METHODS AND RESULTS - 146 -

CHA UPTA	PTE KE A	R 3, MOLECULAR REGULATION OF DAT CTIVITY BY σ1 RECEPTORS 147 -
3.1	Ain	n of the study 148 -
3.2	Me	thods 149 -
3.2	2.1	Cell cultures 149 -
3.2	2.2	Plasmids characterization 150 -
	3.2.2.1 3.2.2.2 3.2.2.3	pCMV6 Entry-hSigma-1 151 - pEGFP-C1-hDAT 151 - pcDNA3.1(-)-hDAT 152 -
3.2	2.3	Bacteria transformation, growth and plasmid purification 154 -
3.2 clo	2.4 ones	Transfection and selection of the enginereed eukaryotic 154 -
3.2	2.5	β -galactosidase enzyme assay system 155 -
3.2	2.6	Protein extraction and quantitation 155 -
3.2	2.7	Western blot experiments 156 -
3.2	2.8	DA uptake experiments 157 -
3.2	2.9	Analysis of data 158 -
3.2	2.10	Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy 158 -
3.3 grou	Cor 1ps	ntrols employed to validate experimental 160 -
3.3 en:	3.1 zyme a	Validation of transfection techniques using β-galactosidase ssay system 160 -
3.3 pro	3.2 otein	Western blot of stably expressed ho ₁ –FLAG fusion 161 -
3.3 HE	3.3 EK-293	Topology and expression analysis of EGFP-hDAT and $h\sigma_1$ in by confocal microscopy 162 -
3.3	3.4	Set up of [³ H]DA uptake assay 164 -
3.3	3.5	Effect of vehicle on [³ H]DA uptake 167 -

3.4 Re	esults	169 -
3.4.1	Effect of (+)-pentazocine on [³ H]DA uptake	169 -
3.4.2	Effects of (-)-pentazocine on [³ H]DA uptake	171 -
3.4.3	Effects of σ_1 antagonists	173 -
3.4.4	Effects of SM-21	174 -
REFERENCE	S	78 -

CHAPTER 4, FUNCTIONAL CONSEQUENCES OF σ_1 - MEDIATED INCREASE OF DOPAMINE UPTAKE - 177 -

4.1	Aim of the study	
4.2	Methods	179 -
4.2.1	MTT viability assay	179 -
4.2.2	2 Data analysis	180 -
4.2.3	3 Set up of viability assays	181 -
4.2.4	Effect of vehicle on cell viability	184 -
4.3	Results	185 -
4.3.1	Effects of (+)-pentazocine on DA toxicity	185 -
REFEREN	CES	78 -

CHAPTER 5, CONFOCAL MICROSCOPY STUDIES - 193 -

5.1	Aim of the study	194 -
5.2	Results	194 -
5.2	.1 Confocal images of groups 1) and 2)	195 -

5.2	Confocal images of groups 3) and 4)	196 -
DISCU	SSION	200 -
CHA	PTER 6, DISCUSSION	201 -
6.1	Discussion	- 202 -
6.2	Concluding remarks	- 207 -
REFERE	NCES	78 -

INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER 1,

THE SIGMA-1 RECEPTOR

1.1 Historical background

The concept of sigma (σ) receptors was first introduced in literature by Martin and collegues in 1976 (Martin et al., 1976). Basing on the physiological action induced by some benzomorphans-related molecules on morphine-dependent and non-dependent chronic spinal dogs, Martin and co-workers were able to discern three different gropus. They hypothesized that the observed differences were caused by the interactions with three different subtypes of opioid receptors:

- 1) the μ subtype, wich mediated the action of morphine and related compounds
- the κ subtype, wich mediated the action of ketocyclazocine and related compounds
- 3) the σ subtype, wich mediated the action of racemic mixture of
 N-allynormetazocine (SKF-10,047) and related compounds

Two subsequent findings convincingly demonstrated that σ receptors are not members of the opioid receptor family. First, the opioid receptors and the σ binding site exhibited an opposite enantioselectivity; opioid receptors are stereoselective for the (-)-isomers of benzomoprphans, whereas σ receptors are stereoselective for the (+) counterpart. Second, traditional opioid receptors antagonists, such as naloxone or naltrexone, were ineffective against both the *in vivo* and the in vitro effects of the (+)-SKF-10,047 (Brady et al., 1982; Iwamoto, 1981; Katz et al., 1985; Slifer and Balster, 1983; Vaupel, 1983). In addition, the (-)-SKF-10,047 has been found to possess high affinity for μ and κ opioid receptors (Zukin et al., 1982).

Binding experiments further determined that the (+)- isomer of SKF-10,047 is also able to displace the tritiated phenylcyclohexylpiperidine ([³H]-PCP) in rat brains homogenates (Mendelshon et al., 1985; Zukin et al., 1982). For this reason, σ receptors were often cited as σ /opioid/PCP receptors and many researchers believed that σ and PCP were the same binding site. The finding that the two potent σ ligands haloperidol and (±)pentazocine aren't able to displace the $[^{3}H]$ -PCP from its binding site (Tam et al., 1983; Tam and Cook, 1984) convinced the scientific community that the (+)-SKF-10,047 is able to bind two different sites: the PCP binding site, subsequently identified as the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) glutamate receptor (Mendelshon et al., 1985; Wong et al., 1988) and a second different binding site, the σ receptor. Further autoradiographic studies also demonstrated that the PCP receptor and the σ receptors have a different distribution in the rat brain (Gundlach et al., 1986a and b; Manallac et al., 1987; Sircar et al., 1986). At present, the σ receptor is considered to be a unique receptor family.

1.2 Pharmacological characterization of the σ receptors: the σ_1 and the σ_2 receptors

The main charachteristics of the σ receptors class include that they can bind with high to moderate affinity to a wide spectrum of known compounds of different structural class, such as benzomorphans (pentazocine, SKF-10,047), butyrophenones (haloperidol), guanidines (DTG), piperidines ((+)-3-PPP), morphinans (dextromethorphan), tricyclic antidepressants (imipramine), phenothiazines (chlorpromazine), serotonin-uptake inhibitors (sertraline), monoamine oxidase inhibitors (clorgyline), psycostimulants (cocaine, 3,4-Methylenedioxymethamphetamine), certain steroids (progesterone) (reviewed in Hayashi and Su, 2004a).

The presence of at least two σ receptors subtypes was first suggested by binding experiments, using two highly selective radiolabeled probes for σ receptors: $[^{3}H]$ -DTG and $[^{3}H](+)$ -3-PPP. In fact, (+)-benzomorphans such as (+)-pentazocine and (+)-SKF-10,047 were able to significantly displace the two radiolabeled probes from guinea pig brain homogenates and they also showed a marked lower affinity when tested on PC12 membranes (Hellewell and Bowen, 1990). When binding the rat hepatic σ sites with [³H]-DTG, the receptor profile of σ ligands was found to be similar to that observed in PC12 cells; moreover, when the σ radioligand [³H](+)-pentazocine was used, the results showed the same σ ligand selectivity previously observed in guinea pig brain (Hellewell and Bowen, 1990; Walker et al., 1990). Though, basing on the differences in the binding pattern, it was possible to distinguish two different σ receptor subtypes, called σ_1 and σ_2 (Hellewell and Bowen 1990; Quirion et al. 1992). The σ_1 receptors exhibit a major stereoselectivity towards the dextrorotatory isomers of the benzomorphans and many other opioids whereas the σ_2 receptors display a reverse stereospecificity, since they bind with a similar affinity both the levorotatory and the dextrorotatory isomers of the benzomorphans (Table 1.1). For more than a decade the 1,3-di(2-tolyl)guanidine (DTG) remained the only slightly selective σ_2 ligand; for this reason the [³H]-DTG was widely employed in the σ_2 binding experiments, masking the σ_1 binding with the cold (+)pentazocine. Anyhow, today, some σ_2 preferring ligands, such as the SM-21 (Ghelardini et al., 2000), have been synthesized and charachterized. The progesterone is also able to differentiate between σ_1 and σ_2 , interacting with only the σ_1 subtype (Kahoun and Ruoho, 1992); for this reason the progesterone is believed to be a putative endogenous ligand of σ_1 (Ganapathy et al., 1999). A third σ receptors subtype was also proposed; it was called σ_3 (Quirion et al., 1992), but, to date, no convincing binding data or selective ligands are available for this putative receptor subtype.

Table 1.1. Pharmacology of σ receptor ligands; following Ki values are obtained with different experimental approaches wich are described in respective references.

	Affinity		Function					
Drugs	$[K_i nM]$		on σ ₁	Other activities	References			
	σ1	σ2	receptors					
BENZOMPORPHANS								
(+)-Pentazocine	16.7	6611	Agonist	-	Vilner and Bowen, 2000			
(–)-Pentazocine	807	2324	Agonist	κ_1 agonist, μ_1 , μ_2 , ligand, low affinity δ and κ_3 opioid ligand	Vilner and Bowen, 2000 + Chien and Pasternak 1995b			
(+)-SKF-10,047	597	39740	Agonist	NMDA receptor ligand	Vilner and Bowen, 2000 + Hayashi and Su, 2004			
(-)-SKF-10,047	50399	41461	Agonist	-	Vilner and Bowen, 2000			
		A	NTIPSYCHOT	ICS				
Haloperidol	6.44	221	Antagonist	Dopamine D_2 and D_3 antagonist; σ_2 agonist	Vilner and Bowen, 2000 + Maurice et al., 2001a° + Jaen et al., 1993			
Chlorpromazine	453	1628	?	Dopamine D ₂ antagonist	Matsumoto and Pouw, 2000 + Hayashi and Su, 2004			
		Α	NTIDEPRESSA	NTS				
Clorgyline	2.9	505	Agonist?	Irreversible monoamine oxidase A inhibitor	Bermack and Debonnel, 2005 + Itzhak et al., 1991			
Fluoxetine	240	16100	Agonist	Selective 5-HT reuptake inhibitor	Hayashi and Su, 2008 + Narita et al., 1996			
Fluvoxamine	36	8439	Agonist	Selective 5-HT reuptake inhibitor	Hayashi and Su, 2008 + Narita et al., 1996			
Imipramine	343	2107	Agonist	Monoamine reuptake inhibitor	Hayashi and Su, 2008 + Narita et al., 1996			
Sertraline	57	5297	Agonist	Selective 5-HT reuptake inhibitor	Hayashi and Su, 2008 + Bermack and Debonnel, 2005 + Narita et al., 1996			
			ANTITUSSIVE	ES				
Carbetapentane	128	1953	Agonist	Muscarinic antagonist, σ ₂ agonist	Matsuno et al., 1996 + Calderon et al., 1994 + Maurice et al., 2001a			
Dextromethorphan	205	11060	Agonist	NMDA receptor allosteric antagonist	LePage et al., 2005 + Shin et al., 2005 + Maurice et al., 2001a			
Dimemorfan	151	4421	Agonist	?	Shin et al., 2005 + Wang et al., 2003 + Chou et al., 1999			
	PARKIN	SON'S A	AND/OR ALZH	EIMER'S DISEASE				
Amantadine	7440	?	Agonist?	NMDA antagonist, antiviral properties	Peeters et al., 2004 + Chen and Lipton, 2006			
Donepezil	14.6	?	Agonist	Cholinesterase inhibitor	Kato et al., 1999 + Maurice et al., 2006a + Meunier et al., 2006			
Memantine	2600	?	Agonist?	NMDA antagonist, antiviral properties	Peeters et al., 2004 + Chen and Lipton, 2006			

DRUG OF ABUSE							
Cocaine	2000	31000	Agonist	Monoamine transporters inhibitor, amongst other actions, psychostimulant	Matsumoto et al., 2002 + Rothman and Bauerman, 2003		
Metamphetamine	2160	46670	?	Preferential DAT inhibitor, amongst other actions, psychostimulant	Nguyen et al., 2005 + Fleckenstein et al., 2007		
MDMA	3057	8889	?	Preferential SERT inhibitor, among other actions, psychostimulant	Brammer et al., 2006 + Green et al., 2003		
PUTATIVE ENDOGENOUS REGULATORS							
Neuropeptide Y (NPY)	~10*	?	Agonist?	Anti-amnesic, anti- convulsivant	Maurice et al., 2001a + Roman et al., 1989 + Ault and Werling, 1997		
DHEAS	5200	?	Agonist	GABA _A negative modulator	Hong et al., 2004 + Maurice et al., 2001a		
Pregnenolone sulfate	980	?	Agonist	NMDA positive/GABA _A negative modulator	Hong et al., 2004 + Maurice et al., 2001a		
Progesterone	130	?	Antagonist	positive modulator	Maurice et al., 2004 +		
DMT	14750	21710	Agonist	agonist 5-HT _{2A} and 5-HT _{2A} receptors, psychedelic drug	Fontanilla et al., 2009 + Su et al., 2009 + Smith et al., 1998		
D-erythro-sphingosine	140	13000	Agonist?	involved in lipid signalling	Ramachandran et al., 2009		
N,N-dimethyl- sphingosine	120	2800	Agonist?	Endogenous amine involved in lipid signalling	Ramachandran et al., 2009		
L-threo-sphingosine	20	8300	Agonist?	Endogenous amine involved in lipid signalling	Ramachandran et al., 2009		
Sphinganine	70	35000	Agonist?	involved in lipid signalling	Ramachandran et al., 2009		
ANTICONVULSANTS							
Phenytoin (DPH)	Not measu- reable	Not measu- reable	Allosteric modulator	Delayed rectifier K ⁺ channel blocker, T-type Ca ²⁺ current inhibitor, Na ⁺ current inhibitor	Walker et al., 1990 + Cobos et al., 2005 and 2006 + Nobile and Lagostena, 1998 + Todorovic and Lingle, 1998 + Rush et al., 1997		
Ropizine	Not measu- reable	Not measu- reable	Allosteric modulator	?	Walker et al., 1990		
		(Other σ dru	GS			
AC-927	30	138	Antagonist	σ_2 antagonist	Matsumoto et al., 2008		
BD-737	8.78	68.3	Agonist	-	McCracken 1999b + Vilner and Bowen, 2000 + Hellewell et al., 1994 + Guitart et al., 2004		
BD-1008	2	8	Antagonist	σ_2 agonist	McCracken 1999b + Vilner and Bowen, 2000 + Hayashi and Su, 2004		
BD-1047	0.9	47	Antagonist	α adrenoceptor ligand	McCracken et al., 1999° + Matsumoto et al., 1995 + Maurice et al., 2001a		
BD-1063	9	449	Antagonist	-	Matsumoto et al., 1995 + McCracken 1999b + Brammer et al., 2006 + Maurice et al., 2001a		
BMY-14802	66	51	Antagonist	5-HT _{1A} agonist	Matsumoto and Pouw, 2000 + Guitart et al., 2004 + Matos et al., 1996		
DTG	77	43	?	σ ₂ agonist	Kedjouar et al., 1999 + Maurice et al., 2001a + Matsumoto and Pouw, 2000		
Dup734	10	?	Antagonist	5-HT ₂ antagonist	Tam et al., 1992		
Eliprodil (SL-82.0715)	132	634	?	NMDA antagonist, α_1 adrenoceptor ligand	Hashimoto and London, 1995		

E-5842	4	220	Antagonist	High affinity for α_{2B} , α_{1a} and α_{1B} adrenergic receptors, low to moderate affinity for dopamine, 5- HT and glutamate receptors	Guitart et al., 1998 + Guitart et al., 2004
JO-1784 (Igmesine)	39	?	Agonist	-	Guitart et al., 2004
MR-200	1.5	21.9	Agonist	-	Ronsisvalle et al., 2001b, Kanzaki et al, 1992
NE-100	1.5	84.6	Antagonist	-	Chaki et al., 1996
OPC-14523	47 (IC ₅₀ nM)	56 (IC ₅₀ nM)	Agonist	Agonist of pre- and post- synaptic 5-HT1A receptors, SERT inhibitor	Tottori et al., 2001 + Guitart et al., 2004 + Bermack and Debonnel, 2007
(+) -3-PPP	79	120	Agonist	σ ₂ agonist, NMDA receptor ligand, dopaminergic agonist	Walker et al., 1990 + Höfner and Wanner, 2000 + Hayashi and Su 2004
(-)- 3-PPP	~310	~1200	?	-	Itzhak et al., 1991
PRE-084	44	?	Agonist	-	Maurice et al., 1999
Rimcazole (BW-234U)	2380	1162	Antagonist	DAT inhibitor	Matsumoto and Pouw, 2000 + Matsumoto et al., 2001c
SA-4503	17.4	1784	Agonist	-	Matsuno and Mita, 1998
SR-31742A	5.3 for the popul	e whole σ lation	-	High affinity for C8-C7 sterol isomerase	Poncelet et al., 1993
SM-21	>1000	67.5	?	Agonist σ_2	Ghelardini et al., 2000

?: to date not studied or unclear

-: no other pharmacological target has been described.

* This result has been first reported by Roman et al. in the 1989; however it hasn't been confirmed later in other researches.

Another distinguish feature between the two classes of σ receptors is their interaction with ropizine and phenytoin (Musacchio et al., 1989a; DeHaven-Hudkins et al., 1993). σ_1 receptors are allosterically modulated by these compounds whereas σ_2 receptors are not affected. Furthermore,these two classes of receptors are also distingushable on the basis of their moleculare weight. In fact the σ_1 receptor was found to be a 25 kDa single protein which has been cloned (see section 1.3) in several animal species and humans (Kekuda et al., 1996; Prasad et al., 1998; Hanner et al., 1996; Pan et al., 1998; Seth et al., 1997, 1998); on the other hand, the σ_2 receptors, not yet been cloned, have an apparent molecular weight of 18-21 kDa, detected with [³H]azido-DTG photoaffinity labelling in the presence of dextrallorphan to mask σ_1 binding site (Hellewell and Bowen, 1990; Hellewell et al., 1994). Currently, the classification of σ receptors comprising the σ_1 and the σ_2 subtypes is widely accepted by the scientific community.



Figure 1.1. Chemical structure of the most important sigma ligands

1.3 Cloning and molecular characterization of σ_1 receptors

One of the most important step in the σ receptor comprehension was the cloning of the σ_1 receptor. In 1996, Hanner et al. (Hanner et al., 1996) successfully purified and cloned the σ_1 binding site from guinea pig liver microsomes. Hanner et al. used the aminoacid (AA) sequence to degenerate nucleotide primers and they succesfully used these primers to amplify a RT-PCR product, with guinea pig liver as RNA source. From then on, the σ_1 was also cloned from other different sources: from the JAR human choriocarcinoma cell line (Kekuda et al., 1996; Prasad et al., 1998), from the rat brain and from the mouse brain (Seth et al., 1998; Mei and Pasternak, 2001; Pan et al., 1998). The σ_1 cDNA cloned from guinea pig is 1857 bp long and it codes for a 223 amino acids protein. The estimated molecular mass was 25,3 kDa, then very similar to the values coming from the photoaffinity labeling experiments. The human σ_1 cDNA is 1,653 bp long, with a coding sequence of 672 bp long that codes for a 223 AA protein (Kekuda et al., 1996). Moreover, the AA sequence of the human σ receptor bears 93% of homology with the guinea pig σ_1 (Kekuda et al., 1996). Analysis of the AA sequence showed that both the human and the guinea pig σ_1 receptors carry, at the N-terminus, the AA sequence motif MQWAVGRR, wich is considered an endoplasmic reticulum retention signal. As showed in figure (Fig.1.2), also the mouse and the rat brain σ_1 AA sequence is highly conserved, showing high homologies both with the guinea pig and the human σ_1 receptors.



Figure 1.2. Comparison of the AA sequence of σ_1 receptors from different mammallian species. Regions with identical AA are indicated by dark shaded boxes and region with conservative substitution are indicated by lightly shadow boxes (image from Sigma Receptors Handbook, Matsumoto, Bowen and Su, 2007)

The AA sequence of the cloned σ_1 showed no homology to any other mammalian protein, but it was found to share around 30% of homology with ERG2, a fungal gene product that possess a sterol C8-C7 isomerase activity (Moebius et al., 1997). Interstingly, the most conserved domain in both the peroteins carries a sterol/steroid-binding domain, obligatory for a protein involved in sterol synthesis (Hanner et al., 1996a), but, probably, also a key feature for σ_1 to play its endogenous role. In fact, the existence of a lipohilic sterol/steroidbinding site also explains the surprising ability of the cloned σ_1 to bind so many drugs from distinct pharmacological classes with high affinity (Hanner et al., 1996). However, the cloned σ_1 receptor doesn't possess any sterol isomerase activity similar to ERG2 fungal enzyme (Hanner et al., 1996). Moreover, the mammallian sterol isomerase has been cloned, it is called emopamil-binding protein and it doesn't show any structural similarity to either the yeast C8-C7 sterol isomerase or mammallian σ_1 receptors (Hanner et al, 1995; Silve et al., 1996). The cloned mammalian σ_1 receptors has been shown to be an integral membrane protein able to localize to the nuclear and the endoplasmic reticulum (Jbilo et al., 1997). The hydropathy analyses have led to the prediction of two different transmembrane topology models consisting of one (Hanner et al., 1996; Kekuda et al., 1996; Seth et al., 1997; Seth et al., 1998) or two (Jbilo et al., 1997; Pan et al., 1998; Mei and Pasternak, 2001) transmembranes domains (Fig. 1.3). Evidence supporting the two transmembranes model were provided later by Aydar et al. (Aydar et al., 2002); using a GFP probe and two fusion protein, the C-terminal GFP- σ_1 (GFP-C- σ_1) and the N-terminal GFP- σ_1 (GFP-N- σ_1), Aydar et al. (Aydar et al., 2002) were able to prove that, when expressed in in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes, the σ_1 receptor posseses two transmembrane segments and both the termini are located in the cytoplasmatic lumen (Fig. 1.3).



Figure 1.3. Structural models proposed for the σ_1 receptor, with a single putative transmembrane domain (**A**) and two putative transmembrane domains (**B**) (Guitart et al., 2004)

Another relevant finding in σ_1 receptor biology was the discovery of an alternatively spliced variant of the human σ_1 receptor, expressed in the human T lymphocyte cell line Jurkatt (Ganapathy et al., 1999). This splice variant, that lacks 31 AA in the position 119-149, doesn't have the ability to bind the classical σ_1 ligands. At present, it is not known wether the σ_1 splice variant is expressed in human tissues and wich could be his pathophysiological implications.

1.4 Distribution of σ_1 receptors

1.4.1 Anatomical distribution of σ_1 receptors

 σ receptors are widely distributed throughout the whole body. In order to understand the physiological roles of the σ receptors, many efforts were made in studying their anatomical localization.

In the central nervous system (CNS), they have been extensively studied because of their potential role in several CNS disorders (reviewed in Hayashi and Su, 2004a). The initial binding studies were performed using the two not σ_1/σ_2 selective probes [³H](+)-3-PPP and [³H](+)-DTG (Bouchard and Quirion, 1997; Gundlach et al., 1986a; McLean and Weber, 1998); these studies showed that the highest concentration of σ receptors in the brain are in the brainstem motor nuclei. In fact high densities of σ receptors were found in the major constituents of brainstem motor circuits, like the cerebellum, the red nucleus, the gray matter of the spinal cord and both the basal ganglia and the *pars compacta* of the substantia nigra (Bouchard and Quirion, 1997; Gundlach et al., 1986a; McLean and Weber,

1998). The functional studies confirmed that the σ receptors have a role in modulating some motor functions (Bouchard and Quirion, 1997; Gundlach et al., 1986a; McLean and Weber, 1998); moreover, the σ agonists are able to directly stimulate motor behaviors via nigrostriatal dopaminergic pathways (Bastianetto et al., 1995; Goldstein et al., 1989; Patrick et al., 1993; Walker et al., 1993) With the availaibility of new σ_1/σ_2 more selective compounds, it was also possible to demonstrate that both the σ_1 and σ_2 subtypes are involved in the motor function modulation (Bouchard and Quirion, 1997; Patrick et al., 1993; Matsumoto and Pouw, 2000)

The σ binding sites appear to be highly concentrated also in the spinal cord (Kovacs and Larson, 1995, 1998; Alonso et al., 2000), mainly in the dorsal horn (Alonso et al., 2000), in the hippocampus and in many other limbic and paralimbic areas, such as the cingulate cortex and the amygdala,

The studies focused on the anatomical distribution of σ_1 receptors have been extensively described in the rodent brain with autoradiographic methods employing selective σ_1 ligands (Okuyama et al., 1995; Walker et al., 1992; Ishiwata et al., 1998 and 2006; Kawamura et al., 2000a and b), with in situ hybridization (Kitaichi et al., 2000; Zamanillo et al., 2000) and with immunohistochemical techniques (Alonso et al., 2000). In these studies, σ_1 appeared to be particularly concentrated in all brain areas where dopamine (DA) is widely released, especially in the gyrus dentatus of the hippocampus suggesting that they may modulate cognitive behaviors, mood and affective states (Bouchars and Quirion, 1997), or maybe involved in psychostimulant actions (reviewed in Matsumoto et al., 2003). High concentrations of σ_1 receptors were also found in the facial nucleus, in the thalamic and hypothalamic nuclei, in the striatum, in the cerebellum, in the dorsal raphe nucleus and in the locus coeruleus (Bouchard and Quirion 1997; Inoue et al., 2000), whereas the σ_2 appeared more concentrated in the brain areas involved in the control of posture and movement (Bouchard and Quirion 1997).

The σ_1 receptor is also widely distributed in the peripheral organs. It has been found in the digestive tract (Samovilova and Vinogradov 1992), in the kidney (Hellewell et al., 1994), in the liver (McCann and Su, 1991; Hellewell et al., 1994; DeHaven-Hudkins et al., 1994), in the heart (Ela et al., 1994; Monassier and Bousquet, 2002; DeHaven-Hudkins et al., 1994), in the lungs (Stone et al., 2006), in the vas deferens (DeHaven-Hudkins et al., 1991), in the testis (Wolfe et al., 1989; DeHaven-Hudkins et al., 1994), in the ovaries (Wolfe et al., 1989), and also in blood mononuclear cells (Wolfe et al., 1888). the σ_2 receptors have also been found in different peripheral organs; it appeared to be particularly concentrated in the liver and in the kidney (Hellewell et al. 1994).

1.4.2 Subcellular distribution of σ_1 receptors

Early studies aimed in clarifying the subcellular localization of σ receptors were difficult and not much accurate because the ligand binding assays were the only strategy available to mark the σ binding sites. However by combining rat membrane fractionation and radioligand binding experiments, some groups obtained some preliminary data (Cagnotto et al., 1994; DeHaven-Hudkins et al., 1994; Itzhak et al., 1991; Jbilo et al., 1997; Kekuda et al., 1996; McCann et al., 1989; McCann et al., 1994; Tanaka et al., 1995). Interestingly, the not σ_1/σ_2 selective radioactive ligands [³H](+)-SKF-10,047, [³H](+)-3-PPP and [³H]DTG were found to bind some subcellular fraction, respectively with the following order of affinity: microsomal > mitochondrial > synaptosomal > myelin > nuclear fraction (Itzhak et al., 1991). On the other hand, when using the σ_1 selective [³H](+)-

pentazocine as radioactive probe, the affinity for the same subcellular fractions was slightly different, respectively: microsomal > nuclear fraction > myelin > mitochondrial > synaptosomal (Cagnotto et al., 1994; McCann et al., 1989). Taken toghether, these results indicated for the first time that the distribution of the σ_1 receptors in the synaptic regions of plasma membrane or in the mithocondria is minimum, whereas the σ_1 are predominatly enriched in microsomes, suggesting a localization on the endoplasmatic reticulum (ER).

The avalaibility of the specific antibodies against the σ_1 receptors led to more accurates studies. Western blotting experiments confirmed the data obtained with binding results not only in the rat brain neurons, but also in oligodendrocytes, in lymphocytes and in the NG108-15 neuroblastoma x glioma cell line (Hayashi et al., 2000; Dussossoy et al., 1999; Alonso et al., 2000). In the immunocytochemical researches, performed with the promonocytic cell line THP, the σ_1 specifically localized on the ER membrane and on nuclear envelopes (Dussossoy et al., 1999; Jbilo et al., 1997). In others immunofluorescence studies, σ_1 polyclonal antibodies were able to selectively stain the ER in the cytoplasmatic area of neuronal and retinal rat cells (Alonso et al., 2000; Hayashi et al., 2001, Morin-Surun et al., 1999; Ola et al., 2001).

However, the most accurate data come from the confocal fluorescence microscopy investigations. In the NG108 cell line, the endogenous expressed σ_1 receptors were found to localize on both the ER and the nuclear envelope, but, at the ER level, they are highly clustered in globular structures enriched in cholesterol and neutral lipids, similar to the lipid rafts (Hayashi and Su, 2003a; Hayashi and Su, 2003b; Hayashi and Su, 2007). Interestingly, the fusion protein σ_1 -C-terminally enhanced yellow fluorescence protein (EYFP-C- σ_1) showed the same distribution of the endogenous expressed σ_1 receptors, whereas the fusion protein σ_1 -Nterminally enhanced yellow fluorescence protein (EYFP-N- σ_1) didn't behave like the endogenous receptor; in fact the EYFP-N- σ_1 receptor was diffused in the ER tubules, but it couldn't target the lipid raft-like structures. Moreover, the EYFP-N- σ_1 transfected cells lines failed in the compartmentalization of neutral lipids in lipid rich globular structures, indicating a putative role of the σ_1 receptors in the intracellular lipid homeostasis (Hayashi and Su, 2003b).

To date, the σ_1 receptors are considered by the scientific community an ER protein with a unique distribution pattern.

1.5 Potential σ_1 receptor endogenous ligand(s)

The endogenous ligand of the σ_1 receptors have not yet been inequivocabilly identified.

First efforts to discover endogenous σ ligand(s) were based on the fractionation techniques, since the classical strategy for identifying an endogenous ligand is to extract it from the tissue where it acts. These studies provided proofs of the existence of a peptide-related substance, called "sigmaphin", isolated from the guinea pig brain (Su et al., 1986; Contreras et al., 1987) and a porcine liver extract able to bind the σ binding sites (Nagornaia et al., 19888). Even if these efforts proved the existence of endogenous extracts able to bind to the σ receptors, none of these substances were ever purified or charachterized.

Early binding experiments reported that two endogenous neuropeptides, neuropeptide Y (NPY) and peptide YY (PYY), were able to strongly displace the $[^{3}H](+)$ -SKF-10,047 from rat brain homogenates σ receptors (K_i

of 9.8 and 4.9 nM, respectively) (Roman et al., 1989). However, subsequent experiments couldn't confirm this hypothesis (McCann and Su, 1991; Tam and Mitchell, 1991).

The search for an endogenous ligand led to the discovery that certain neurosteroids possess affinity for σ_1 receptors. The interaction between neurosteroids and σ_1 receptors was first reported by Su and co-workers (Su et al., 1988). Among the other tested neurosteroids, the progesterone appeared to bind to the σ receptors with the highest affinity (Su et al., 1988). Furthermore, the binding experiments, using $[^{3}H]$ progesterone as radioactive probe, unveiled a drug displacement pattern consistent with σ receptors (McCann and Su, 1991; Yamada et al., 1994). The possibility that neurosteroids could be the endogenous σ_1 receptors ligands is further supported by the discovery that the σ_1 receptor possess a sterol/steroid binding pocket (Mei and Pasternak, 2001). However, the affinity of progesterone for the σ_1 receptors subtype, that falls in the μ M range, doesn't appear high enough for an endogenous ligand and the progesterone concentration in free serum is insufficient to occupy the σ_1 receptors in the brain (Schwarz et al., 1989). In addition, the other steroids such as dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS), pregnenolone sulfate, testosterone and deoxycorticosterone exhibit even lower affinities than progesterone for the σ_1 receptor subtype (Su et al., 1988 and 1990; Hayashi and Su, 2004a). Anyhow, several publications keep confirming the ability of progesterone to bind the σ receptors (Hanner et al., 1996; Ganapathy et al., 1999; Klein et al., 1994; Maurice et al., 1996; Ramamoorthy et al., 1995). The few available functional studies indicate that some neurosteroids act as agonists (e.g. pregnenolone), while others act as antagonists (e.g. progesterone) (Maurice et al., 2001a).

Recently, the endogenous N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT) was found to be able to bind and regulate the σ_1 receptors (Fontanilla et al., 2009). The DMT is historically known to be the most active psychoactive compound in some sacramental teas (such as ayahuasca and yagè) used in native shamanic rituals in South America. However, DMT can be produced by enzymes in mammalian lung (Axelrod, 1961) and in rodent brain (Savaedra and Axelrod, 1962) and it has also been found in human urine, blood and cerebrospinal fluid (Franzen and Gross, 1965; Beaton and Morris, 1984). The affinity of DMT for the σ_1 receptors falls in the μ M range (Fontanilla et al., 2009) and it is similar to the affinity of progesterone for the same σ receptors subtypes. Moreover, in mouse models, µM concentrations of DMT induced the same hypermobility effects observed with the σ_1 selective ligand (+)-SKF-10,047, while both the DMT and (+)-SKF-10,047 can't cause the same pharmacological effects in the σ_1 KO mice (Fontanilla et al., 2009). These results strongly support that the behavioral actions of DMT are mediated by the σ_1 receptors.

The endogenous sphingolipids were also recently found to compete with $[{}^{3}H](+)$ -pentazocine on the σ_{1} binding site (Ramachandran et al., 2009). In particular, the p-erytrhro-sphingosine, or just sphingosine, was find to bind to the σ_{1} receptors with the highest affinity, but not its major metabolite, the sphingosine-1-phosphate, that couldn't bind at all both the σ receptors subtypes (Ramachandran et al., 2009). This finding suggests a putative cross-talking between the enzyme sphingosine kinase and the σ_{1} receptors, mediated by the sphingosine itself (Ramachandran et al., 2009). Though, also the sphingosine was proposed as endogenous σ_{1} mediator.

To date, it appears clearer and clearer that σ receptors possess high affinity for many endogenous molecules and numerous research groups share the opinion that these enigmatic receptors could be regulated by a

broad spectrum of endogenous products. Moreover, since the involvement of σ receptors in the modulation of several subcellular effectors has been also reported (Section 1.6), the hypothesis that the σ receptors could affect many biological functions is widely accepted. Even the term " σ endogenous ligand" is disappering from literature, substituted by the less specific definition of " σ endogenous regulator".

1.6 Allosteric modulation of the σ_1 receptors

The anticonvulsivant drug phenytoin (DPH) is known to allosterically modulates the binding of σ_1 radioligands without affecting σ_2 radioligands (Quirion et al., 1992). However, DPH not only discriminates between σ_1 and σ_2 ligands, but it is also able to differently modulate the activity of σ_1 ligands. In fact, DPH increased the binding of [³H]dextromethorphan, $[^{3}H](+)$ -SKF-10,047, $[^{3}H](+)$ -3-PPP and $[^{3}H](+)$ -pentazocine (Musacchio et al., 1987, 1988, 1989a and b; Craviso and Musacchio, 1983; Karbon et al., 1991; Bailey and Karbon, 1993; McCann and Su, 1991; Culp et al., 1992; Rothman et al., 1991; Bonhaus et al., 1993; Chaki et al., 1996; DeHaven-Hudkins et al., 1993), but not the binding of σ_1 [³H]haloperidol, $[^{3}H]$ progesterone, $[^{3}H]DTG$, $[^{3}H]DuP$ 734, $[^{3}H]RS$ -23597-190 and $[^{3}H]$ -(2-phenylethoxy) phenyl]-ethylamine N,N-dipropyl-2-[4-methoxy-3-([³H]NE-100) (Karbon et al., 1991; Meyer et al., 1998; Culp et al., 1992; Bonhaus et al., 1994; Tanaka et al., 1995; Chaki et al., 1996).

It was initially proposed that the differential sensitivity of σ_1 compounds to the DPH allosteric modulation should be restricted to compounds that bind selectively the σ_1 receptor subtype (DeHaven-Hudkins et al., 1993). However, this hypothesis is not entirely consistent with the

more recent data on the σ ligands selectivity patterns. The newest researches demonstrated that the allosteric modulation by DPH of the affinity of σ_1 receptor ligands depends on the agonist or antagonist profile of the ligand (Cobos et al., 2006).

1.7 Modulation of cellular effectors by σ_1 receptors

1.7.1 Is the σ_1 coupled to the G-proteins?

One of the earliest issues regarding the cellular effects of the σ_1 receptors was their possible coupling to G-proteins. Even if this idea has been investigated with many different approaches, to date, the results are still contradictory (Bermack and Debonnel, 2005; Guitart et al., 2004).

With the avalaibility of the cloned σ_1 receptor and a deeper knoweledge of its molecular conformation (fig.1.2 and 1.3), it was suddendly clear that the σ_1 doesn't possess at all the typical structure of a G-protein-coupled receptor (with seven transmembrane domains). Even so, the literature is still filled with controversial data. For example, it has been reported that Gproteins mediate some electrophysiological and behavioural responses of σ_1 ligands (Soriani et al., 1998, 1999a; Bergeron et al., 1996; Ueda et al., 2001) whereas, in other experimental models, some σ_1 agonists, such as (+)pentazocine, (+)-SKF-10,047, (+)-3-PPP and BD-737 were unable to increase GTPase activity in rat brain membranes (Hong and Werling, 2000; Odagaki et al., 2005).

The existence of both metabotropic and non-metabotropic σ_1 receptor subtypes was also proposed (Maruo et al., 2000). However, inequivocabilly

proofs of the existence of this hypothetic σ_1 metabotropic subtype have not yet been carried out.

1.7.2 σ_1 modulation of PLC-PKC-IP₃ Ca²⁺ release system: intracellular dynamics following the σ_1 receptors activation

It is known that the ER can works as calcium (Ca^{2+}) deposit and, under certain stimuli, it can release the Ca^{2+} in the cytoplasm (Hayashi and Su, 2000), or directly to mitochondria (Hayashi and Su, 2007). The ankyrins are a member of a family of cytoskeletal adapter proteins that interconnect membrane proteins with the cell cytoskeleton (Bennett and Stenbuck, 1979), they are present on the ER, on the plasma membrane and on the Golgi complex (De Matteis and Morrow, 1998; Tuvia et al., 1999) and they are known to affect the Ca^{2+} efflux interacting with inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate receptors (IP₃Rs) (Chien and Pasternak, 1994; De Waard et al., 1997).

In the 2000 Hayashi and Su first described the role of σ_1 receptors in regulating the Ca²⁺ efflux from the ER storages, physically interacting with the ankyrin-IP₃Rs complex.

The regulation of the Ca²⁺ signalling by σ_1 receptors is a complex one and involves the translocation of σ_1 receptors from the lipid rafts of the ER to the plasma membrane, to the nucleus and, partially, σ_1 can also dislocate around the whole cell without leaving the ER. At the resting state, in the previously described highly clustered globular structures, the σ_1 receptors form a complex with the ankyrin (specifically the ANK220 isomer) and the IP₃Rs (Hayashi and Su, 2001) The σ_1 receptors activation by agonists induces the dissociation of the σ_1 receptor-ANK220 complex from the IP₃Rs channel (Hayashi and Su, 2001), potentiating the calcium efflux induced by the 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP₃) in a bell-shaped curve fashion (Hayashi et al., 2000). This issue directly correlates the σ_1 receptors to the known PLC/PKC/IP₃ Ca²⁺ release mechanism. In fact, the activities of the receptors that activates the PLC system, enhancing the inositol IP₃ cytoplasmatic concentration level, such as receptors for bradykinin and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (TrkB) (Hong et al., 2004; Peeters et al., 2004; Yagasaki et al. 2006), are undoubtely affected by the σ_1 activation.

In the NG-108 cell line, the enhancement of Ca^{2+} efflux has been reported not only when treating the cells with the known selective σ_1 agonists such as PRE 084 or (+)-pentazocine, but also when using some neurosteroids, such as pregnenolone sulfate and DHEA (Hayashi et al., 2000, Hong et al., 2004). The destiny of the released σ_1 receptor/ANK220 complex is still unknown, but, as described later on the introduction (section 1.7.3), it is clear that the σ_1 receptors could modulate many other systems by protein-protein interactions. Interestingly, once activated, σ_1 receptors are also able to reach the plasma membrane and they can even be be exocytosed (Hayashi and Su, 2003a). Though, so far, it's not possible to exclude the hypothesis that the σ_1 receptor/ANK220 complex could bind other protein systems, modulating their functionality.

In the presence of a σ_1 antagonist, σ_1 receptors dissociates from the ANK220, which, in turn, remains associated to the IP₃Rs (Hayashi and Su, 2001). In this case, the ANK220 is still able to counteract the bradykinininduced Ca²⁺ efflux and the σ_1 agonist-induced Ca²⁺ release potentiation is completely prevented. This latter effect has been also observed after the pretreatment with progesterone and with a specific σ_1 receptor antisense oligodeoxynucleotide (Hayashi et al., 2000, Hong and Werling, 2002). Additionally, *in vivo*, the silencing of IP₃Rs receptors induces a decrease of the σ_1 receptor mRNA levels (Novakova et al., 2007), suggesting a putative cross-talking between the two systems. The Hayashi and Su model is illustrated in figure 1.4.



Figure 1.4. The σ_1 receptors regulation of the ankyrin-IP₃Rs complex at ER level (image taken from Cobos et al., 2008)

Since the Ca²⁺ intracellular concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$) is one of the most important second messengers, it is likely to hypotesize that the σ_1 receptors are able to affect many others proteins systems through the modulation of the Ca²⁺ concentration itself.

The physical association between the ER and mitochondria, which is known as the mitochondria-associated ER membrane (MAM), has been also described in literature (reviewed in Hayashi et al., 2009) The MAM plays important roles in various cellular 'housekeeping' functions including the non-vesicular transport of phospholipids (reviewed in Hayashi et al., 2009). The σ_1 receptors were found also in the MAM; at this level, the σ_1 receptors play a role in the regulation of the direct Ca²⁺ exchanges between the ER and the mitochondria (Hayashi and Su, 2007). The mechanism is a very complex one and it's well reviewed in Hayashi et al., 2009.

1.7.3 Modulation of plasmalemma ion channels

<u>1.7.3.1</u> Calcium channels

In addition to the effects discussed in the section 1.7.2, σ_1 receptors are able to regulate the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, triggering the plasmalemma voltage dependent Ca^{2+} channels.

Church and Fletcher first reported in 1995 a σ_1 interference, while studying the variation of the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in cultured hippocampal pyramidal neurons preparations (Church and Fletcher, 1995). In their model, several σ_1 ligands, such as haloperidol, BD-737, carbetapentane, ifenprodil, rimcazole and dextromethorphan, blocked the increase of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ mediated by highvoltage-activated channels (Church and Fletcher, 1995). σ_1 ligands were also found to inhibit the depolarization-induced increasing in the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in primary cultures of neurones and forebrain synaptosomes (Klette et al., 1997; Brent et al., 1996 and 1997). However, in these experiments σ_1 agonists and antagonists produced the same effects wich might be also due to the involvement of the σ_2 receptors subtype (reviewed in Monnet, 2005). In another series of experiments performed in rat forebrain synaptosomes, the (+)-pentazocine, the (-)-pentazocine, the BD-1008 and the DTG not only inhibited the raising of the Ca^{2+} levels induced by the depolarization, but they also reduced the basal $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, indicating that the σ receptors are able to directly affect the [Ca²⁺]_i (Brent et al, 1996 and 1997). These latter effects were prevented by the pretreatment with the σ_1 antagonist rimcazole.

The involvement of σ_1 in the Ca²⁺ plasmalemma channels regulation has been further confirmed. Hayashi and Su reported that, in the NG-108 cell line, the σ_1 agonist (+)-pentazocine inhibits the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increase induced by KCl depolarization, whereas another σ_1 agonist, PRE-084, induce the
opposite effects, potentiating the KCl $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ increase (Hayashi and Su, 2000). Since the pretreatment with the σ_1 receptor antisense oligodeoxynucleotide blocked the effects of both the molecules, it has been ruled out that the σ_1 is the subtype involved in the modulation of the plasmalemma Ca²⁺ channels (Hayashi and Su, 2000).

<u>1.7.3.2</u> Potassium channels

In different research models, potassium (K⁺) channels have been reported to constitute one of the σ receptors target. The σ_1 selective ligands (+)-pentazocine and igmesine (JO-1784) were firstly reported as negative modulators of several K⁺ currents in frog melanotropic cells (Soriani et al., 1998, 1999a and b). The effects described in these latter experiments seem to be mediated by a G_s-protein (Soriani et al., 1998, 1999a). However, in the rat neurohypophysial terminals, the voltage-gated K⁺ channels are inhibited by the σ agonists (±)-pentazocine and (±)-SKF-10,047, despite intraterminal perfusion with GTP-free solutions, a G-protein inhibitor (GDP β S), a G-protein activator (GTP γ S) or a non-hydrolysable ATP analogue (AMPPcP) (Lupardus et al., 2000). Though, Lupardus and co-workers excluded that the G-proteins could mediate the σ signalling (Lupardus et al., 2000). The same research group also reported that the K^+ channels expressed in oocytes without the σ_1 receptors are unresponsive to the σ agonists, while, when both the channel and the σ_1 were co-expressed, the $K^{\!+}$ current can be inhibited while triggering the σ_1 receptors (Lupardus et al., 2000). These findings indicate that the inhibition of K^+ channels by σ receptor agonists does not arise from direct interactions of these ligands with the channel itself. The involvement of the G-proteins has been also excluded while studying the effects of σ receptor activation on voltage-activated K⁺ channels and action potentials in isolated rat intracardiac neurons, using the whole-cell patch-clamp recording techniques (Zhang and Cuevas, 2005). In this research, different types of voltage-activated K⁺ channels were inhibited by several σ ligands and the observed blockade was not sensitive to the application of GDP_{β}S (Zhang and Cuevas, 2005). The observed inhibition of K⁺ channels is dose-dependent, and the rank order potency of (+)-pentazocine > ibogaine > DTG suggests that the effects are mediated by the σ_1 receptor subtype activation.

Since the G-protein doesn't appear to be the signalling pathway connecting the σ_1 receptors to the K⁺ currents, to date the exact mechanism of this regulation remains still unknown; however, a physical protein-protein interaction between σ_1 and the K⁺ channel has been observed to occur. Aydar and co-workers (Aydar et al., 2002) studied, in *Xenopus oocytes*, the heterologous expression of the σ_1 receptors to explore the effects on K⁺ channels Kv 1.4 and 1.5. While confirming that the σ_1 ligands modulate the K⁺ channel functions, this study also led to the discovery that Kv 1.4 and 1.5 channel coimmunoprecipitate with the σ_1 receptor (Aydar et al., 2002). Therefore, it was proposed that the two protein could form a stable macromolecular complex with functional implications (Aydar et al., 2002).

The σ_1 modulation of K⁺ currents, as well as the Ca²⁺ currents suggests that σ_1 receptors could form complexes with several other proteins. The hypothesis that these complexes could be involved in many different processes is in line with the observed wide variety of actions that the σ_1 ligands produce in the CNS and, partially, it might also explain some of the discrepancies found in the literature (reviewed in Bermack and Debonell, 2005).

<u>1.7.3.3</u> Sodium channels

Cheng and co-workers (Cheng et al., 2008) found out that, in rat medial prefrontal cortex slices, the σ_1 receptor agonist DHEA sulfate inhibits persistent sodium (Na⁺) currents. The observed inhibitory effect is ameliorated by G_i protein inhibitors and protein kinase C (PKC) inhibitors and it is blocked by σ_1 receptor antagonists (Chang et al., 2008). These results indicate the existence of a sodium current-controlling mechanism via the σ_1 receptor-G_i protein–PKC signaling pathway in cortical neurons (Cheng et al., 2008).

1.8 Functions of σ_1 receptors on ER lipid rafts

As previously described (section 1.4.2.), on the ER the σ_1 receptors are highly clustered in globular structures enriched in cholesterol and neutral lipids, similar to the lipid rafts (Hayashi and Su, 2003a; Hayashi and Su, 2003b; Hayashi and Su, 2007). At this level, they are proposed to regulate the lipid storage sites and the turnover of the lipid droplets associated with the ER (Hayashi and Su, 2005a). The endoplasmic reticulum lipid droplets are formed by coalescence of neutral lipids into discs inside the bilayer of the ER membranes. When they reach a critical size, they bud off to form cytosolic lipid droplets (Murphy and Vance, 1999), which are proposed to be a novel transport pathway of lipids between the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus or plasma membrane (Ohashi et al., 2003) that can be mediated by σ_1 receptors (Hayashi and Su, 2003a and 2005b). This σ_1 feature might explain how the σ_1 receptors can interact with so many nurotransmitter systems (see next section), whose receptors are located at the plasma membrane level.

The over-expression of the σ_1 receptors in PC12 and NG-108 cell lines also alters the functional lipid composition of the ER lipid rafts. First of all, the cholesterol contents are appreciably increased in the σ_1 transfected cells, showing that the σ_1 upregulation would potentiate the lipid rafts formation (Takebayashi et al., 2004a; Hayashi and Su, 2005a). Secondly, the overexpression of σ_1 alters the proportion of some critical lipid raft-forming gangliosides, wich have been previously proposed to be involved in the relocalization of many cytoplasmatic proteins (Simons and Ikonen, 1997). Among other lipid rafts proteins, the growth factors receptors appeares to be especially triggered by the σ_1 receptors activation. In fact, it was reported that, in a classical agonist/antagonist fashion, the σ_1 ligands could alter the action of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) on the glutamatergic neurotransmission (Yagasaki et al., 2006) and they can enhance the nerve growth factor-induced neurite sprouting in stable σ_1 transfected PC12 cells (Takebayashi et al., 2002). Moreover, while using a σ_1 dominant-negative model, the not functional σ_1 receptor attenuates the differentiation of the transfected rat primary hippocampal cultured cells (Hayashi and Su, 2004b), reinforcing the role of σ_1 receptors on cell differentiation.

1.9 Modulation of others major neurotrasmitter systems

1.9.1 Modulation of the adrenergic system

Early studies showed that both in rat brain synaptosomes and in cultured bovine chromaffin cells, a mixed spectra of σ_1 agonists and antagonists (Haloperidol, (+)-3PPP, (+)-SKF-10,047 and DTG) are able to presynaptically inhibit the [³H]norepinephrine reuptake (Rogers and Lemaire, 1991).

Also the NMDA-stimulated [³H]norepinephrine release is affected by σ_1 receptors. In isolated rabbit iris-ciliary body, flunarizine and (+)-pentazocine inhibited [³H]norepinephrine release and this action was sensitive to the NE-100 antagonism (Campana et al., 2002). On the other hand, in rat hippocampal slices, σ agonists, both σ_1 and non- σ_1 selective, potentiate NMDA-induced [³H]norepinephrine release. In this same experimental paradigm, the σ_1 antagonist BD-1063 and the haloperidol prevent the effects of the agonists, without affecting the basal values of the NMDA-induced [³H]norepinephrine release (Monnet et al., 1992a, 1995 and 1996).

Neurosteroids were again showed to be involved in the σ_1 receptors dynamics. In fact, DHEA, wich in many experiments acts as σ_1 selective agonist, has been shown to potentiate NMDA-evoked [³H]norepinephrine release. This effect is reverted by the σ_1 antagonists BD-1063 and progesterone and also by haloperidol (Monnet et al., 1995)

1.9.2 Modulation of cholinergic system

Behavioral effects of the σ receptors, such as cognition and memory, connect these protein to the regulation of cholinergic processes.

In vivo microdialysis studies, subcutaneous applications of both σ_1 receptors agonist (+)-SKF-10,047 and the non selective σ ligand DTG were shown to display positive effects on the release of acetylcholine from rat prefrontal cortex; the observed effect is reverted by NE-100 and haloperidol (Matsuno et al., 1992, 1993, 1995a). Moreover, in line with the classical σ_1 pharmacology, (+)-SKF-10,047 induces a greater effect than its enantiomer, (-)-SKF-10,047.

Using the same experiment model, it was found that several σ ligands like (+)-3PPP, SA-4503, (+)-pentazocine, (+)-SKF-10,047, and DTG increase the spontaneaous acetylcholine release in the hippocampus (Kobayashi et al., 1996a and b), in the frontal cortex (Kobayashi et al., 1996b), but not in the striatum (Kobayashi et al., 1996a). These results also give important informations about the CNS distrbution of σ_1 receptors. In addition, the σ_1 agonists JO-1784, (+)-SKF-10,047 and SA-4503 positively affect the KCl-induced [³H]acetylcholine release from rat hippocampal slices (Junien et al, 1991; Horan et al., 2002). This effect is antagonized by the presence of haloperidol and DTG alone is able to inhibit the KClstimulated [³H]acetylcholine release (Junien et al., 1991).

The ability to regulate cholinergic system, exhibited by some σ ligand, confirms that these receptors are an important target since the disregulation of the cholinergic system could have an enormous therapeutic potential in the area of Alzheimer's desease and of others forms of dementia.

1.9.3 Modulation of serotonergic neurotransmission

In the last decade, an increasing number of studies have been aimed to describe the involvement of σ receptors in the modulation of serotonergic neurotransmission.

In rat, a two days treatment with 4-(N-benzylpiperidin-4-yl)-4iodobenzamide (4-IBP) and (+)-pentazocine produces a ~35% increase in the basal firing rate of 5-HT neurons, compared to saline-treated animals (Bermack and Debonnel, 2001). Since JO-1784 and PRE-084 failed to increase the firing activity of serotonergic neurons, this difference has been ascribed to the existence of two different subtypes of σ_1 receptors, defined metabotropic and non-metabotropic (Bermack and Debonnel, 2001). Therafter OPC-14523, wich is known to bind both the σ_1 and 5HT_{1A} receptors (Oshiro et al., 2000; Tottori et al., 2001), was shown to increase the firing activity of serotonergic neurons (Bermack et al., 2004). Since NE-100 prevents the serotoninergic OPC-14523 stimulation, it has been postulated that this aefect is probably mediated by σ_1 receptors (Bermack et al., 2004).

Moreover, neurosteroids were proposed to modulate the serotoninergic system via σ_1 receptor activation. In fact, in female rats dorsal raphe nucleus, subchronic administration of allopregnelone and DHEA increases the firing activity of the serotoninergic neurons (Robichaud and Debonnel, 2004 and 2006), whereas the putative σ_1 antagonist progesterone alone has no effect (Robichaud and Debonnel, 2004).

In summary, the activation of σ_1 receptors seems to enhance the 5-HT neurones firing activity. These findings suggest that σ_1 ligands and some neurosteroids might represent interesting adjuvants in the treatment of mood disorders.

1.9.4 Modulation of GABAergic system

To date, few studies have described the effects of σ_1 ligands on GABAergic neurotransmission. They all seem to indicate an inhibiting role of σ_1 receptors. DTG has been reported to suppress the firing rate of GABAergic interneurons in anaesthetized rats (Zhang et al., 1993a). (+)-SKF-10,047, serotonin and trazodone inhibit the KCI-evoked GABA release in rat mossy fibre cerebellar synaptosomes, but only the effects of (+)-SKF-10,047 and trazodone are prevented by pretreatment with BD-1047 and 3-PPP (Garrone et al., 2000). Nanomolar concentrations of neurosteroids have been also found to interfere with GABA neurotransmission via σ_1 receptors. In fact, in cultured hippocampal pyramidal neurons, the pregnenolone sulfate inhibits GABAergic synaptic transmission by a presynaptic effect (Mtchedlishvili and Kapur, 2003) and this effect is counteracted by BD-1063 and haloperidol.

Even if these preliminary informations were reported in literature, more studies are necessary to confirm a putative role of σ_1 in GABAergic neurotransmission modulation.

1.9.5 Modulation of glutamatergic system

The connection between σ_1 receptors and glutamatergic system has been often reported. Among all glutamate-gated ion channels (NMDA, kainate and AMPA receptors), σ_1 regulation of the NMDA receptor subtype has been deeper investigated. Moreover, adopting *in vivo* paradigms, some σ ligands have been shown to produce the same effects of the NMDA receptor agonists, such as mood, motricity and memory alterations (Maurice and Lockhart, 1997). In electrophysiological models, the application of σ ligands enhances the responsiveness of pyramidal neurons in hippocampal CA₁ and CA₃ regions to microiontophoretic applications of NMDA (Bergeron et al., 1997). Since the NMDA potentiation effects of JO-1784 and DTG are prevented by pre-treatment with pertussis toxin, but not the effects of (+)pentazocine, again, the two different patterns of data support the possibility of the co-existence of two different types of σ_1 receptors, metabotropic and non-metabotropic (Monnet et al., 1994).

How the NMDA receptor-mediated activity is modified by σ ligands is yet not known. While a σ binding site on the NMDA receptor/channel has been postulated, autoradiographic and radioligand binding studies suggest that a colocalization between NMDA and σ sites is likely to exclude (Largent et al., 1986, Monaghan et al., 1989).

In the 90's, several researchers believed that neurosteroids were the endogenous ligands of σ_1 receptors; for this reason neurosteroid-induced potentiation of the NMDA-evoked responses has been extensively studied. In rat CA₃ pyramidal neurons, low doses of DHEA potentiate the NMDA response selectively and in a dose-dependent manner. The effect of DHEA is reversed by the selective σ_1 antagonist NE-100 and by haloperidol (Bergeron et al, 1996; Debonnel et al., 1996). Progesterone have no effect by itself but, at low doses, it reverses the potentiation of NMDA response induced by DHEA as well as those induced by other nonsteroidal σ ligands: (+)-pentazocine, JO-1784 and DTG (Bergeron et al, 1996). The σ potentiation of NMDA response in the CA₃ region of rat dorsal hippocampus is significantly greater in ovariectomized rats, a classical progesterone-lacking model, than in males and in non-ovariectomized females (Debonnel et al., 1996; Bergeron et al., 1996). In addition, in pregnant rats, where progesterone production is greater enhanced, the

potentiation of neuronal response to NMDA requires 10-fold higher doses of DTG, (+)-pentazocine and DHEA than in female control rats (Bergeron et al., 1999). These results indicate that endogenous progesterone, acting as a σ_1 antagonist, might induce a tonic decrease in NMDA receptor function. More recent studies have shown that the neurosteroid DHEA also enhances glutamatergic neurotransmission in hippocampus *via* σ_1 receptors. In fact, chronic administration of DHEAs facilitates the induction of long-term potentiation and this effect is reversed by σ_1 antagonists NE-100 and haloperidol (Chen et al., 2006).

The glutamate receptor-induced increase of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is also modulated by σ_1 ligands. In early studies, some σ ligands like JO-1784, (+)-pentazocine, (+)-SKF-10,047, carbetapentane, dextromethorphan, (+)-cyclazocine, DTG and haloperidol were reported to reduce NMDA-stimulated increase of the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (Hayashi et al., 1995; Klette et al., 1997). On the contrary, more recent studies have documented that σ_1 ligands are able to enhance NMDA-evoked increase of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. For example, the potentiation of glutamate response in pyramidal neurons is increased by σ_1 agonists JO-1784, (+)-pentazocine and (+)-SKF-10,047. This σ_1 effect is reversed by both the σ_1 antagonist NE-100 and the PKC inhibitor Gö-6976, suggesting that the modulation of NMDA responses involves somehow the PLC-PKC signalling cascade (Monnet et al., 2003).

 σ ligands could also regulate the glutamate release. In fact, in rat cultured cortical neurons, not only the glutamate release evoked by BDNF stimulation of the PLC γ is enhanced in an agonist/antagonist fashion by the σ agonists imipramine and fluvoxamine, but the over-expression of σ_1 receptors itself is sufficient to enhance the induction of the PLC γ pathway by BDNF and, hence, the glutamate release (Yagasaki et al., 2006).

Up to now, it is commonly accepted that σ_1 receptors enhance NMDAmediated effects. Since the glutamatergic pathways are widely distributed in the CNS, the interactions of σ ligands with the glutamate systems might be crucial in several mental pathologies, including depression and psychosis.

1.9.6 Modulation of the dopaminergic neurotransmission

DA neurotrasmission has been often shown to constitute an important target of σ receptors in different experimental models. Since the reported results are frequently contraditory, the exact role of σ_1 receptor in dopaminergic neurotransmission remains unclear.

Early electrophysiological studies have reported that intravenous (i.v.) administration of σ agonists (+)-3-PPP, (+)-pentazocine and DTG decreases the firing rate of rats DA neurons (Steinfels et al., 1989). Interestingly, the σ antagonist BMY-14802 alone increases the firing rate in the same brain areas (Steinfels et al., 1989). In a similar model, it has been shown that i.v. administration of (+)-pentazocine is more effective in increasing the mesolimbic DA cell firing rate than the nigrostriatal one (Zhang et al., 1992); however, DTG and JO-1784 did not alter DA neuronal activity at nontoxic doses (Zhang et al., 1992). In this same study, the σ antagonist BMY-14802 was able to cause a dose-dependent increase of DA cell firing rate in both the brain regions (Zhang et al., 1992). (+)-3-PPP is able to inhibit both nigrostriatal and mesolimbic DA cell firing rates, but these effects are reversed by (-)-eticlopride and (+)-butaclamol, suggesting that 3-PPP-induced inhibition could be ascribed at the DA agonist properties of the drug (Zhang et al., 1992). More recently, Minabe and co-workers (Minabe et al., 1999) reported that acute administration of the σ_1 agonist SA-4503 produces a significant decrease in the number of spontaneously active

neurons of the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNPC), whereas, in the ventral tegmental area (VTA), the same compound induces the opposite effect, enhancing the firing rate of the DA neurons. Further data have confirmed the involvement of σ_1 receptors, since the σ_1 selective antagonist NE-100 is able to reverse both these effects (Minabe et al., 1999). In contrast, other studies reported that one-hour pretreatment with the σ agonists (+)-pentazocine, DTG or JO 1784 (Zhang et al., 1993b) and with the σ_1 antagonist E-5842 (Sánchez-Arroyos and Guitart, 1999) do not alter the number of spontaneously active DA neurons, both in SNPC and in VTA (Zhang et al., 1993b; Sánchez-Arroyos and Guitart, 1999).

Interestingly, a model of chronic administration led to a different pattern of data. Repeated treatments with DTG and with σ_1 agonists (+)pentazocine (Zhang et al., 1993b) and SA-4503 (Minabe et al., 1999) produces a significant increase in the number of spontaneously active VTA DA neurons (Zhang et al., 1993b; Minabe et al., 1999), whereas, in the same area, the σ_1 antagonist E-5842 induces the opposite effect, reducing the firing rate of DA neurons (Sánchez-Arroyos and Guitart, 1999). In addition, in the SNPC, repeated administration of JO-1784 (Zhang et al., 1993b) and SA-4503 (Minabe et al., 1999) decrease the number of the spontaneously active DA neurons and the E-5842 is devoid of activity (Sánchez-Arroyos and Guitart, 1999).

In summary, the *in vivo* electrophysiological studies have shown that DA neurones responses to σ ligands might be dissimilar among different brain areas and they can also be affected by the extent of the treatment.

Since the observed fluctuations in the firing rate of the DA neurons should be mediated by the enhancement of extracellular [DA], several investigations have been carried out to determine if σ receptors could directly regulate the intersynaptic concentrations of the major dopaminergic

neurotransmitter. From these studies, it has been brought to the light that the σ ligands deeply modify the extracellular [DA].

First solid evidences were reported by Gudelsky in 1995 (Gudelsky, 1995). In fact, he observed that, following systemic administration of (+)-pentazocine and (+)-SKF-10,047 (but not its (–)-enantiomer), striatum and medial prefrontal cortex extracellular [DA] increase of about 50% of the basal values in the first sixty minutes, followed by a rapid decrease (Fig.1.5 A) (Gudelsky, 1995).



Figure 1.5. Effect on the extracellular [DA]. **A**) (+)-pentazocine concentration dependent increase of the extracellular [DA] (Gudelsky, 1995) **B**) Different effects of other ligands: dopamine receptors antagonist (-)-butaclamol, σ_1 antagonist Dup734, σ agonist DTG and σ_1 agonist (+)-3-PPP (Gudelsky, 1995).

These effects are shared also by the σ_1 antagonist Dup734 and by the DA receptor antagonist (-)-butaclamol (Fig.1.5 B), but (-)-butaclamol pharmacological profile appears quite different from the one of the σ ligands, as the DA receptors antagonist produces a major extracellular [DA] increase, followed by a much slower decrease. This could indicate that the σ ligands and the (-)-butaclamol act at a different level in the extracellular [DA] regulation; in fact, since the (-)-butaclamol directly antagonizes the DA receptors, the observed increase in the DA release colud be

physiologically induced for counteracting the blockade of the dopaminergic transmission. However, in the same experiment, the extracellular [DA] was unaffected by the systemic administration of DTG and it was suppressed by the σ_1 agonist (+)-3-PPP (Gudelsky, 1995; Kanzaki et al., 1992); the (+)-3-PPP effect was reversed by the preadministration of the σ_1 antagonist BMY-14802, whereas this last ligand alone did not affect the extracellular levels of DA (Kanzaki et al., 1992). Further studies clarified that the extent of the administered dose could greatly affect the profile of action of the σ ligands. In fact, in rats, the intra-striatal administration of lower doses of (+)pentazocine, DTG and a σ selective ligand MR200 induce a decrease of the extracellular [DA] (Fig.1.6 A and B) (Gudelsky 1999; Moison et al., 2003), but, when administered at higher doses, these ligands induce a biphasic effect, deeper discussed in the next section (see section 1.9.7) and consisting of a rapid increase of the extracellular [DA], followed by a prolonged and marked decrease (Fig.1.6 A and B) (Gudelsky 1999; Moison et al., 2003). Because the excitatory responses among the pharmacological effects induced by σ ligands occur only when these drugs are administered at higher concentrations, it has been speculated that the observed biphasic effect is due to the aspecific involvement of other receptors that regulate the DA release (Gudelsky 1999; Moison et al., 2003). Thus, the negative regulation of extracellular [DA] appears to be a more specific effect of the σ ligands than the increase of the DA levels (Gudelsky 1999; Moison et al., 2003).

Other studies have confirmed that the σ_1 receptors are able to inhibit DA release. The σ_1 agonists (+)-pentazocine and BD-737 inhibited the KCl-stimulated [³H]DA release of about the 40% of the basal values both in slices of rat nucleus accumbens and in SH-SY5Y (Ault and Werling, 1999 and 2000). The σ_1 antagonists Dup734 and BIMU-8 were able to block these effects (Ault and Werling, 1999 and 2000).

In line with all the above described results indicating that σ_1 receptors may have an inhibitory role in regulation of extracellular [DA], more recent studies also indicate that repeated administration of the σ_1 selective agonist PRE-084 causes important adaptive changes in the striatal dopaminergic transmission (Peeters et al., 2004). In fact, the chronic administration of PRE084 results in an increase of DA-induced GTP γ S binding and this effect is reversed where both the PRE-084 and the σ_1 antagonist BD-1047 are chronically co-administrated (Peeters et al., 2004). Thus, probably, the observed increase of DA receptors could be a neuronal physiological adaptation induced by the lack of free DA in the synaptic cleft (Peeters et al., 2004).

It is well documented that σ_1 receptors are able to modulate NMDA receptor subtype responses (see section 1.9.5). Among the major NMDAmediated functions, σ_1 receptors have been shown to be effective in regulating NMDA-stimulated DA release.

Using *in vivo* microdialysis techniques, it has been shown that systemic administration of MS-377, a σ_1 antagonist, has no effect alone, but it reduces the increase of extracellular [DA] induced by PCP (Takahashi et al., 2001). The effects of MS-377 on NMDA-induced current were also determined in acutely dissociated DA neurons of VTA area, using patch clamp whole cell recording (Yamazaki et al., 2002). In this model, the σ_1 antagonists MS-377, haloperidol, NE-100 and BD-1063 were able to attenuate the NMDA-evoked currents (Yamazaki et al., 2002).

The NMDA-stimulated [³H]DA release has been also investigated. In experiments on rat striatum slices, the σ agonists (+)-pentazocine, (+)-SKF-10,047, BD-737 and pregnenolone sulfate inhibited NMDA-stimulated [³H]DA release. Interestingly, in the same studies, the putative σ_1 antagonist progesterone behaved like the agonists (Gonzalez-Alvear and Werling, 1994, 1997; Nuwayhid and Werling, 2003a and b). Moreover, in these studies the inhibition of NMDA-stimulated [³H]DA release, observed with the σ_1 ligands, including the progesterone, was reversed by the σ_1 antagonists DuP 734 and BD-1008 (Gonzalez-Alvear and Werling, 1994, 1995, 1997; Nuwayhid and Werling, 2003a and b). Experimental evidence indicate the PLC-PKC signalling system as preferring mechanism by wich the σ_1 receptors mediate their modulating effects on the glutamatergic NMDA receptors; in fact, pre-treatments with the PKC_{β} selective inhibitor LY379196 and the PLC inhibitor U-73,122 (Nuwayhid and Werling, 2003a and b), completely abolish the inhibition of NMDA-evoked [³H]DA release induced by σ receptor ligands.

The modulation of NMDA-stimulated [³H]DA release has been also studied in nucleus accumbens and in cortical slices. In both preparations, σ_1 agonists (+)-pentazocine and BD-737 inhibit [³H]DA release (Ault et al., 1998; Ault and Werling 1998). The observed inhibitory effect of σ_1 agonists was reversed by the non selective antagonist BD-1008, DTG and also by the σ_1 antagonist DuP 734 (Ault et al., 1998; Ault and Werling 1998), but not by the σ_2 antagonist BIMU-8 (Ault et al., 1998; Ault and Werling 1998), suggesting that, in these experiments, σ_1 receptors may modulate NMDA receptors.

As it concerns σ_2 receptors, also this receptor subtype has been demonstrated to modulate the extracellular levels of DA in amphetaminestimulated [³H]DA release experiments. In fact, in this model, the enhancement of amphetamine-mediated responses was reversed by the nonselective σ antagonist BD-1008 and by the selective σ_2 antagonists BIMU-8 and Lu28-179 (Izenwasser et al., 1998; Weatherspoon and Werling, 1999) but not by the selective σ_1 antagonist DuP 734 (Izenwasser et al., 1998; Weatherspoon and Werling, 1999). In summary, altough in the studied described above, contradictory results have been often reported, σ_1 receptors seem to exert an inhibitory role in the regulation of extracellular [DA].

The effect of σ_1 ligands on the levels of DA metabolites in the cortex and striatum have been also investigated.

Studies with *in vivo* brain microdialysis techniques found that some σ_1 agonists, such as (±)-pentazocine and (+)-SKF-10,047, increase extracellular dihydroxy phenylacetic acid (DOPAC) levels in the striatum but not in the frontal cortex (Matsuno et al., 1995b) and panamesine, a putative σ_1 antagonist, increases extracellular DOPAC levels in the prefrontal cortex (Skuza et al., 1998); σ_1 antagonists MR-200 and BMY-14802 do not modify extracellular DOPAC levels in the striatum (Moison et al., 2003; Kanzaki et al., 1992). Using the same experiment paradigm, also DTG was shown to increase extracellular DOPAC levels after intra-nigral administration (Bastianetto et al., 1995), however, in following researches, this result hasn't been further confirmed (Moison et al., 2003).

The σ_1 ligands modulation of the levels of extracellular homovanillic acid (HVA), another DA metabolite, has also been evaluated. σ_1 antagonist BMY-14802 doesn't affect HVA levels in the striatum (Kanzaki et al., 1992), but other σ ligands, such as DTG and panamesine, increased extracellular HVA levels in the striatum and medial prefrontal cortex, respectively (Skuza et al., 1998; Bastianetto et al., 1995). Thus, it appears that some σ_1 ligands may modulate the DA metabolism.

In post-mortem experiments, both the two σ_1 agonist prototypes (+)pentazocine and (+)-SKF-10,047 definetly increased tissue levels of DOPAC and HVA in the striatum (Iyengar et al., 1990); however, in the same experimental conditions, the putative σ_1 agonist SA-4503 increases DOPAC levels only in the frontal cortex, but not in the striatum (Kobayashi et al., 1997) and the putative σ_1 antagonist panamesine increased DOPAC and HVA levels in both the brain cortex and striatum (Skuza et al., 1998). These results show that σ_1 ligands are able to increase the DOPAC and HVA levels in brain. However, both σ_1 agonist and antagonists have been shown to produce this effect.

1.9.7 Biphasic effects of of σ_1 agonists in regulating of extracellular DA concentrations

In several experimental paradigms, such as behavioural, biochemical and electrophysiological models, σ_1 ligands induce a biphasic bell-shaped effect.

As previously described, in rat, intrastriatal infusion of the σ_1 selective agonists (+)-pentazocine (Fig.1.6 A) and MR-200 (Fig.1.6 B) by a microdialysis probe results in a biphasic effect on extracellular DA concentration, consisting in a rapid increase, during the first thirty minutes, followed by a more prolonged and marked decrease (Fig.1.6 A and B) (Gudelsky 1999; Moison et al., 2003).



Figure 1.6. Effect on the extracellular [DA]. A) The bell-shaped response is dependent from the administered (+)-pentazocine concentration (Gudelsky, 1995); in this case, also

the less effective isomer (-)-pentazocine induces the bell-shaped response and this is probably due to the very high concentration used in the experiment (Gudelsky, 1999). **B**) The bell-shaped response is dependent from the MR-200 concentrations (Moison et al., 2003): the pharmacological effects begin at 10μ M, but the biphasic trend only begins at 100μ M (Moison et al., 2003).

The biphasic effect is evident only when high concentrations of σ_1 ligand are administered. As shown in figure 1.6, (+)-pentazocine induces the bell-shaped response only when administered at concentrations over 1mM (Fig.1.6 A) and MR-200 induces the same response only at concentrations over 100 μ M (Fig.1.6 B). At lower doses, both the σ_1 agonists definitely appear to induce mainly extracellular [DA] decrease (Fig.1.6 A and B) (Gudelsky 1999; Moison et al., 2003). In addition, the infusion of the NMDA antagonist 3-(2-carboxypiperazine-4-yl)propyl-1-phosphonic acid (CPP) (100 µM) significantly attenuates the initial increase but not the subsequent decrease of DA release, produced by the intrastriatal infusion of (+)-pentazocine (Fig.1.7) (Gudelsky 1999). These findings indicate that the increasing effect of the extracellular [DA] could be mediated by the NMDA receptor itself, directly or following the activation by other systems. However, since the subsequent decrease of the extracellular [DA] isn't affected by CPP, this latter effect should be ascribed only to σ_1 receptors (Gudelsky 1999).



Figure 1.7. The NMDA antagonist CPP alone doesn't induce any physiological change and it prevents the rapid (+)-pentazocine-stimulated increase of the extracellular [DA]. However, the CPP isn't able to reverse the following prolonged decrease of the extracellular [DA] (Gudelsky 1999).

In the NG-108 cell line transfected with σ_1 mouse receptor, the σ_1 agonists (+)-pentazocine, PRE-084 and and pregnenolone sulfate, without effect by themselves, potentiate the bradykinin-induced increase of cytosolic free Ca^{2+} concentration in a bell-shaped manner. This effect of σ_1 ligands is also blocked by an antisense oligodeoxynucleotide against the cloned σ_1 receptors (Hayashi et al., 2000). In isolated cardiac myocytes from adult rats, the exposure to 10 nM of haloperidol or (+)-pentazocine induces an increase in the amplitude of contraction, reaching 188% and 138% (respectively) of control level. A lower concentration of haloperidol or (+)pentazocine (1 nM) does not induce the same increase in contraction amplitude observed with higher concentration, but rather reduces the amplitude to 70-80% of control (Novakova et al., 1995). Another dual effect of σ ligands has been reported *in vivo* electrophysiological studies investigating the σ -selective modulation of NMDA-induced neuronal activation in rat CA₃ dorsal hippocampus region. At lower doses, σ ligands DTG, JO-1784 and (+)-pentazocine dose-dependently enhance NMDAinduced activation of CA₃ pyramidal neurons (Monnet et al, 1992b). However, at higher doses, the effects of selective σ_1 agonists, such as JO-1784 and (+)-pentazocine, progressively decrease until vanishing and they are even able to act as antagonists, preventing the potentiation induced by low doses of other σ agonists (Bergeron et al., 1995; Bergeron and Debonnel, 1997).

To explain the dual effect of the σ_1 ligands, many hypotheses have been proposed, such as the existence of two σ_1 receptors subtypes (Bergeron and Debonnel, 1997; Novakova et al., 1995; Bermack and Debonnel, 2005) or conformations (Novakova et al., 1995). In my opinion σ ligands simply lose their σ selectivity when administered at higher concentrations and they bind also other receptors classes, activating several disparate responses. However, the biphasic trend of σ_1 ligands effects is an important factor to take into account while attemping to explain the controversial data about the σ_1 receptors (Bermack and Debonnel, 2005).

1.10 Therapeutical potential of σ_1 receptors

Given the widespread distribution of σ_1 receptors in the CNS and their different modulatory roles at cellular, biochemical and neurotransmission levels, the σ_1 ligands appear to be useful tools in different therapeutic fields, wich are briefly described in this chapter.

1.10.1 Role of σ_1 receptors in learning and memory

Based on studies demonstrating that σ_1 receptor agonists potentiate NMDA-induced neuronal firing in the CA₃ region of the hippocampus (Monnet et al., 1990) and that σ_1 agonists increase extracellular acetylcholine levels in the rat hippocampus and cortex, measured *in vivo* by intracerebral microdialysis (Matsuno et al., 1993b), σ_1 receptors have been extensively studied within the context of learning and memory.

It is known that deficits in cortical cholinergic activity have been observed in some cognitive diseases, such as Alzheimer's desease and pathological ageing. The learning impairment induced by the muscarinic antagonist scopolamine is reversed by several σ_1 agonists, suc as (+)pentazocine, JO-1874, SA-4503 and two neurosteroids, pregnenolone sulfate and DHEA (Maurice et al., 1997a; Maurice et al., 2001a; Monnet and Maurice, 2006) In addition, attenuation of the scopolamine-induced amnesia, observed with σ_1 agonists, is selectively reversed by known σ_1 antagonists, including haloperidol, NE-100, the neurosteroid progesterone and also by the downregulation of σ_1 receptor expression by specific antisense oligodeoxynucleotides (Maurice et al., 1997; Maurice et al., 2001c; Monnet and Maurice, 2006). The cholinesterase inhibitor donepezil, that is used in treating Alzheimer's disease, is also a potent σ_1 receptor ligand with an affinity of 14.6 nM (Kato et al., 1999). Precise pharmacological examinations of the interaction of donepezil with σ_1 receptors indicate not only that, on these receptors, donepezil could act as agonist, but also that the activation of the σ_1 receptors themselves could be involved in the donepezil anti-amnesic therapeutic properties (Maurice et al., 2006a; Meunier et al., 2006a and b). In fact, in rats, donepezil is able to protect against dizocilpine-, amyloid β_{25-35} related peptide-, or carbon monoxide-induced mnemonic impairment, but these effects are abolished by pretreatment with the σ_1 selective antagonist BD-1047 or antisense oligodeoxynucleotides (Maurice et al., 2006a). Others cholinesterase inhibitors, such as rivastigmine and tacrine, also attenuate dizocilpineinduced learning impairments (Maurice et al., 2006a); however pharmacological effects of these latter compounds aren't antagonized by BD-1047 (Maurice et al., 2006a).

Dizocilpine is a non-competitive NMDA receptor antagonist. Since activation of NMDA receptors is a crucial step in the estabilshment of longterm potentiation, chronic administration of dizocilpine represent a useful tool to study the memory and learning impairments both in rats and in mice (Murray et al., 1995). In this model, learning deficits are attenuated by the σ ligands (+)-SKF-10,047, (+)-pentazocine, JO-1784, DTG, PRE 084 and SA4503 and also the putative endogenous σ_1 agonists DHEAs and pregnenolone sulfate (Maurice et al., 1999, 2001a, 2001b, 2006a, 2006b; Monnet and Maurice, 2006). The anti-amnesic properties of these σ ligands are reverted by the known σ_1 antagonists haloperidol, BMY-14802, NE-100 and BD-1047, by the putative endogenous σ_1 antagonists progesterone and by the administration of antisense oligodeoxynucleotides against σ_1 receptor (Maurice et al., 1999b, 2001a, 2001b, 2006a, 2006b; Monnet and Maurice, 2006). The ANAVEX-41, a new potent σ_1 -muscarinic mixed agonist, has been shown to be an effective anti-amnesic agent against dizocilpineinduced learning impairments with its effect being blocked by the σ_1 receptor antagonist BD-1047 (Espallergues et al., 2007).

 σ_1 agonists were also reported to soften the learning impairment induced by the nicotinic antagonist mecamylamine, or by cortical cholinergic dysfunction caused by ibotenic acid injection in the basal forebrain (Maurice et al., 1997a, 2001a; Monnet and Maurice, 2006).

Repeated exposures to carbon monoxide (CO) gas induce a long-lasting but delayed amnesia which is measurable about one week after exposure. In this model, the hippocampal cholinergic system appears markedly affected by the hypoxic toxicity caused by CO (Maurice et al., 1997a). σ_1 ligands have neuroprotective properties also in the CO-induced amnesia models, since, the σ ligands (+)-SKF-10,047, PRE-084, JO-1784 and DTG reversed CO-induced amnesia, and their effects were prevented by the σ_1 antagonists NE-100 and BD-1047 (Maurice et al., 1999; Meunier et al., 2006a).

Therefore, in conclusion, while selective σ_1 agonists failed to improve the mnemonic processes in healthy control animals, they seem to markedly improve the learning and memory impairments in animal models of amnesia and significantly attenuate the mnemonic deficits.

1.10.2 Alzheimer's desease and σ_1 receptors

Among the memory and learning disorders, Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most common form of late-life dementia. Also in AD models of amnesia, σ_1 activation seems to ameliorate the mnemonic deficit symptoms. Nontransgenic models of AD have been characterized in rats infused with the amyloid β_{1-40} protein or in mice injected centrally with amyloid β_{25-35} peptide (Yamada and Nabeshima, 2000). In experiments performed using the amyloid β_{25-35} -induced AD model, the σ_1 receptor agonists (+)pentazocine, PRE 084, SA4503, (+)-SKF-10,047, the antitussive drug dextromethorphan and the putative σ_1 agonists DHEAs and pregnenolone sulfate attenuated, in a dose-dependent and bell-shaped manner, the memory deficits observed in mice seven days after β_{25-35} peptide injection. These effects of σ_1 agonists were reverted by haloperidol, BD 1047 and the putative σ_1 antagonist progesterone (Maurice et al., 1998, Meunier et al., 2006c; Wang et al., 2003). In the same experimental model, the cholinesterase inhibitor donepezil (Meunier et al., 2006c) and the σ_1 muscarinic mixed ligand ANAVEX-41 (Villard et al., 2009) were shown to be able to attenuate learning and memory deficits and hippocampal neuronal death caused by β_{25-35} peptide administrations. These findings are consistent with recent results indicating that, in cultured rat cortical neurons, the amyloid β_{25-35} -induced neuronal death is blocked by PRE-084 and the neuroprotective effects of this compound is, in turn, blocked by the σ_1 receptor antagonist, NE-100 (Marrazzo et al., 2005).

1.10.3 Schizophrenia and σ_1 receptors

Schizophrenia is a psychiatric pathology that describes a neuropsychiatric and mental disorder characterized by abnormalities in the perception or expression of reality.

The DA hypothesis of schizophrenia was first proposed in 1960s and it implicates the enhancing of mesolimbic DA functions. In particular it proposes that an excessive activation of D_2 receptors could be the cause of the positive symptoms of schizophrenia (Depatie and Lal, 2001). This hypothesi, largely resulted from the finding drugs which blocks DA function, like the phenothiazines, could reduce psychotic symptoms (Depatie and Lal, 2001). It is also supported by the observation that amphetamine, cocaine, methylphenidate and related psychostimulants, all of which enhance DA neurotransmission by presynaptic mechanisms, and other dopaminergic agonists, including apomorphine, can mimic acute positive symptoms of schizophrenia in normal subjects (Depatie and Lal, 2001).

This explanation is now believed to be overly simplicistic, even because newer antipsychotic medications (called atypical antipsychotic) can be equally effective as older medications (called typical antipsychotic), but they also affect serotonin functions and may have slightly less of a DA blocking effect (Jones et al., 2002). In addition, lower levels of glutamate receptors found in postmortem brains of people previously diagnosed with schizophrenia suggest that the neurotransmitter glutamate and the reduced function of the NMDA receptor could be involved in schizophrenia pathogenesis (Konradi and Heckers, 2003) The glutamatergic hypothesis is further supported by the finding that PCP not only emulates positive symptoms but also mimics the long-lasting psychological and social dysfunctions similarly to the negative symptoms of the disease, and can also induce schizophrenia-like psychosis in humans.

Since σ , DA and glutamate receptors share intricate relationships (see section 1.9), σ receptors are thought to be involved in the schizophrenia pathophysiolgy; consistent evidences arose from the finding that several σ agonists, such (+)-SKF-10,047 and (+)-pentazocine exhibit as psychotomimetic effects (Tam and Cook, 1984; Walker et al., 1990; Matsumoto and Pouw, 2000) and that many antipsychotic drugs, such as chlorpromazine, haloperidol and nemonapride and the psychotomimetics in drugs used schizophrenia models, such as amphetamine, methamphetamine, PCP and cocaine bind also to the σ receptors (reviewed in Hayashi and Su, 2004)

In behavioral models of schizophrenia in which the dopaminergic function is affected, σ_1 antagonists have been shown to ameliorate some behavioral sensitization induced In the by repeated symptoms. administrations of psychostimulants, a broad spectra of σ_1 antagonists inhibit the sensitization to methamphetamine (Akiyama et al., 1994; Takahashi et al., 2000, Ujike et al., 1992a) and cocaine (Ujike et al., 1996; witkin et al., 1993). Nonselective σ_1 antagonists, such as rimcazole, E-5842 and panamesine inhibit the amphetamine-induced locomotor activity (Guitart et al., 1998; Poncelet et al., 1993; Rückert and Schmidt., 1993; Skuza and Rogoz, 2006), but the symptoms of apomorphine-induced climbing are antagonized only by E-5842 and panamesine, but not by rimcazole (Guitart et al., 1998; Skuza and Rogoz, 2006; Takahashi et al., 1999; Taylor et al., 1993). Moreover, the σ_1 antagonist BD-1047 failed to antagonize the acute symptoms in the two mentioned models (Skuza et al., 2006). Again, the reported pharmacological actions of σ ligands show several contradictions and these results are also in contrast with the studies

showing that the σ agonists, nor the antagonists, depress the dopaminergic neurotransmission (see section 1.9.6). Since many other targets are known to be involved in schizophrenia physiopathology, the reported differences in the effects elicited by σ ligands might be ascribed to the involvement of other neurotransmitter systems.

In addition to dopaminergic dysfunctions, alterations of glutamatergic neurotransmission are also involved in schizophrenia. In vivo model in wich the glutamatergic system is affected, σ_1 ligands modify some animal behaviors. PCP-induced head weaving is insensitive to selective D_2 antagonists but it's attenuated by the antagonists NE-100, haloperidol, BMY 14802, Dup 734 and MS-377 (Hayashi and Su 2005; Takahashi et al., 1999). The BD 1047, rimcazole and panamesine also attenuate PCP-induced head twitching (Skuza et al., 2006). In monoamine-depleted mice, σ_1 receptor agonists such as (+)-pentazocine, (+)-SKF-10,047 and 3-(+)-PPP enhance the dizocilpine-induced psychotomimetic effects and this enhancement is blocked by σ_1 antagonist NE-100 (Okuyama et al., 1996). For these reasons, σ_1 blockade has been proposed for treating the negative symptoms of schizophrenia. However, among negative symptoms of schizophrenia, cognitive deficits are considered the most severe features of the illness and it has been extensively reported that σ_1 agonists are able to improve PCPinduced cognitive deficits, with this effect being reversed by σ antagonists (reviewed in Hayashi and Su, 2004, 2005). In summary, these results suggest that σ_1 agonists could be useful for treating cognitive deficits of schizophrenia but, at the same time, σ_1 antagonists would counteract negative symptoms. Therefore, a purported schizophrenia therapy based exclusively on σ_1 appears to be not useful.

1.10.4 Role of σ_1 receptors in depression

Depression, also known as major depressive disorder is a mental disorder characterized by low mood accompanied by low self-esteem, and loss of interest or pleasure in normally enjoyable activities. The major depressive disorder is characterized by disfunctions in brain areas where the monoaminergic neurotransmitters are widely released, especially in the frontal cortex and the hippocampus (Delgado and Moreno, 2000).

Preclinical studies have shown that targeting the σ_1 receptors alone is sufficient (but it is not requisite) to produce antidepressant-like effects. The antidepressant effects of σ ligands have been tested in behavioral models. In the tail suspension test, the selective σ_1 agonists SA-4503 and (+)pentazocine decrease the immobility time and this effect is antagonized by NE-100 (Ukai et al., 1998). Several σ_1 agonists, such as SA-4503, (+)pentazocine, JO-1784, UMB23 and donepezil have been shown to decrease immobility in the forced swimming test and this effect is blocked by known σ_1 antagonists (Maurice et al., 1999, and 2006a; Skuza et al., 2002a; Urani et al., 2001 and 2002; Wang et al., 2007). Recently, also the selective σ_1 receptor agonist PRE-084 has been reported to exhibit an antidepressant-like effect in the forced swim test (Skuza and Rogoz, 2009). This effect is counteracted by BD 1047 but not by SM-21, σ_1 and σ_2 receptor antagonists, respectively (Skuza and Rogoz, 2009). Furthermore, the σ_1 -stimulated decrease of immobility is more pronounced in C57BL/6J mice than in Albino Swiss mice and this result is consistent with the finding that the brain level of the endogenous σ_1 antagonist progesterone in C57BL/6J mice is two-fold lower than that of Albino Swiss mice (Phan et al., 2002). According to this latter finding, it has been also shown that in the forced swim test the antidepressant-like effects of σ_1 agonists JO-1784 and PRE-084, in adrenalectomized mice (a model of progesterone-lacking mice) are

enhanced compared to the non-adrenal ectomized control mice and these effects are blocked by BD-1047 (Urani et al., 2001). Moreover, the neurosteroids that are known to act as σ_1 receptors agonists, such as DHEAS and pregnenolone sulfate, are able decrease immobility in the forced swimming test (Maurice et al., 2001a and 2006a; Skuza and Rogoz, 2002; Urani et al., 2001 and 2002; Wang et al., 2007). Thus, again, neurosteroids are shown to be related to σ_1 functions.

Interesting is the finding that an extract of *Hypericum Perforatum*, wich is used as antidepressant, seems to exert its pharmacological actions also through σ_1 receptors (Mennini and Gobbi, 2004).

 σ_1 agonists are also able to potentiate the firing of serotonergic neurons of dorsal raphe nucleus after just two days of treatment, whereas the effects of serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) and monoamine oxidase inhibitors take several weeks to emerge. Thus, it seems that the antidepressant activity promoted by σ_1 agonists could emerge faster compared to the existing medications (Bermack and Debonnel, 2001). The OPC-14523 is a compound that shows a mixed pharmacological profile, since it has been reported to act as a SSRI and σ_1 agonist at the same time (Tottori et al., 2001; Hayashi and Su, 2004a). In the forced swimming test, this compound produces a marked antidepressant-like activity after a single oral administration and this effect is blocked by both the σ_1 and 5-HT_{1A} antagonists (Tottori et al., 2001; Hayashi and Su, 2004a). In line with this finding, coadministration of the σ_1 agonist (+)-pentazocine and the SSRI venlafaxine results in a synergistic antidepressant-like effect, also when administered at subeffective doses (Dhir and Kulkarni, 2007). Interestingly, this activity is suppressed by several σ_1 antagonists, including progesterone (Dhir and Kulkarni, 2007). Thus triggering both σ_1 and the serotonin

transporter (SERT) at the same time may represent a valid strategy to treat the major depressive disorders.

Several evidences suggest that σ_1 receptors play a role in the active mechanisms of selective SSRIs. In addition, it has been reported that some SSRIs possess moderate to high affinities for σ_1 receptors in mice brain (Hashimoto, 2009). Among them, the order of affinity for σ_1 receptors is as follows: fluvoxamine ~ imipramine > sertraline > fluoxetine > paroxetine (Takebayashi et al., 2002; Hashimoto, 2009). In a cell culture system, it has been demonstrated that the σ_1 agonist (+)-pentazocine and the antidepressants fluvoxamine and imipramine, but not sertraline or paroxetine, significantly potentiate nerve-growth factor (NGF)-induced neurite outgrowth in PC12 cells and that the effect of fluvoxamine on NGFinduced neurite outgrowth is significantly antagonized by pretreatment with the selective σ_1 antagonist NE-100 (Takebayashi et al., 2002; Hashimoto, 2009). Much interestingly, the enhancement of NGF neurite sprouting by these drugs is induced also by the overexpression of σ_1 receptors (Takebayashi et al., 2004a).

In humans, fluvoxamine binds to the σ_1 receptors at therapeutic concentrations (Ishikawa et al., 2007) and the σ_1 agonist JO-1784 exhibits a stronger antidepressant activity than the known fluoxetine, when administered at the dose of 20 mg/day (Bermack and Debonel, 2005). However, when used at 100 mg/day, the antidepressant effect of JO-1784 is the same of the placebo (Bermack and Debonel, 2005) and this data is in line with the bell-shaped dose-response curve observed following the σ_1 receptors activation in several behavioral, electrophysiological and biochemical models (see section 1.9.7).

In conclusion, σ_1 agonists exhibit a good antidepressant activity in several behavioral models. The contemporary blockade of SERT and

activation of σ_1 receptor is a promising strategy and, for this reason, the design of the mixed affinity ligands represent a good prospect in terms of efficacy.

1.10.5 Role of σ_1 receptors in anxiety

Anxiety is a psychological and physiological state characterized by cognitive, somatic, emotional, and behavioral components. This disorder is characterized by excessive anxiety and worry about everyday life events with no obvious reasons for worry. People with symptoms of generalized anxiety disorder tend to expect disaster and can't stop worrying about health, money, family, work, or school.

Recently, the role of σ receptors, particularly the σ_1 receptor subtype has been identified as a target for the pathophysiology of anxiety. The effects of σ_1 ligands have been assayed in several behavioral tests, such as in the conditioned fear stress model, in the sexual dysfunction induced by stress, in the marble-burying behavior and in the colonic motor disturbances induced by fear.

In the conditioned fear stress model, mice exhibit a marked suppression of motility when placed in an environment in which they had previously received an electric footshock. In this model, (+)-SKF-10,047, JO-1784, the neurosteroids pregnenolone sulfate and DHEAS and also the antitussive dextromethorphan attenuate, in a bell-shaped dose-response manner, the motor suppression induced by electric footshock (Kamei et al., 1996 and 1997; Noda et al., 2000; Urani et al., 2004). The involvement of σ_1 receptors has been confirmed by the known σ_1 antagonist NE-100 and progesterone wich block the effects elicited by the agonists (Noda et al., 2000; Urani et al., 2004). Interestingly, in this same model, (+)-pentazocine is devoid of any effect (Kamei et al., 1996 and 1997). It has been shown that in plasma and brain of stressed mice the concentration of endogenous σ_1 active steroids is altered (Noda et al., 2000; Urani et al., 2004). For this reason, neurosteroids are believed to modulate the fear stress responses *via* σ_1 receptors (Noda et al., 2000; Urani et al., 2004). Supporting this hypothesis is the finding that the attenuation of the motor suppression induced by σ_1 agonists JO-1784, (+)-SKF-10,047 and DHEAS is higher in a model of progesterone-lacking mice, such are rats after chronic intracerebroventricular infusion of amyloid β_{1-40} peptide (Urani et al., 2004).

In the model of sexual dysfunction induced by stress, the DHEA is able to attenuate the stress-induced effect and this activity is counteracted by NE-100 (Mizuno et al., 2006).

In mice the marble burying behavior, that is used as a model for both anxiety and obsessive compulsive disorder, is reduced by fluvoxamine. The effect of this antidepressant is prevented by the σ_1 selective antagonists BD-1063 and BD-1047, but not by the σ_2 antagonist SM-21, suggesting the involvement of the subtype 1 alone in the effect elicited by this antidepressant (Egashira et al., 2007).

The σ_1 agonist JO-1784 is able to reduce the colonic motor disturbances induced by fear stress in rats, a model that mimicks the gastrointestinal tract disorders frequently present in anxiety. This effect is reversed by the σ_1 antagonist BMY-14802 (Gue et al., 1992).

Although σ_1 receptor modulators appear as suitable therapeutic options for treating anxiety, this topic still needs further preclinical and clinical exploration (Kulkarni and Dhir, 2009).

1.10.6 σ_1 receptors and analgesia

In the CNS, the σ_1 receptors are widely distributed in the areas known to be involved in pain control, such as the superficial layers of the spinal cord dorsal horn, the periaqueductal gray matter, the locus ceruleus and rostroventral medulla (Alonso et al., 2000; Kitaichi et al., 2000). Modulation of analgesia by σ_1 receptors has been studied both in opioids-induced models and in absence of opioid agonists.

1.10.6.1 Modulation of opioid analgesia

The involvement of σ_1 receptors in the opioid-induced analgesia has been first reported on rat tail-flick experiments (Chien and Pasternak, 1993). In this model, the systemic administration of σ_1 ligands such as (+)pentazocine and DTG results in a considerable inhibition of the antinoception induced by morphine (Chien and Pasternak, 1993, 1994 and 1995a; Mei and Pasternak, 2002). In line with this finding, the σ_1 antagonists, such as haloperidol and (+)-MR-200, not only reversed the effect of the agonists, but also increase opioid-induced analgesia; this may indicate that σ_1 receptors could also work as a tonically active anti-opioid system (Chien and Pasternak, 1993, 1994 and 1995a; Marrazzo et al., 2006; Ronsisvalle et al., 2001a). However, the σ_1 ligands (+)-SKF-10,047 and NE-100 and specific σ_1 antisense oligodeoxynucleotides weren't able to modulate the κ_1 stimulated analgesia in the acetic acid-induced writhing test (Hiramatsu et al., 2002 and 2004), suggesting that modulation of analgesia by σ_1 receptors does not affect the κ opioid receptors antinoception activity.

The activity of σ_1 receptors was found to differ, depending on the considered nervous system area. In the tail-flick model, intrathecal

administrations of the σ_1 receptor agonist (+)-pentazocine doesn't attenuate the intrathecal analgesic effect of morphine, indicating that the modulation of opioid analgesia by σ_1 receptors should not occur at spinal level (Mei and Pasternak, 2002). On the other hand, when given supraspinally (intracerebroventricular administration), (+)-pentazocine diminishes the analgesic effect of of κ and μ opioid receptors agonists nalorphine and nalbuphine (Mei and Pasternak, 2002). Moreover, the finding that the intracerebroventricular administration of specific antisense σ_1 oligodeoxynucleotides enhances the opioids-induced anti-noception, further confirms the supraspinal location of the σ_1 receptor-mediated modulation of analgesia (King et al., 1997; Mei and Pasternak, 2002; Pan et al., 1998). More detailed results have been reported after microinjecting morphine, in conjunction with (+)-pentazocine, haloperidol, or both, in three different brainstem nuclei, the periaqueductal gray, the rostroventral medulla and the locus coeruleus (Mei and Pasternak, 2007). In these experiments, both the locus coeruleus and rostroventral medulla were sensitive to (+)-pentazocine, but not the periaqueductal gray. The involvment of the rostroventral medulla is particularly interesting as, in this study, it was the only region showing a tonic σ_1 activity and it could also modulate the morphine analgesia administrated in periaqueductal gray (Mei and Pasternak, 2007).

<u>1.10.6.2</u> Analgesic effect of the σ_l ligands

The modulation of analgesia by σ_1 receptors has been also investigated in absence of opioids.

Even if, in both the tail-flick model and the acetic acid-induced writhing test, several σ_1 ligands and antisense treatments were shown to be ineffective in producing any analgesic response when administered alone

(Cendan et al., 2005a; Chien et al., 1993, 1994, 1995a; Marrazzo et al., 2006; Mei and Pasternak, 2002; Pan et al., 1998; Hiramatsu et al., 2002 and 2004), other investigations have reported that σ_1 receptors are able to modulate nociception in different behavioral tests, in the absence of opioids. In the nociceptive flexor response test, the σ_1 agonists (+)pentazocine, SA-4503, DHEAs and pregnolone sulfate were able to elicite dose-dependent flexor responses, blocked by σ_1 receptor antagonists NE-100, BD1063 and progesterone. In the formalin test, the formalin-induced nociception is attenuated not only by systemic administration of the σ antagonist haloperidol, with an order of potency which is correlated with affinity for σ_1 receptors (Cendan et al., 2005a), but the same result was observed also in σ_1 receptor knockout mice (Cendan et al., 2005b). In line with these latter findings, recent studies showed that intrathecal treatment with the σ_1 receptor antagonist, BD-1047, in mice reduces formalin-induced pain and concomitantly attenuates the phosphorylation of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor subunit 1 induced by formalin (Kim et al., 2006). In addition, intrathecal injections of the σ_1 receptor agonists, PRE-084 and increase in mice carbetapentane, the PKCand PKA-dependent phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit of the NMDA receptor. This increase is blocked by the σ_1 receptor antagonist BD-1047 (Kim et al., 2008; Roh et al., 2008). In sciatic-neuropathic rats, a model of neuropathic pain, the σ_1 agonist DHEA induces a rapid pronociceptive action and the σ_1 antagonist BD-1047 is able to block the transient pronociceptive effect provoked by DHEA (Kibaly et al., 2008). In addition, it has been shown that the σ_1 antagonist BD-1047 also possesses an antinociceptive activity in the capsaicin-induced headache model (Kwon et al., 2009).

In summary, it appears that σ_1 receptors antagonists alone might induce analgesia and could be suitable for treating the acute and the neuropathic pain. In addition, while counteracting the σ_1 tonic inhibition of the opioid system, σ_1 receptor antagonists may potentiate the opioid response allowing to reduce the pharmacological active dose of opioid drugs. However, the exact molecular mechanisms of the action of σ_1 receptors in the modulation of pain still have to be established and needs further investigations.

1.11 σ_1 receptors and drug abuse

Since σ_1 receptors are able to bind several drug of abuse, it has been proposed that they may directly modulate the effects of these drug. Moreover, since it has been demonstrated that the σ_1 receptors are directly involved neuronal plasticity, it is likely that these receptors are somehow involved in drug dependence (Maurice et al., 2002; Matsumoto et al., 2003; Guitart et al., 2004; Maurice & Romieu, 2004). The role of σ_1 receptors in the action of cocaine has been extensively investigated. In addition, σ_1 receptors appear to be involved also in the methamphetamine, 3,4methylenedioxymethamphetamine, (MDMA) and ethanol effects.

1.11.1 Cocaine and σ_1 receptors

As described in 2.6.2, cocaine acts mainly as DA uptake inhibitor; however, in order to produce its psychostimulant effects, other mechanisms may also be involved (Mateo et al., 2004).

Cocaine binds to both its main target, the dopamine transporter (DAT), and the σ_1 receptors with K_i which falls in the μ M range (Rothman et al., 2003). It binds, preferentially, to the σ_1 subtype rather than to the σ_2
(Matsumoto et al., 2002). Thus, following the administration of a pharmacological active dose of cocaine, the physiological concentrations reached by this compound are higher enough to bind both DAT and σ_1 receptors. For this reason, the role of σ_1 receptors and ligands in the modulation of the effect of cocaine has been extensively studied both in acute and chronic models.

<u>1.11.1.1</u> σ_1 receptors modulation of the acute effects of cocaine

Among the acute side effects elicited by cocaine, hyperlocomotion represents one of the earliest and most evident symptoms. For this reason, locomotor effects of cocaine are often used as tool for studying the antipsychostimulant properties of novel compounds. Several σ_1 antagonist, such as haloperidol, BD-1008, BD-1047, BD-1063, BMY-14802, panamesine and rimcazole as the administration of σ_1 receptor antisense oligodeoxynucleotides have been reported to attenuate the acute hyperlocomotion activity induced by cocaine in rodents (Matsumoto et al., 2001a and 2003).

Convulsions and lethality are the typical side effects of cocaine overdose. The cocaine-induced convulsions, resulting from exposure to higher doses of cocaine, represent a good model to measure the cocaineinduced toxicity and the protective effects of the antipsychostimulants. The σ_1 antagonists BMY-14802, BD-1008, BD-1063, BD-1047 and rimcazole, as well as antisense oligodeoxynucleotides silencing σ_1 receptors significantly prevent cocaine-induced convulsions (Ushijima et al., 1998; Matsumoto et al., 2001a, 2001b, 2001c, 2002, 2003 and 2004; Maurice et al., 2002; Katz et al., 2003; Daniels et al., 2006). Interistingly, the ability of these compounds to prevent cocaine-induced convulsions is more related with their affinities for σ receptors rather than for affinity towards DAT (Matsumoto et al., 2001c). In addition, it has been shown that some σ_2 receptors preferential ligands are able to prevent the cocaine-induced convulsions; this finding suggests that both the σ receptors subtypes may be able to modulate the acute effects of the cocaine (reviewed in Matsumoto et al., 2003). As it concerns the role of σ_1 receptors on lethality induced by cocaine, σ_1 receptors antagonists revealed a protective activity, preventing death in animals not only when they are administered before cocaine, but also after (Matsumoto et al., 2001a, 2001b, 2002 and 2004; McCracken et al., 1999a; Daniels et al., 2006). These findings indicate that the σ_1 antagonists could have important clinical applications since they may even used as lifesaving drugs.

Further data confirming the involvement of σ receptors in the action of cocaine are related to the administration of DTG and of selective σ_1 agonists BD-1031, BD-1052 and SA-4503 which aggravate, in mice, the locomotor stimulatory actions and the toxic effects (measured as convulsions and lethality rate) of cocaine (Matsumoto et al., 2001a and b, 2002; McCracken et al., 1999a; Skuza, 1999).

<u>1.11.1.2</u> σ_1 receptors modulate the chronic effects of cocaine

Repeated administration of cocaine to laboratory animals results in behavioural sensitization as the animals develop an enhanced response to a given dose of cocaine. The estabilishment of the cocaine-induced locomotor sensitization, wich is considered a measurable index of nervous system plasticity resulting from repeated exposure to cocaine (Matsumoto et al., 2003) is attenuated by the coadministration of several σ_1 antagonists, such as BMY-14802, NPC-16377, rimcazole and SR-31742 (Ujike et al., 1996; Witkin et al., 1993).

The conditioned place preference (CPP) is a useful paradigm employed to evaluate the rewarding properties of drugs of abuse after their repeated administration. σ_1 receptors seem to play a role in establishment and the expression of the CPP induced by subchronic administration of cocaine. In fact, the cocaine-induced CPP acquisition is potentiated by the σ_1 receptor agonists DHEAs, pregnenolone sulfate JO-1784 or PRE-084 (Romieu et al., 2002, Romieu et al., 2004) and the effects of the agonists are blocked by the σ_1 antagonists progesterone and BD-1047 (Romieu et al., 2002; Romieu et al., 2004). In addition, repeated administrations of selective σ_1 receptor antagonists BD 1047 and NE-100 as well as the treatment of animals with a specific σ_1 antisense oligodeoxynucleotide are effective in reducing not only the estabilishment, but also the expression of cocaine-induced CPP (Romieu et al., 2000).

The self-administration paradigm, as well as the CPP represent useful tools to evaluate craving and relapse related to cocaine addiction. In fact, an extinct cocaine addictive behavior can be reactivated by a discriminative stimulus associated with cocaine administration or by a priming injection of cocaine. The σ_1 antagonist **BD-1047** and σ_1 antisense a oligodeoxynucleotide are able to attenuate the relapse behavior in both the described models (Martin-Fardon et al., 2007, Romieu et al., 2004). Moreover, the σ_1 agonists DHEA (Romieu et al., 2004), PRE 084, JO-1784 (Romieu et al., 2002) are capable to reactivate the CPP after extinction in rats previously conditioned to cocaine, in a BD-1047 sensitive manner (Romieu et al., 2004). These results suggest that σ_1 antagonists could be employed as terapy to prevent craving and relapse of cocaine addiction.

In summary, these studies show that cocaine might produce its behavioral and biochemical effects, at least in part, through its interaction with σ_1 receptors. Thus, σ_1 antagonists should be considered for developing potential therapies to treat different aspects of cocaine abuse, such as acute effects, long term effects and relapses.

1.11.2 Methamphetamine, MDMA and σ_1 receptors

Methamphetamine, like cocaine, binds the σ_1 receptors in the micromolar range; it binds also the σ_2 receptors with a 20-fold lower affinity than the σ_1 subtype (Nguyen et al., 2005). As previously shown in section 1.10.3, several σ_1 antagonists, such as BMY-14802, E-5842, DTG, SR-MS-377, 31742A, BD-1063 BD-1047, or and σ_1 antisense oligodeoxynucleotides, effects attenuate in vivo several of methamphetamine, such as the enhancement of locomotor activity or the development of methamphetamine-induced behavioural sensitisation (Ujike et al. 1992b; Taylor et al. 1993; Ruckert and Schmidt, 1993; Poncelet et al., 1993; Guitart et al., 1998; Takahashi et al., 2000; Nguyen et al., 2005).

It has been reported that σ_1 receptors could modulate also the effects of MDMA, a methamphetamine-related psychostimulant. In fact, the σ_1 antagonist BD-1063 attenuates the MDMA-induced locomotor activity (Brammer et al., 2006); moreover, BMY-14802 and MS-377, other two known σ_1 antagonists, inhibit also the behavioral sensitization induced by the repeated administration of MDMA (Ujike et al., 1992a; Akiyama et al., 1994; Takahashi et al., 2000).

1.11.3 Ethanol and σ_1 receptors

The involvement of σ_1 receptors in the effect of ethanol has been examined *in vivo* behavioral paradigms. In rodents, the σ_1 receptor antagonist BD-1047 has been shown to counteract the ethanol-induced locomotor stimulation, CPP and taste aversion and also to attenuate some symptoms of the abstinence syndrome after chronic ethanol consumption (Maurice et al., 2003; Meunier et al., 2006b). In line with these findings, the σ_1 receptor agonist PRE-084 enhances the ethanol-induced CPP in a dosedependent manner (Maurice et al., 2003). However, the σ_1 agonist JO-1784 behaves as the antagonist BD-1047 and attenuates some symptoms of the ethanol abstinence syndrome (Meunier et al., 2006b).

These observations suggest that σ_1 receptor could represent a novel target for alleviating ethanol addiction and abstinence syndrome after withdrawal.

References

Akiyama K, Kanzaki A, Tsuchida K, Ujike H. Methamphetamine-induced behavioral sensitization and its implications for relapse of schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res* 12:251–257, 1994.

Alonso G, Phan V, Guillemain I, Saunier M, Legrand A, Anoal M and Maurice T.

Immunocytochemical localization of the sigmal receptor in the adult rat central nervous system. *Neuroscience* 97: 155-170, 2000.

Ault DT and Werling LL. Differential modulation of NMDA-stimulated [³H]dopamine release from rat striatum by neuropeptide Y and σ receptor ligands. *Brain Res* 760: 210-217, 1997.

Ault DT and Werling LL. Neuropeptide Ymediated enhancement of NMDAstimulated [³H]dopamine release from rat prefrontal cortex is reversed by σ_1 receptor antagonists. *Schizophr Res* 31: 27-36, 1998.

Ault DT, Radeff JM and Werling LL. Modulation of [³H]Dopamine release from rat nucleus accumbens by neuropeptide Y may involve a *sigma*1-like receptor. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 284: 553-560, 1998.

Ault DT and Werling LL. Phencyclidine and dizocilpine modulate dopamine release from rat nucleus accumbens via σ receptors. *Eur J Pharmacol* 386: 145-153, 1999.

Ault DT and Werling LL. SH-SY5Y cells as a model for sigma receptor regulation of potassium-stimulated dopamine release. *Brain Res* 877: 354-360, 2000. Axelrod J. Enzymatic Formation of Psychotomimetic Metabolites from Normally Occurring Compounds. *Science* 134(3475):343, 1961.

Aydar E, Palmer CP, Klyachko VA and Jackson MB. The sigma receptor as a ligand-regulated auxiliary potassium channel subunit. *Neuron* 34: 399-410, 2002.

Bailey MA and Karbon EW. Haloperidol treatment differentially regulates [³H]DTG and [³H](+)-3-PPP labeled σ binding sites. *Eur J Pharmacol* 240: 243-250, 1993.

Bastianetto S, Rouquier L, Perrault G and Sanger DJ. DTG-induced circling behaviour in rats may involve the interaction between sigma sites and nigro-striatal dopaminergic pathways. *Neuropharmacology* 34: 281-287, 1995.

Beaton JM, Morris PE. Ontogeny of N,Ndimethyltryptamine and related indolealkylamine levels in neonatal rats. *Mech Ageing Dev* 25(3):343-7, 1984.

Bergeron R, de Montigny C and Debonnel G. Biphasic effects of sigma ligands on the neuronal response to *N*-methyl-D-aspartate. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 351:252-260, 1995.

Bergeron R, de Montigny C and Debonnel G. Potentiation of neuronal NMDA response induced by dehydroepiandrosterone and its suppression by progesterone: effects mediated via sigma receptors. *J Neurosci* 16: 1193-1202, 1996. **Bergeron R, de Montigny C, Debonnel G.** Effect of short-term and long-term treatments with sigma ligands on the Nmethyl-D-aspartate response in the CA3 region of the rat dorsal hippocampus. *Br J Pharmacol.* Apr;120(7):1351-9. 1997

Bergeron R, de Montigny C and Debonnel G. Pregnancy reduces brain sigma receptor function. *Br J Pharmacol* 127: 1769-1776, 1999.

Bermack JE and Debonnel G. Modulation of serotonergic neurotransmission by shortand long-term treatments with sigma ligands. *Br J Pharmacol* 134: 691-699, 2001.

Bermack JE, Haddjeri N and Debonnel G. Effects of the potential antidepressant OPC-14523 [1-[3-[4-(3-chlorophenyl)-1piperazinyl]propyl]-5-methoxy-3,4-dihydro-2-quinolinone monomethanesulfonate] a combined sigma and 5-HT1A ligand: modulation of neuronal activity in the dorsal raphe nucleus. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 310: 578-583, 2004.

Bermack JE and Debonnel G. The role of sigma receptors in depression. *J Pharmacol Sci* 97: 317-336, review. 2005.

Bermack JE, Debonnel G. Effects of OPC-14523, a combined sigma and 5-HT1a ligand, on pre- and post-synaptic 5-HT1a receptors. *J Psychopharmacol* 21(1):85-92. 2006

Bonhaus DW, Loury DN, Jakeman LB, To Z, DeSouza A, Eglen RM and Wong EH. [³H]BIMU-1, a 5-hydroxytryptamine3 receptor ligand in NG-108 cells, selectively labels *sigma*-2 binding sites in guinea pig hippocampus. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 267: 961-970, 1993. Bonhaus DW, Loury DN, Jakeman LB, Hsu SA, To ZP, Leung E, Zeitung KD, Eglen RM and Wong EH. [³H]RS-23597-190, a potent 5-hydroxytryptamine4 antagonist labels *sigma*-1 but not *sigma*-2 binding sites in guinea pig brain. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 271: 484-493, 1994.

Bouchard P and Quirion R. [³H]1,3-di(2-³H](+)pentazocine tolyl)guanidine and binding brain: sites the rat in autoradiographic visualization of the putative sigma1 and sigma2 receptor subtypes. Neuroscience 76: 467-477, 1997.

Brady KT, Balster RL, and May EL Stereoisomers of N-allylnormetazocine: phencyclidine-like behavioral effects in squirrel monkeys and rats. *Science*. 215, 178-80, 1982.

Brammer MK, Gilmore DL, Matsumoto RR. Interactions between 3,4methylenedioxymethamphetamine and σ_1 receptors. *Eur. J. Pharmacol* 553:141–145, 2006.

Brent PJ, Saunders H and Dunkley PR. Intrasynaptosomal free calcium levels in rat forebrain synaptosomes: modulation by sigma (σ) receptor ligands. *Neurosci Lett* 211: 138-142, 1996.

Brent PJ, Herd L, Saunders H, Sim AT and Dunkley PR. Protein phosphorylation and calcium uptake into rat forebrain synaptosomes: modulation by the σ ligand, 1,3-ditolylguanidine. *J Neurochem* 68: 2201-2211, 1997.

Cagnotto A, Bastone A and Mennini T. [³H](+)-pentazocine binding to rat brain sigma1 receptors. *Eur J Pharmacol* 266: 131-138, 1994.

Calderon SN, Izenwasser S, Heller B,Gutkind JS, Mattson MV, Su TP andNewmanAH.Novel1-phenylcycloalkanecarboxylicacidderivatives are potent and selective σ_1 ligands. J Med Chem 37: 2285-2291, 1994.

Campana G, Bucolo C, Murari G and Spampinato S. Ocular hypotensive action of topical flunarizine in the rabbit: role of σ_1 recognition sites. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 303: 1086-1094, 2002.

Cendan CM, Pujalte JM, Portillo-Salido E and Baeyens JM. Antinociceptive effects of haloperidol and its metabolites in the formalin test in mice. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 182: 485-493, 2005a.

Cendan CM, Pujalte JM, Portillo-Salido E, Montoliu L and Baeyens JM. Formalininduced pain is reduced in σ_1 receptor knockout mice. *Eur J Pharmacol* 511: 73-74, 2005b.

Chaki S, Okuyama S, Ogawa S, Tanaka M, Muramatsu M, Nakazato A and Tomisawa K. Solubilization and characterization of binding sites for [³H]NE-100, a novel and potent sigma1 ligand, from guinea pig brain. *Life Sci* 59: 1331-1340, 1996.

Chen HS, Lipton SA. The chemical biology of clinically tolerated NMDA receptor antagonists. *J Neurochem*: 97(6):1611-26, 2006.

Cheng, Z. X., Lan, D. M., Wu, P. Y., Zhu, Y. H., Dong, Y., Ma, L. Neurosteroid dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate inhibits persistent sodium current in rat medial prefrontal cortex via activation of sigma-1 receptors. Exp Neurol 210, 128–136. 2008 **Chien CC and Pasternak GW**. Functional antagonism of morphine analgesia by (+)-pentazocine: evidence for an anti-opioid σ_1 system. *Eur J Pharmacol* 250: R7-R8, 1993.

Chien CC and Pasternak GW. Selective antagonism of opioid analgesia by a *sigma* system. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 271: 1583-1590, 1994.

Chien CC and Pasternak GW. Sigma antagonists potentiate opioid analgesia in rats. *Neurosci Lett* 190: 137-139, 1995a.

Chien CC and Pasternak GW. (-)-Pentazocine analgesia in mice: interactions with a σ receptor system. *Eur J Pharmacol* 294: 303-308, 1995b.

Chou YC, Liao JF, Chang WY, Lin MF, Chen CF. Binding of dimemorfan to sigma-1 receptor and its anticonvulsant and locomotor effects in mice, compared with dextromethorphan and dextrorphan. *Brain Res*:13;821(2):516-9, 1999.

Church J and Fletcher EJ. Blockade by sigma site ligands of high voltage-activated Ca2+ channels in rat and mouse cultured hippocampal pyramidal neurones. *Br J Pharmacol* 116: 2801-2810, 1995.

Cobos EJ, Baeyens JM and Del Pozo E. Phenytoin differentially modulates the affinity of agonist and antagonist ligands for σ_1 receptors of guinea pig brain. *Synapse* 55: 192-195, 2005.

Cobos EJ, Lucena G, Baeyens JM and Del Pozo E. Differences in the allosteric modulation by phenytoin of the binding properties of the σ_1 ligands [³H](+)pentazocine and [³H]NE-100. *Synapse* 59: 152-161, 2006.

Cobos EJ, Entrena JM, Nieto FR, Cendán CM, Del Pozo E. Pharmacology and therapeutic potential of sigma(1) receptor ligands. *Curr Neuropharmacol* 6(4):344-66, 2008.

Contreras PC, DiMaggio DA, O'Donohue TL. An endogenous ligand for the sigma opioid binding site. *Synapse* 1(1):57-61, 1987.

Craviso GL and Musacchio JM. Highaffinity dextromethorphan binding sites in guinea pig brain. II. Competition experiments. *Mol Pharmacol* 23: 629-640, 1983.

Culp SG, Rominger D, Tam SW and DeSouzaEB.[³H]DuP734[1-(cyclopropylmethyl)-4-(2'-(4"-fluorophenyl)-2'- oxoethyl)-piperidine HBr]:a receptor binding profile of a high-affinitynovel sigma receptor ligand in guinea pigbrain. J Pharmacol Exp Ther263:1175-1187, 1992.

Daniels A, Ayala E, Chen W, Coop A and Matsumoto RR. *N*-[2-(*m*methoxyphenyl) ethyl]-N-ethyl-2-(1-pyrrolidinyl)ethylamine (UMB 116) is a novel antagonist for cocaine-induced effects. *Eur J Pharmacol* 2006.

De Waard M, Liu H, Walker D, Scott VE, Gurnett CA, Campbell KP Direct binding of G-protein betagamma complex to voltage-dependent calcium channels. *Nature* (*Lond*) 85:148–154. 1997.

Debonnel G, Bergeron R and de Montigny C. Potentiation by dehydroepiandrosterone of the neuronal response to *N*-methyl-D-aspartate in the CA3 region of the rat dorsal hippocampus: an effect mediated via sigma receptors. *J Endocrinol* 150 Suppl: S33-S42, 1996. -Hudkins DL, Hildebrand LM, Fleissner LC and Ward SJ. Lack of correlation between σ binding potency and inhibition of contractions in the mouse vas deferens preparation. *Eur J Pharmacol* 203: 329-335, 1991.

DeHaven-HudkinsDL,Ford-RiceFY,AllenJT andHudkinsRL.Allostericmodulationofligandbindingto $[^{3}H](+)$ pentazocinedefinedσrecognitionsites by phenytoin.Life Sci 53: 41-48, 1993.

DeHaven-Hudkins DL, Lanyon LF, Ford-Rice FY and Ator MA. σ recognition sites in brain and peripheral tissues. Characterization and effects of cytochrome P450 inhibitors. *Biochem Pharmacol* 47: 1231-1239, 1994.

Delgado PL and Moreno FA. Role of norepinephrine in depression. *J Clin Psychiatry* 61 Suppl 1: 5-12, 2000.

Depatie L and Lal S. Apomorphine and the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia: a dilemma? *J Psychiatry Neurosci* 26: 203-220, 2001.

Dhir A, Kulkarni SK. Involvement of sigma-1 receptor modulation in the antidepressant action of venlafaxine. *Neurosci. Lett* 420:204–208, 2007.

Dussossoy D, Carayon P, Belugou S, Feraut D, Bord A, Goubet C, Roque C, Vidal H, Combes T, Loison G and Casellas P. Colocalization of sterol isomerase and sigma1 receptor at endoplasmic reticulum and nuclear envelope level. *Eur J Biochem* 263: 377-386, 1999.

Egashira N, Harada S, Okuno R, Matsushita M, Nishimura R, Mishima K, Iwasaki K, Orito K, Fujiwara M. Involvement of the sigmal receptor in inhibiting activity of fluvoxamine on marble-burying behavior: comparison with paroxetine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol* 563:149–154, 2007.

Ela C, Barg J, Vogel Z, Hasin Y and Eilam Y. *Sigma* receptor ligands modulate contractility, Ca++ influx and beating rate in cultured cardiac myocytes. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 269: 1300-1309, 1994.

Espallergues J., Lapalud P., Christopoulos A., Avlani V.A., Sexton P.M., Vamvakides A. & Maurice T. Involvement of the sigma-1 receptor in the anti-amnesic, but not antidepressant-like, effects of the aminotetrahydrofuran derivative ANAVEX-41, *Br J Pharmacol* 152: 267–279, 2007.

Fleckenstein AE, Volz TJ, Riddle EL, Gibb JW, Hanson GR. New insights into the mechanism of action of amphetamines. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol: 47:681-98, 2007

Fontanilla D, Johannessen M, Hajipour AR, Cozzi NV, Jackson MB, Ruoho AE. The hallucinogen N,N-dimethyltryptamine (DMT) is an endogenous sigma-1 receptor regulator. *Science:* 323(5916):934-7, 2009.

Franzen F, Gross H. Tryptamine, N,N-
dimethyltryptamine, N,N-dimethyl-5-
hydroxytryptamine and 5-
methoxytryptamine in human blood and
urine. *Nature* 206(988):1052, 1965.

Ganapathy ME, Prasad PD, Huang W, Seth P, Leibach FH and Ganapathy V. Molecular and ligand-binding characterization of the σ -receptor in the Jurkat human T lymphocyte cell line. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 289: 251-260, 1999. Garrone B, Magnani M, Pinza M and Polenzani L. Effects of trazodone on neurotransmitter release from rat mossy fibre cerebellar synaptosomes. *Eur J Pharmacol* 400: 35-41, 2000.

Ghelardini C, Galeotti N and Bartolini A. Pharmacological identification of SM-21,the novel sigma(2) antagonist. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 67: 659-662, 2000.

Goldstein SR, Matsumoto RR, Thompson TL, Patrick RL, Bowen WD, Walker JM. Motor effects of two sigma ligands mediated by nigrostriatal dopamine neurons. *Synapse* 4(3):254-8, 1989.

Gonzalez-Alvear GM and Werling LL. Regulation of [³H]dopamine release from rat striatal slices by *sigma* receptor ligands. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 271: 212-219, 1994.

Gonzalez-Alvear GM and Werling LL. σ_1 Receptors in rat striatum regulate MDAstimulated [³H]dopamine release via a presynaptic mechanism. *Eur J Pharmacol* 294: 713-719, 1995.

Gonzalez-Alvear GM and Werling LL. Release of [³H]dopamine from guinea pig striatal slices is modulated by sigma1 receptor agonists. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 356: 455-461, 1997.

Green AR, Mechan AO, Elliott JM, O'Shea E, Colado MI. The pharmacology and clinical pharmacology of 3,4methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA, "ecstasy"). *Pharmacol Rev*: 55(3):463-508.

Gudelsky GA. Effects of σ receptor ligands on the extracellular concentration of dopamine in the striatum and prefrontal cortex of the rat. *Eur J Pharmacol* 286: 223-228, 1995. **Gudelsky GA**. Biphasic effect of sigma receptor ligands on the extracellular concentration of dopamine in the striatum of the rat. *J Neural Transm* 106: 849-856, 1999.

Gue M, Junien JL, Del Rio C and Bueno L. Neuropeptide Y and sigma ligand (JO 1784) suppress stress-induced colonic motor disturbances in rats through *sigma* and cholecystokinin receptors. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 261: 850-855, 1992.

Guitart X, Codony X, Ballarín M, Dordal A, Farré AJ. E-5842: a new potent and preferential σ ligand: preclinical pharmacological profile. *CNS Drug Rev* 4:201–224, 1998.

Guitart X, Codony X, Ballarín M, Dordal A and Farré AJ. E-5842: a new potent and preferential σ ligand: preclinical pharmacological profile. *CNS Drug Rev* 4: 201-224, 1998.

Guitart X, Codony X and Monroy X. Sigma receptors: biology and therapeutic potential. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 174: 301-319, 2004.

Gundlach AL, Largent BL and Snyder SH. Autoradiographic localization of sigma receptor binding sites in guinea pig and rat central nervous system with $(+)^{3}$ H-3-(3-hydroxyphenyl)-*N*-(1-propyl)piperidine. *J Neurosci* 6: 1757-1770, 1986a.

Gundlach AL, Largent BL and Snyder SH. Characterization of phencyclidine and sigma receptor-binding sites in brain. *NIDA Res Monogr* 64: 1-13, 1986b.

Hanner M, Moebius FF, Weber F,
Grabner M, Striessnig J and Glossmann
H. Phenylalkylamine Ca²⁺ antagonist
binding protein. Molecular cloning, tissue

distribution, and heterologous expression. J Biol Chem 270: 7551-7557, 1995.

Hanner M, Moebius FF, Flandorfer A, Knaus HG, Striessnig J, Kempner E and Glossmann H. Purification, molecular cloning, and expression of the mammalian sigma1-binding site. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93: 8072-8077, 1996.

Hashimoto K, London ED. Interactions of erythro-ifenprodil, threo-ifenprodil, erythro-iodoifenprodil, and eliprodil with subtypes of sigma receptors. *Eur J Pharmacol* 273(3):307-10, 1995.

Hashimoto K. Sigma-1 receptors and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors: clinical implications of their relationship. *Cent Nerv Syst Agents Med Chem* 9(3):197-204, 2009.

Hayashi T, Kagaya A, Takebayashi M, Shimizu M, Uchitomi Y, Motohashi N and Yamawaki S. Modulation by σ ligands of intracellular free Ca++ mobilization by Nmethyl-D-aspartate in primary culture of rat frontal cortical neurons. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 275: 207-214, 1995.

Hayashi T, Maurice T and Su TP. Ca2+ signaling via σ_1 -receptors: novel regulatory mechanism affecting intracellular Ca2+ concentration. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 293: 788-798, 2000.

Hayashi T and Su TP. Regulating ankyrin dynamics: Roles of sigma-1 receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98: 491-496, 2001.

Hayashi T and Su TP. Intracellular dynamics of σ_1 receptors (σ_1 binding sites) in NG108-15 cells. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 306: 726-733, 2003a.

Hayashi T and Su TP. σ_1 receptors (σ_1 binding sites) form raft-like microdomains

and target lipid droplets on the endoplasmic reticulum: roles in endoplasmic reticulum lipid compartmentalization and export. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 306: 718-725, 2003b. **Hayashi T and Su TP**. σ_1 receptor ligands: potential in the treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders. *CNS Drugs* 18: 269-284, 2004a. **Hayashi T and Su TP**. Sigma-1 receptors at galactosylceramide-enriched lipid microdomains regulate oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101: 14949-14954, 2004b.

Hayashi T, Su TP. The Sigma Receptor: Evolution of the Concept in Neuropsychopharmacology. *Curr. Neuropharmacol* 3:1–15, 2005a.

Hayashi T and Su TP. The potential role of sigma-1 receptors in lipid transport and lipid raft reconstitution in the brain: implication for drug abuse. *Life Sci* 77: 1612-1624, 2005b.

Hayashi T, Su TP. Sigma-1 receptor chaperones at the ER-mitochondrion interface regulate Ca(2+) signaling and cell survival. *Cell* 131(3):596-610, 2007

Hayashi T, Su TP. An update on the development of drugs for neuropsychiatric disorders: focusing on the sigma 1 receptor ligand. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*: 12(1):45-58, 2008.

Hayashi T, Rizzuto R, Hajnoczky G, Su TP. MAM: more than just a housekeeper. Trends Cell Biol: Feb;19(2):81-8. 2009

Hellewell SB and Bowen WD. A sigmalike binding site in rat pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells: decreased affinity for (+)benzomorphans and lower molecular weight suggest a different sigma receptor form from that of guinea pig brain. *Brain Res* 527: 244-253, 1990.

Hellewell SB, Bruce A, Feinstein G, Orringer J, Williams W and Bowen WD. Rat liver and kidney contain high densities of σ_1 and σ_2 receptors: characterization by ligand binding and photoaffinity labeling. *Eur J Pharmacol* 268: 9-18, 1994.

Hiramatsu M, Hoshino T, Kameyama T, Nabeshima T. Involvement of κ -opioid and σ receptors in short-term memory in mice. *Eur. J. Pharmacol* 453:91–98, 2002.

Hiramatsu M and Hoshino T. Involvement of κ -opioid receptors and σ receptors in memory function demonstrated using an antisense strategy. *Brain Res* 1030: 247-255, 2004.

Höfner G and Wanner KT. [³H]ifenprodil binding to NMDA receptors in porcine hippocampal brain membranes. *Eur J Pharmacol* 394: 211-219, 2000.

Hong W and Werling LL. Evidence that the σ_1 receptor is not directly coupled to G proteins. *Eur J Pharmacol* 408: 117-125, 2000.

Hong W and Werling LL. Binding of σ receptor ligands and their effects on muscarine-induced Ca2+ changes in SH-SY5Y cells. *Eur J Pharmacol* 436: 35-45, 2002.

Hong W, Nuwayhid SJ and Werling LL. Modulation of bradykinin-induced calcium changes in SH-SY5Y cells by neurosteroids and sigma receptor ligands via a shared mechanism. *Synapse* 54: 102-110, 2004.

Horan B, Gifford AN, Matsuno K, Mita S and Ashby CR, Jr. Effect of SA4503 on the electrically evoked release of ³H- acetylcholine from striatal and hippocampal rat brain slices. *Synapse* 46: 1-3, 2002.

Inoue A, Sugita S, Shoji H, Ichimoto H, Hide I and Nakata Y. Repeated haloperidol treatment decreases σ_1 receptor binding but does not affect its mRNA levels in the guinea pig or rat brain. *Eur J Pharmacol* 401: 307-316, 2000.

Ishikawa M, Ishiwata K, Ishii K, Kimura Y, Sakata M, Naganawa M, Oda K, Miyatake R, Fujisaki M, Shimizu E, Shirayama Y, Iyo M, Hashimoto K. High occupancy of sigma-1 receptors in the human brain after single oral administration of fluvoxamine: A positron emission tomography study using [¹¹C]SA4503. *Biol. Psychiatry* 62:878–883, 2007.

Ishiwata K, Noguchi J, Ishii S, Hatano K, Ito K, Nabeshima T and Senda M. Synthesis and preliminary evaluation of $[^{11}C]NE-100$ labeled in two different positions as a PET σ receptor ligand. *Nucl Med Biol* 25: 195-202, 1998.

Ishiwata K, Kawamura K, Yajima K, QingGeLeTu, Mori H and Shiba K. Evaluation of (+)-*p*-[11C]methylvesamicol for mapping sigma1 receptors: a comparison with [11C]SA4503. *Nucl Med Biol* 33: 543-548, 2006.

Itzhak Y, Stein I, Zhang SH, Kassim CO and Cristante D. Binding of σ -ligands to C57BL/6 mouse brain membranes: effects of monoamine oxidase inhibitors and subcellular distribution studies suggest the existence of σ -receptor subtypes. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 257: 141-148, 1991.

Iyengar S, Dilworth VM, Mick SJ, Contreras PC, Monahan JB, Rao TS and Wood PL. Sigma receptors modulate both A9 and A10 dopaminergic neurons in the rat brain: functional interaction with NMDA receptors. *Brain Res* 524: 322-326, 1990.

Iwamoto ET Locomotor activity and antinociception after putative mu, kappa and sigma opioid receptor agonists in the rat: influence of dopaminergic agonists and antagonists. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 217, 451-60, 1981.

Izenwasser S, Thompson-Montgomery D, Deben SE, Chowdhury IN and Werling LL. Modulation of amphetamine-stimulated (transporter mediated) dopamine release in vitro by σ_2 receptor agonists and antagonists. *Eur J Pharmacol* 346: 189-196, 1998.

Jaen JC, Caprathe BW, Pugsley TA, Wise LD and Akunne H. Evaluation of the effects of the enantiomers of reduced haloperidol, azaperol, and related 4-amino-1-arylbutanols on dopamine and σ receptors. *J Med Chem* 36: 3929-3936, 1993.

Jbilo O, Vidal H, Paul R, De Nys N, Bensaid M, Silve S, Carayon P, Davi D, Galiègue S, Bourrié B, Guillemot JC, Ferrara P, Loison G, Maffrand JP, Le Fur G, Casellas P. Purification and characterization of the human SR 31747Abinding protein. A nuclear membrane protein related to yeast sterol isomerase. *J Biol Chem.* 272(43):27107-15, 1997

Jones HM; Pilowsky LS. Dopamine and antipsychotic drug action revisited. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 181: 271–275, 2002.

Junien JL, Roman FJ, Brunelle G and Pascaud X. JO1784, a novel σ ligand, potentiates [³H]acetylcholine release from rat hippocampal slices. *Eur J Pharmacol* 200: 343-345, 1991. KahounJR,RuohoAE.[125]jiodoazidococaine, a photoaffinity labelfor the haloperidol-sensitive sigma receptor.Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992 89(4):1393-7.

Kamei H, Kameyama T, Nabeshima T. (+)-SKF-10,047 and dextromethorphan ameliorate conditioned fear stress through the activation of phenytoin-regulated σ_1 sites. *Eur. J. Pharmacol* 299:21–28, 1996.

Kamei H, Noda Y, Kameyama T and Nabeshima T. Role of (+)-SKF-10,047sensitive sub-population of σ_1 receptors in amelioration of conditioned fear stress in rats: association with mesolimbic dopaminergic systems. *Eur J Pharmacol* 319: 165-172, 1997.

Kanzaki A, Okumura K, Ujike H, Tsuchida K, Akiyama K and Otsuki S. BMY-14802 reverses the reduction of striatal dopamine release induced by (+)-3-[3-hydroxyphenyl]-*N*- (1-propyl)piperidine. *J Neural Transm Gen Sect* 90: 137-144, 1992.

Karbon EW, Naper K and Pontecorvo MJ. [³H]DTG and [³H](+)-3-PPP label pharmacologically distinct sigma binding sites in guinea pig brain membranes. *Eur J Pharmacol* 193: 21-27, 1991.

Kato K, Hayako H, Ishihara Y, Marui S, Iwane M and Miyamoto M. TAK-147, an acetylcholinesterase inhibitor, increases choline acetyltransferase activity in cultured rat septal cholinergic neurons. *Neurosci Lett* 260: 5-8, 1999.

Katz JL, Spealman RD, and Clark RD Stereoselective behavioral effects of Nallylnormetazocine in pigeons and squirrel monkeys. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 232, 452-461, 1985.

Katz JL, Libby TA, Kopajtic T, Husbands SM and Newman AH . Behavioral effects of rimcazole analogues alone and in combination with cocaine. *Eur J Pharmacol* 468: 109-119, 2003.

Kawamura K, Ishiwata K, Tajima H, Ishii S, Matsuno K, Homma Y and Senda M. *In vivo* evaluation of [11C]SA4503 as a PET ligand for mapping CNS sigma1 receptors. *Nucl Med Biol* 27: 255-261, 2000a.

Kawamura K, Ishiwata K, Shimada Y, Kimura Y, Kobayashi T, Matsuno K, Homma Y and Senda M. Preclinical evaluation of [11C]SA4503: radiation dosimetry, *in vivo* selectivity and PET imaging of sigma1 receptors in the cat brain. *Ann Nucl Med* 14: 285-292, 2000b.

Kedjouar B, Daunes S, Vilner BJ, Bowen WD, Klaebe A, Faye JC, Poirot M. Structural similitudes between cytotoxic antiestrogen-binding site (AEBS) ligands and cytotoxic sigma receptor ligands. Evidence for a relationship between cytotoxicity and affinity for AEBS or sigma-2 receptor but not for sigma-1 receptor. Biochem Pharmacol: 58(12):1927-39, 1999.

Kekuda R, Prasad PD, Fei YJ, Leibach FH and Ganapathy V. Cloning and functional expression of the human type 1 sigma receptor (hSigmaR1). *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 229: 553-558, 1996.

Kibaly C., Meyer L., Patte-Mensah C.and. Mensah-Nyagan A.G. Biochemicaland functional evidence for the control ofpainmechanismsbydehydroepiandrosteroneendogenously

synthesized in the spinal cord. *FASEB J* 22: 93–104, 2008.

Kim HW, Kwon YB, Roh DH, Yoon SY, Han HJ, Kim KW, Beitz AJ and Lee JH. Intrathecal treatment with σ_1 receptor antagonists reduces formalin-induced phosphorylation of NMDA receptor subunit 1 and the second phase of formalin test in mice. *Br J Pharmacol* 148: 490-498, 2006.

Kim H.W., Roh D.H., Yoon S.Y., Seo H.S., Kwon Y.B. and Han H.J. Activation of the spinal sigma-1 receptor enhances NMDA-induced pain via PKC- and PKA-dependent phosphorylation of the NR1 subunit in mice. *Br J Pharmacol* 154: 1125–1134, 2008.

King M, Pan YX, Mei J, Chang A, Xu J and Pasternak GW. Enhanced κ -opioid receptor-mediated analgesia by antisense targeting the σ_1 receptor. *Eur J Pharmacol* 331: R5-R6, 1997.

Kitaichi K, Chabot JG, Moebius FF, Flandorfer A, Glossmann H and Quirion R. Expression of the purported sigma1 (σ_1) receptor in the mammalian brain and its possible relevance in deficits induced by antagonism of the NMDA receptor complex as revealed using an antisense strategy. *J Chem Neuroanat* 20: 375-387, 2000.

Klein M, Cooper TB and Musacchio JM. Effects of haloperidol and reduced haloperidol on binding to σ sites. *Eur J Pharmacol* 254: 239-248, 1994.

Klette KL, Lin Y, Clapp LE, DeCoster MA, Moreton JE and Tortella FC. Neuroprotective sigma ligands attenuate NMDA and *trans*-ACPD-induced calcium signaling in rat primary neurons. *Brain Res* 756: 231-240, 1997. Kobayashi T, Matsuno K, Nakata K and Mita S. Enhancement of acetylcholine release by SA4503, a novel σ_1 receptor agonist, in the rat brain. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 279: 106-113, 1996a.

Kobayashi T, Matsuno K and Mita S. Regional differences of the effect of sigma receptor ligands on the acetylcholine release in the rat brain. *J Neural Transm* 103: 661-669, 1996b.

Kobayashi T, Matsuno K, Murai M and Mita S. σ_1 receptor subtype is involved in the facilitation of cortical dopaminergic transmission in the rat brain. *Neurochem Res* 22: 1105-1109, 1997.

Konradi C; Heckers S. Molecular aspects of glutamate dysregulation: implications for schizophrenia and its treatment. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 97(2): 153–79, 2003.

Kovacs KJ and Larson AA. Discrepancies in characterization of σ sites in the mouse central nervous system. *Eur J Pharmacol* 285: 127-134, 1995.

Kovacs KJ and Larson AA. Up-regulation of [³H]DTG but not [³H](+)-pentazocine labeled σ sites in mouse spinal cord by chronic morphine treatment. *Eur J Pharmacol* 350: 47-52, 1998.

Kulkarni SK, Dhir A. Sigma-1 receptors in major depression and anxiety. *Expert Rev Neurother*9(7):1021-34, 2009.

Kwon YB, Jeong YC, Kwon JK, Son JS, Kim KW. The antinociceptive effect of Sigma-1 receptor antagonist, BD1047, in a capsaicin induced headache model in rats. *Korean J Physiol Pharmacol* 13(6):425-9, 2009. Largent BL, Gundlach AL, Snyder SH. Pharmacological and autoradiographic discrimination of sigma and phencyclidine receptor binding sites in brain with (+)-[3H]SKF 10,047, (+)-[3H]-3-[3hydroxyphenyl]-N-(1-propyl)piperidine and [3H]-1-[1-(2-thienyl)cyclohexyl]piperidine.

J Pharmacol Exp Ther.: 238(2):739-48. 1986.

LePage KT, Ishmael JE, Low CM, Traynelis SF and Murray TF. Differential binding properties of [³H]dextrorphan and [³H]MK-801 in heterologously expressed NMDA receptors. *Neuropharmacology* 49: 1-16, 2005.

Lupardus PJ, Wilke RA, Aydar E, Palmer CP, Chen Y, Ruoho AE and Jackson MB. Membrane-delimited coupling between sigma receptors and K+ channels in rat neurohypophysial terminals requires neither G-protein nor ATP. *J Physiol* 526 Pt 3: 527- 539, 2000.

Manallack DT and Beart PM. Quantitative conformational analyses predict distinct receptor sites for PCP-like and σ drugs. *Eur J Pharmacol* 144: 231-235, 1987.

Marrazzo A, Caraci F, Salinaro ET, Su TP, Copani A and Ronsisvalle G. Neuroprotective effects of sigma-1 receptor agonists against betaamyloid- induced toxicity. *Neuroreport* 16: 1223-1226, 2005.

Marrazzo A, Parenti C, Scavo V, Ronsisvalle S, Scoto GM and Ronsisvalle G. *In vivo* evaluation of (+)-MR200 as a new selective sigma ligand modulating MOP, DOP and KOP supraspinal analgesia. *Life Sci* 78: 2449-2453, 2006.

Martin WR, Eades CG, Thompson JA, Huppler RE and Gilbert PE. The effects of morphineand nalorphine- like drugs in the nondependent and morphine-dependent chronic spinal dog. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 197: 517-532, 1976.

Martin-Fardon R, Maurice T, Aujla H, Bowen WD, Weiss F. Differential effects of σ_1 receptor blockade on self-administration and conditioned reinstatement motivated by cocaine vs natural reward. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 32:1967–1973, 2007

Maruo J, Yoshida A, Shimohira I, Matsuno K, Mita S and Ueda H. Binding of [35 S]GTP γ S stimulated by (+)pentazocine sigma receptor agonist, is abundant in the guinea pig spleen. *Life Sci* 67: 599-603, 2000.

Matsuno K, Nakazawa M, Okamoto K, Kawashima Y, Mita S. Binding properties of SA4503, a novel and selective sigma 1 receptor agonist. *Eur J Pharmacol*:13;306(1-3):271-9, 1996.

Mateo Y, Budygin EA, John CE, Jones SR. Role of serotonin in cocaine effects in mice with reduced dopamine transporter function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 101:372–377, 2004

Matos FF, Korpinen C and Yocca FD. 5- HT_{1A} receptor agonist effects of BMY-14802 on serotonin release in dorsal raphe and hippocampus. *Eur J Pharmacol* 317: 49-54, 1996.

Matsumoto RR, Bowen WD, Tom MA, Vo VN, Truong DD and De Costa BR. Characterization of two novel σ receptor ligands: antidystonic effects in rats suggest σ receptor antagonism. *Eur J Pharmacol* 280: 301-310, 1995. **Matsumoto RR and Pouw B**. Correlation between neuroleptic binding to σ_1 and σ_2 receptors and acute dystonic reactions. *Eur J Pharmacol* 401: 155-160, 2000.

Matsumoto RR, McCracken KA, Friedman MJ, Pouw B, De Costa BR and Bowen WD. Conformationally restricted analogs of BD1008 and an antisense oligodeoxynucleotide targeting σ_1 receptors produce anti-cocaine effects in mice. *Eur J Pharmacol* 419: 163-174, 2001a.

Matsumoto RR, McCracken KA, Pouw B, Miller J, Bowen WD, Williams W and De Costa BR. *N*-alkyl substituted analogs of the sigma receptor ligand BD1008 and traditional σ receptor ligands affect cocaine induced convulsions and lethality in mice. *Eur J Pharmacol* 411: 261-273, 2001b.

Matsumoto RR, Hewett KL, Pouw B, Bowen WD, Husbands SM, Cao JJ and Hauck NA. Rimcazole analogs attenuate the convulsive effects of cocaine: correlation with binding to sigma receptors rather than dopamine transporters. *Neuropharmacology* 41: 878-886, 2001c.

Matsumoto RR, McCracken KA, Pouw B, Zhang Y and Bowen WD . Involvement of sigma receptors in the behavioral effects of cocaine: evidence from novel ligands and antisense oligodeoxynucleotides. *Neuropharmacology* 42: 1043-1055, 2002.

Matsumoto RR, Liu Y, Lerner M, Howard EW and Brackett DJ $\cdot \sigma$ receptors: potential medications development target for anti-cocaine agents. *Eur J Pharmacol* 469: 1-12, 2003.

Matsumoto RR, Gilmore DL, Pouw B, Bowen WD, Williams W, Kausar A and **Coop A.** Novel analogs of the σ receptor ligand BD1008 attenuate cocaine-induced toxicity in mice. *Eur J Pharmacol* 492: 21-26, 2004.

Matsumoto RR, Bowen WD and Su TP. Sigma receptors. *Handbook*, 2007

Matsumoto RR, Shaikh J, Wilson LL, Vedam S, Coop A. Attenuation of methamphetamine-induced effects through the antagonism of sigma (sigma) receptors: Evidence from *in vivo* and in vitro studies. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol:* 18(12):871-81, 2008.

Matsuno K, Matsunaga K, Mita S. Increase of extracellular acetylcholine level in rat frontal cortex induced by (+)Nallylnormetazocine as measured by brain microdialysis. Brain Res. 20;575(2):315-9. 1992.

Matsuno K, Matsunaga K, Senda T and Mita S. Increase in extracellular acetylcholine level by *sigma* ligands in rat frontal cortex. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 265: 851-859, 1993.

Matsuno K, Senda T, Kobayashi T and Mita S. Involvement of σ_1 receptor in (+)-*N*allylnormetazocine-stimulated hippocampal cholinergic functions in rats. *Brain Res* 690: 200-206, 1995a.

Matsuno K, Matsunaga KH and Mita S. Acute effects of sigma ligands on the extracellular DOPAC level in rat frontal cortex and striatum. *Neurochem Res* 20: 233-238, 1995b.

Matsuno K and Mita S. SA4503: A Novel Sigma1 Receptor Agonist. *CNS Drug Rev* 4:1-24, 1998.

Maurice T, Roman FJ and Privat A. Modulation by neurosteroids of the *in vivo* (+)-[³H]SKF-10,047 binding to σ_1 receptors in the mouse forebrain. *J Neurosci Res* 46: 734-743, 1996.

Maurice T, Lockhart BP. Neuroprotective and anti-amnesic potentials of sigma (σ) receptor ligands. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. *Biol. Psychiatry* 21:69–102, 1997

Maurice T, Su TP and Privat A. Sigmal (σ_1) receptor agonists and neurosteroids attenuate B25-35-amyloid peptide-induced amnesia in mice through a common mechanism. *Neuroscience* 83: 413-428, 1998.

Maurice T, Phan VL, Urani A, Kamei H, Noda Y and Nabeshima T. Neuroactive neurosteroids as endogenous effectors for the sigmal (σ_1) receptor: pharmacological evidence and therapeutic opportunities. *Jpn J Pharmacol* 81: 125-155, 1999.

Maurice T, Urani A, Phan VL and Romieu P. The interaction between neuroactive steroids and the σ_1 receptor function: behavioral consequences and therapeutic opportunities. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* 37: 116-132, 2001a.

Maurice T, Phan VL, Urani A and Guillemain I. Differential involvement of the sigma1 (σ_1) receptor in the anti-amnesic effect of neuroactive steroids, as demonstrated using an *in vivo* antisense strategy in the mouse. *Br J Pharmacol* 134: 1731-1741, 2001b.

Maurice T, Phan VL and Privat A. The antiamnesic effects of sigmal (σ_1) receptor agonists confirmed by *in vivo* antisense strategy in the mouse. *Brain Res* 898: 113-121, 2001c.

Maurice T, Martin-Fardon R, Romieu P and Matsumoto RR. Sigma1 (σ_1) receptor antagonists represent a new strategy against cocaine addiction and toxicity. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 26: 499-527, 2002.

Maurice T, Casalino M, Lacroix M and Romieu P. Involvement of the sigmal receptor in the motivational effects of ethanol in mice. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 74: 869-876, 2003.

Maurice T. and Romieu P. Involvement of the sigmal receptor in the appetitive effects of cocaine. *Pharmacopsychiatry* 37:S198– 207, 2004.

Maurice T, Meunier J, Feng B, Ieni J and Monaghan DT. Interaction with σ_1 protein, but not *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor, is involved in the pharmacological activity of donepezil. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 317: 606-614, 2006a.

Maurice T, Gregoire C, Espallergues J. Neuro(active) steroids actions at the neuromodulatory sigmal (σ 1) receptor: biochemical and physiological evidences, consequences in neuroprotection. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav* 84:581–597, 2006b.

McCann DJ, Rabin RA, Rens-Domiano S, Winter JC. Phencyclidine/SKF-10,047 binding sites: evaluation of function. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 32(1):87-94, 1989.

McCann DJ and Su TP. Solubilization and characterization of haloperidol-sensitive (+)-[³H]SKF-10,047 binding sites (*sigma* sites) from rat liver membranes. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 257: 547-554, 1991.

McCann DJ, Weissman AD and Su TP. Sigma-1 and sigma-2 sites in rat brain: comparison of regional, ontogenetic, and subcellular patterns. *Synapse* 17: 182-189, 1994.

McCracken KA, Bowen WD, De Costa BR and Matsumoto RR. Two novel σ receptor ligands, BD1047 and LR172, attenuate cocaine-induced toxicity and locomotor activity. *Eur J Pharmacol* 370: 225-232, 1999a.

McCracken KA, Bowen WD, Matsumoto RR. Novel sigma receptor ligands attenuate the locomotor stimulatory effects of cocaine. *Eur J Pharmacol*: 365(1):35-8, 1999b.

McLean S and Weber E. Autoradiographic visualization of haloperidol-sensitive sigma receptors in guinea-pig brain. *Neuroscience* 25: 259-269, 1988.

Mei J and Pasternak GW. Molecular cloning and pharmacological characterization of the rat sigmal receptor. *Biochem Pharmacol* 62: 349- 355, 2001.

Mei J and Pasternak GW. σ₁ receptor modulation of opioid analgesia in the mouse. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 300: 1070-1074, 2002.

Mei J, Pasternak GW. Modulation of brainstem opiate analgesia in the rat by σ_1 receptors: a microinjection study. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther* 322:1278–1285, 2007.

Mendelsohn LG, Kalra V, Johnson BG and Kerchner GA. *Sigma* opioid receptor: characterization and co-identity with the phencyclidine receptor. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 233: 597-602, 1985.

Mennini T, Gobbi M. The antidepressant mechanism of Hypericum perforatum. *Life Sci* 75:1021–1027, 2004.

Meunier J, Ieni J and Maurice T. Antiamnesic and neuroprotective effects of donepezil against learning impairments induced in mice by exposure to carbon monoxide gas. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 317: 1307-1319, 2006a.

Meunier J, Demeilliers B, Celerier A and Maurice T. Compensatory effect by sigmal (σ_1) receptor stimulation during alcohol withdrawal in mice performing an object recognition task. *Behav Brain Res* 166: 166-176, 2006b.

Meunier J, Ieni J, Maurice T. The antiamnesic and neuroprotective effects of donepezil against amyloid β_{25-35} peptideinduced toxicity in mice involve an interaction with the σ 1 receptor. *Br. J. Pharmacol* 149:998–1012, 2006c.

Meyer C, Schmieding K, Falkenstein E and Wehling M. Are high-affinity progesterone binding site(s) from porcine liver microsomes members of the σ receptor family? *Eur J Pharmacol* 347: 293-299, 1998.

Minabe Y, Matsuno K and Ashby CR, Jr. Acute and chronic administration of the selective sigmal receptor agonist SA4503 significantly alters the activity of midbrain dopamine neurons in rats: An *in vivo* electrophysiological study. *Synapse* 33: 129-140, 1999.

Mizuno T, Yotsuyanagi S, Nagasaka Y and Namiki M. Dehydroepiandrosterone alleviates copulatory disorder induced by social stress in male rats. *J Sex Med* 3: 612-618, 2006.

Moebius FF, Reiter RJ, Hanner M and Glossmann H. High affinity of sigmalbinding sites for sterol isomerization inhibitors: evidence for a pharmacological relationship with the yeast sterol C8-C7 isomerase. *Br J Pharmacol* 121: 1-6, 1997.

Moison D, De Deurwaerdere P, Cagnotto A, Marrazzo A, Prezzavento O, Ronsisvalle G, Mennini T and Spampinato U. Intrastriatal administration of sigma ligands inhibits basal dopamine release *in vivo. Neuropharmacology* 45: 945-953, 2003.

Monaghan DT, Bridges RJ, Cotman CW. The excitatory amino acid receptors: their classes, pharmacology, and distinct properties in the function of the central nervous system. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*; 29:365-402. 1989.

Monassier L and Bousquet P. Sigma receptors: from discovery to highlights of their implications in the cardiovascular system. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol* 16: 1-8, 2002.

Monnet FP, Debonnel G, Junien JL and de Montigny C. N-methyl-D-aspartateinduced neuronal activation is selectively modulated by σ receptors. *Eur J Pharmacol* 179: 441-445, 1990.

Monnet FP, Blier P, Debonnel G and de Montigny C. Modulation by sigma ligands of *N*methyl- *D*-aspartate-induced [³H]noradrenaline release in the rat hippocampus: *G*-protein dependency. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 346: 32-39, 1992a.

Monnet FP, Debonnel G and de Montigny C. *In vivo* electrophysiological evidence for a selective modulation of *N*-methyl-Daspartateinduced neuronal activation in rat CA3 dorsal hippocampus by *sigma* ligands. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 261: 123-130, 1992b. Monnet FP, Debonnel G, Bergeron R, Gronier B and de Montigny C. The effects of sigma ligands and of neuropeptide Y on *N*-methyl-Daspartate- induced neuronal activation of CA3 dorsal hippocampus neurones are differentially affected by pertussin toxin. *Br J Pharmacol* 112: 709-715, 1994.

Monnet FP, Mahe V, Robel P and Baulieu EE. Neurosteroids, via σ receptors, modulate the [³H]norepinephrine release evoked by *N*-methyl- D-aspartate in the rat hippocampus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92: 3774-3778, 1995.

Monnet FP, De Costa BR and Bowen WD. Differentiation of sigma ligand-activated receptor subtypes that modulate NMDAevoked [³H]-noradrenaline release in rat hippocampal slices. *Br J Pharmacol* 119: 65-72, 1996.

Monnet FP, Morin-Surun MP, Leger J and Combettes L. Protein kinase Cdependent potentiation of intracellular calcium influx by σ_1 receptor agonists in rat hippocampal neurons. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 307: 705- 712, 2003.

Monnet FP and Maurice T. The sigmal protein as a target for the non-genomic effects of neuro(active)steroids: molecular, physiological, and behavioral aspects. *J Pharmacol Sci* 100: 93-118, 2006.

Morin-Surun MP, Collin T, Denavit-Saubie M, Baulieu EE and Monnet FP. Intracellular σ_1 receptor modulates phospholipase C and protein kinase C activities in the brainstem. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96: 8196-8199, 1999.

Mtchedlishvili Z and Kapur J. A presynaptic action of the neurosteroid

pregnenolone sulfate on GABAergic synaptic transmission. *Mol Pharmacol* 64: 857-864, 2003.

Murphy DJ and Vance J. Mechanisms of lipid-body formation. *Trends Biochem Sci* 24: 109-115, 1999.

Murray TK, Ridley RM, Snape MF, Cross AJ. The effect of dizocilpine (MK-801) on spatial and visual discrimination tasks in the rat. *Behav Pharmacol* 540-549, 1995.

Musacchio JM, Klein M and Santiago LJ. Allosteric modulation of dextromethorphan binding sites. *Neuropharmacology* 26: 997-1001, 1987.

Musacchio JM, Klein M and Santiago LJ. High affinity dextromethorphan binding sites in guinea pig brain: further characterization and allosteric interactions. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 247: 424-431, 1988.

Musacchio JM, Klein M and Canoll PD. Dextromethorphan and sigma ligands: common sites but diverse effects. *Life Sci* 45: 1721-1732, 1989a.

Musacchio JM, Klein M and Paturzo JJ. Effects of dextromethorphan site ligands and allosteric modifiers on the binding of (+)-[³H]3-(-3- hydroxyphenyl)-*N*-(1propyl)piperidine. *Mol Pharmacol* 35: 1-5, 1989b.

Nagornaia LV, Samovilova NN, Korobov NV, Vinogradov VA. Partial purification of endogenous inhibitors of (+)-[³H]SKF 10047 binding with sigma-opioid receptors of the liver. *Biull Eksp Biol Med* 106(9):314-7, 1998.

Narita N, Hashimoto K, Tomitaka S, Minabe Y. Interactions of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors with subtypes of sigma receptors in rat brain. *Eur J Pharmacol*:307(1):117-9, 1996.

Nguyen EC, McCracken KA, Liu Y, Pouw B and Matsumoto RR. Involvement of sigma (σ) receptors in the acute actions of methamphetamine: receptor binding and behavioral studies. *Neuropharmacology* 49: 638-645, 2005.

Nobile M and Lagostena L. A discriminant block among K⁺ channel types by phenytoin in neuroblastoma cells. *Br J Pharmacol* 124: 1698-1702, 1998.

Noda Y, Kamei H, Kamei Y, Nagai T, Nishida M and Nabeshima T. Neurosteroids ameliorate conditioned fear stress: an association with sigma1 receptors. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 23: 276-284, 2000.

Novakova M, Ela C, Barg J, Vogel Z, Hasin Y and Eilam Y. Inotropic action of σ receptor ligands in isolated cardiac myocytes from adult rats. *Eur J Pharmacol* 286: 19-30, 1995.

Novakova M, Bruderova V, Sulova Z, Kopacek J, Lacinova L, Kvetnansky R, Vasku A, Kaplan P, Krizanova O, Jurkovicova D. Modulation of expression of the sigma receptors in the heart of rat and mouse in normal and pathological conditions. Gen Physiol Biophys: 26:110– 117, 2007.

Nuwayhid SJ and Werling LL. σ_1 receptor agonist-mediated regulation of *N*-methyl-Daspartate- stimulated [³H]dopamine release is dependent upon protein kinase C. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 304: 364-369, 2003a.

Nuwayhid SJ and Werling LL. Steroids modulate *N*-methyl-D-aspartate-stimulated $[^{3}H]$ dopamine release from rat striatum via σ receptors. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 306: 934-940, 2003b.

Odagaki Y, Toyoshima R and Yamauchi T. Lack of G protein-coupled sigma receptors in rat brain membranes: receptormediated high-affinity GTPase activity and [35S]GTPgammaS binding studies. *J Neural Transm* 112: 873-883, 2005.

Ohashi M, Mizushima N, Kabeya Y and Yoshimori T. Localization of mammalian NAD(P)H steroid dehydrogenase-like protein on lipid droplets. *J Biol Chem* 278: 36819-36829, 2003.

Okuyama S, Chaki S, Yae T, Nakazato A and Muramatsu M. Autoradiographic characterization of binding sites for [³H]NE-100 in guinea pig brain. *Life Sci* 57: L333-L337, 1995.

Okuyama S, Imagawa Y, Tomisawa K. Behavioral Evidence for Modulation by Sigma Ligands of (+)MK-801-induced Hyperlocomotion in Monoamine-depleted Mice. *Neuropharmacology* 35:467–474, 1996.

Ola MS, Moore P, El-Sherbeny A, Roon P, Agarwal N, Sarthy VP, Casellas P, Ganapathy V, Smith SB. Expression pattern of sigma receptor 1 mRNA and protein in mammalian retina. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* 95(1-2):86-95, 2001

Oshiro Y, Sakurai Y, Sato S, Kurahashi N, Tanaka T, Kikuchi T, Tottori K, Uwahodo Y, Miwa T and Nishi T. 3,4dihydro-2(1H)-quinolinone as а novel antidepressant drug: synthesis and pharmacology of 1-[3-[4-(3-chlorophenyl)-1-piperazinyl]propyl]-3,4dihydro-5methoxy-2(1H)-quinolinone and its derivatives. J Med Chem 43: 177-189, 2000.

Pan YX, Mei J, Xu J, Wan BL, Zuckerman A and Pasternak GW. Cloning and characterization of a mouse σ_1 receptor. *J Neurochem* 70: 2279-2285, 1998. Patrick SL, Walker JM, Perkel JM, Lockwood M and Patrick RL. Increases in rat striatal extracellular dopamine and vacuous chewing produced by two σ receptor ligands. *Eur J Pharmacol* 231: 243-249, 1993.

Peeters M, Romieu P, Maurice T, Su TP, Maloteaux JM and Hermans E. Involvement of the sigmal receptor in the modulation of dopaminergic transmission by amantadine. *Eur J Neurosci* 19: 2212-2220, 2004.

Phan VL, Urani A, Romieu P, Maurice T: Strain differences in σ_1 receptor-mediated behaviours are related to neurosteroid levels. *Eur J Neurosci* 15, 1523–1534, 2002.

Poncelet M, Santucci V, Paul R, Gueudet C, Lavastre S, Guitard J, Steinberg R, Terranova JP, Breliere JC and Soubrie P. Neuropharmacological profile of a novel and selective ligand of the sigma site: SR 31742A. *Neuropharmacology* 32: 605-615, 1993.

Prasad PD, Li HW, Fei YJ, Ganapathy ME, Fujita T, Plumley LH, Yang-Feng TL, Leibach FH and Ganapathy V. Exonintron structure, analysis of promoter region, and chromosomal localization of the human type 1 σ receptor gene. *J Neurochem* 70: 443-451, 1998.

Quirion R, Bowen WD, Itzhak Y, Junien JL, Musacchio JM, Rothman RB, Su TP, Tam SW and Taylor DP. A proposal for the classification of σ binding sites. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 13: 85-86, 1992.

Ramachandran S, Chu UB, Mavlyutov TA, Pal A, Pyne S, Ruoho AE. The sigmal receptor interacts with N-alkyl amines and endogenous sphingolipids. *Eur J Pharmacol* 609(1-3):19-26, 2009.

Ramamoorthy JD, Ramamoorthy S, Mahesh VB, Leibach FH and Ganapathy V. Cocaine-sensitive σ -receptor and its interaction with steroid hormones in the human placental syncytiotrophoblast and in

choriocarcinoma cells. *Endocrinology* 136: 924-932, 1995.

Robichaud M and Debonnel G. Modulation of the firing activity of female dorsal raphe nucleus serotonergic neurons by neuroactive steroids. *J Endocrinol* 182: 11-21, 2004.

RobichaudM,DebonnelG.Allopregnanolone and ganaxolone increasethe firing activity of dorsal raphe nucleusserotonergic neurons in female rats.Int JNeuropsychopharmacol.;9(2):191-200.2006.

Rogers C and Lemaire S. Role of the sigma receptor in the inhibition of $[{}^{3}H]$ -noradrenaline uptake in brain synaptosomes and adrenal chromaffin cells. *Br J Pharmacol* 103: 1917-1922, 1991.

Roh D.H., Kim H.W., Yoon S.Y., Seo H.S., Kwon Y.B. and Kim K.W. Intrathecal administration of sigma-1 receptor agonists facilitates nociception: Involvement of protein kinase C-dependent pathway, *J Neurosci Res* 86: 3644–3654, 2008.

Roman FJ, Pascaud X, Duffy O, Vauche D, Martin B and Junien JL. Neuropeptide Y and peptide YY interact with rat brain σ

and PCP binding sites. *Eur J Pharmacol* 174: 301-302, 1989.

Romieu P, Martin-Fardon R and Maurice T. Involvement of the sigmal receptor in the cocaine-induced conditioned place preference. *Neuroreport* 11: 2885-2888, 2000.

Romieu P, Phan VL, Martin-Fardon R and Maurice T. Involvement of the sigma1 receptor in cocaine-induced conditioned place preference: possible dependence on dopamine uptake blockade. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 26: 444- 455, 2002.

Romieu P, Meunier J, Garcia D, Zozime N, Martin-Fardon R, Bowen WD and Maurice T. The sigmal (σ_1) receptor activation is a key step for the reactivation of cocaine conditioned place preference by drug priming. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 175: 154-162, 2004.

Ronsisvalle G, Marrazzo A, Prezzavento O, Cagnotto A, Mennini T, Parenti C and Scoto GM. Opioid and sigma receptor studies. New developments in the design of selective sigma ligands. *Pure and Applied Chemistry* 73: 1499-1509, 2001a.

Ronsisvalle G, Marrazzo A, Prezzavento O, Cagnotto A, Mennini T, Parenti C, Scoto GM. Opioid and sigma receptor studies. New developments in the design of selective sigma ligands. *Pure Appl Chem* 73:1499–1509, 2001b

Rothman RB, Reid A, Mahboubi A, Kim CH, De Costa BR, Jacobson AE and Rice KC. Labeling by [³H]1,3-di(2tolyl)guanidine of two high affinity binding sites in guinea pig brain: evidence for allosteric regulation by calcium channel antagonists and pseudoallosteric modulation by σ ligands. *Mol Pharmacol* 39: 222-232, 1991.

RothmanRBandBaumannMH.Monoaminetransportersandpsychostimulantdrugs.EurJPharmacol479: 23-40, 2003.

Rückert NG and Schmidt WJ. The σ receptor ligand 1,3-di-(2-tolyl)guanidine in animal models of schizophrenia. *Eur J Pharmacol* 233: 261-267, 1993.

Rush AM and Elliott JR. Phenytoin and carbamazepine: differential inhibition of sodium currents in small cells from adult rat dorsal root ganglia. *Neurosci Lett* 226: 95-98, 1997.

Samovilova NN and Vinogradov VA. Subcellular distribution of (+)-[³H]SKF 10,047 binding sites in rat liver. *Eur J Pharmacol* 225: 69-74, 1992.

Sanchez-Arroyos R and Guitart X. Electrophysiological effects of E-5842, a σ_1 receptor ligand and potential atypical antipsychotic, on A9 and A10 dopamine neurons. *Eur J Pharmacol* 378: 31-37, 1999.

SaavedraJMandAxelrodJ.PsychotomimeticN-MethylatedTryptamines: Formation in Brain *in vivo* andin vitro.Science175(4028):1365 - 1366,1972.

Schwarz S, Pohl P and Zhou GZ. Steroid binding at sigma-"opioid" receptors. *Science* 246: 1635-1638, 1989.

Seth P, Leibach FH and Ganapathy V. Cloning and structural analysis of the cDNA and the gene encoding the murine type 1 sigma receptor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 241: 535-540, 1997. Seth P, Fei YJ, Li HW, Huang W, Leibach FH and Ganapathy V. Cloning and functional characterization of a σ receptor from rat brain. *J Neurochem* 70: 922-931, 1998.

Shin EJ, Nah SY, Kim WK, Ko KH, Jhoo WK, Lim YK, Cha JY, Chen CF, Kim HC. The dextromethorphan analog dimemorfan attenuates kainate-induced seizures via sigmal receptor activation: with the effects of comparison Br dextromethorphan. I Pharmacol: 144(7): 908-18, 2005.

Silve S, Dupuy PH, Labit-Lebouteiller C, Kaghad M, Chalon P, Rahier A, Taton M, Lupker J, Shire D, Loison G. Emopamilbinding protein, a mammalian protein that binds a series of structurally diverse neuroprotective agents, exhibits delta8delta7 sterol isomerase activity in yeast. *J Biol Chem* 271(37):22434-40, 1996.

Simons K and Ikonen E. Functional rafts in cell membranes. *Nature* 387: 569-572, 1997.

Sircar R, Nichtenhauser R, Ieni JR and Zukin SR. Characterization and autoradiographic visualization of (+)-³H]SKF10,047 binding in rat and mouse brain: further evidence for phencyclidine/"sigma opiate" receptor commonality. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 237: 681-688, 1986.

Skuza G, Golembiowska K and Wedzony K. Effect of EMD 57445, the selective σ receptor ligand, on the turnover and release of dopamine. *Pol J Pharmacol* 50: 61-64, 1998.

Skuza G. Effect of sigma ligands on the cocaine induced convulsions in mice. *Pol J Pharmacol* 51: 477-483, 1999.

Skuza G, Rogoz Z. A potential antidepressant activity of SA4503, a selective $\sigma 1$ receptor agonist. *Behav. Pharmacol* 13:537–543, 2002a.

Skuza G, Rogoz Z. The synergistic effect of selective sigma receptor agonists and uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonists in the forced swim test in rats. *J. Physiol. Pharmacol* 57:217–229, 2006.

Skuza G, Rogóz Z. Antidepressant-like effect of PRE-084, a selective sigma1 receptor agonist, in Albino Swiss and C57BL/6J mice. *Pharmacol Rep* 61(6):1179-83, 2009.

Slifer BL and Balster RL. Reinforcing properties of stereoisomers of the putative *sigma* agonists N-allylnormetazocine and cyclazocine in rhesus monkeys. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 225: 522-528, 1983.

Smith RL, Canton H, Barrett RJ, Sanders-Bush E. Agonist properties of N,N-dimethyltryptamine at serotonin 5-HT_{2A} and 5-HT_{2C} receptors. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*: 61(3):323-30, 1998.

Soriani O, Vaudry H, Mei YA, Roman F and Cazin L. *Sigma* ligands stimulate the electrical activity of frog pituitary melanotrope cells through a G-proteindependent inhibition of potassium conductances. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 286: 163-171, 1998.

Soriani O, Foll FL, Roman F, Monnet FP, Vaudry H and Cazin L. A-Current downmodulated by σ receptor in frog pituitary melanotrope cells through a G protein-dependent pathway. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 289: 321-328, 1999a.

Soriani O, Le Foll F, Galas L, Roman F, Vaudry H and Cazin L. The σ -ligand (+)- pentazocine depresses M current and enhances calcium conductances in frog melanotrophs. *Am J Physiol* 277: E73-E80, 1999b.

Steinfels GF, Tam SW and Cook L. Electrophysiological effects of selective sigma-receptor agonists, antagonists, and the selective phencyclidine receptor agonist MK-801 on midbrain dopamine neurons. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2: 201-208, 1989.

Stone JM, Arstad E, Erlandsson K, Waterhouse RN, Ell PJ and Pilowsky LS. [123I]TPCNE--a novel SPET tracer for the sigma-1 receptor: first human studies and *in vivo* haloperidol challenge. *Synapse* 60: 109-117, 2006.

Su TP, Weissman AD, Yeh SY. Endogenous ligands for sigma opioid receptors in the brain ("sigmaphin"): evidence from binding assays. *Life Sci* 38(24):2199-210, 1987.

Su TP, London ED and Jaffe JH. Steroid binding at σ receptors suggests a link between endocrine, nervous, and immune systems. *Science* 240: 219-221, 1988.

Su TP, Hayashi T, Vaupel DB. When the endogenous hallucinogenic trace amine N,N-dimethyltryptamine meets the sigma-1 receptor. *Sci Signal* 2009: 2(61):pe12, 2009.

Takahashi S, Sonehara K, Takagi K, Miwa T, Horikomi K, Mita N, Nagase H, Iizuka K and Sakai K. Pharmacological profile of MS-377, a novel antipsychotic agent with selective affinity for σ receptors. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 145: 295-302, 1999.

Takahashi S, Miwa T and Horikomi K. Involvement of σ_1 receptors in methamphetamine-induced behavioral sensitization in rats. *Neurosci Lett* 289: 21-24, 2000.

Takahashi S, Horikomi K and Kato T. MS-377, a novel selective σ_1 receptor ligand, reverses phencyclidine-induced release of dopamine and serotonin in rat brain. *Eur J Pharmacol* 427: 211-219, 2001.

Takebayashi M, Hayashi T and Su TP. Nerve growth factor-induced neurite sprouting in PC12 cells involves σ_1 receptors: implications for antidepressants. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 303: 1227-1237, 2002.

Takebayashi M, Hayashi T and Su TP. σ_1 receptors potentiate epidermal growth factor signaling towards neuritogenesis in PC12 cells: potential relation to lipid raft reconstitution. *Synapse* 53: 90-103, 2004a.

Takebayashi M, Hayashi T and Su TP. A perspective on the new mechanism of antidepressants: neuritogenesis through sigma-1 receptors. *Pharmacopsychiatry* 37 Suppl 3: S208-S213, 2004b.

Tam SW. Naloxone-inaccessible σ receptor in rat central nervous system. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 80: 6703-6707, 1983.

Tam SW and Cook L. σ opiates and certain antipsychotic drugs mutually inhibit (+)-[³H] SKF 10,047 and [³H]haloperidol binding in guinea pig brain membranes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 81: 5618-5621, 1984.

Tam SW and Mitchell KN. Neuropeptide Y and peptide YY do not bind to brain σ and phencyclidine binding sites. *Eur J Pharmacol* 193: 121-122, 1991.

Tam SW, Steinfels GF, Gilligan PJ, Schmidt WK and Cook L . DuP 734 [1-(cyclopropylmethyl)-4-(2'(4"-fluorophenyl)-2'-oxoethyl)- piperidine HBr], a *sigma* and 5-hydroxytryptamine2 receptor antagonist: receptor-binding, electrophysiological and neuropharmacological profiles. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 263: 1167-1174, 1992.

Tanaka M,Shirasaki T,Kaku S,Muramatsu MandOtomo S.Characteristics of binding of [³H]NE-100, anovel sigma-receptor ligand, to guinea-pigbrain membranes.Naunyn SchmiedebergsArch Pharmacol 351: 244-251, 1995.

Taylor DP, Eison MS, Moon SL, Schlemmer RF, Jr., Shukla UA, VanderMaelen CP, Yocca FD, Gallant DJ, Behling SH and Boissard CG. A role for σ binding in the antipsychotic profile of BMY 14802? *NIDA Res Monogr* 133: 125-157, 1993.

Todorovic SM and Lingle CJ. Pharmacological properties of T-type Ca2+ current in adult rat sensory neurons: effects of anticonvulsant and anesthetic agents. *J Neurophysiol* 79: 240-252, 1998.

Tottori K, Miwa T, Uwahodo Y, Yamada S, Nakai M, Oshiro Y, Kikuchi T and Altar CA. Antidepressant-like responses to the combined sigma and 5-HT1A receptor agonist OPC-14523. *Neuropharmacology* 41: 976-988, 2001.

Ueda H, Inoue M, Yoshida A, Mizuno K, Yamamoto H, Maruo J, Matsuno K and Mita S. Metabotropic neurosteroid/ σ receptor involved in stimulation of nociceptor endings of mice. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 298: 703-710, 2001.

Ujike H, Kanzaki A, Okumura K, Akiyama K and Otsuki S. Sigma (σ) antagonist BMY 14802 prevents methamphetamine-induced sensitization. *Life Sci* 50: L129-L134, 1992a. Ujike H, Tsuchida K, Akiyama K and Otsuki S. Supersensitivity of σ receptors after repeated administration of cocaine. *Life Sci* 51: L31-L36, 1992b.

Ujike H, Kuroda S and Otsuki S. σ Receptor antagonists block the development of sensitization to cocaine. *Eur J Pharmacol* 296: 123-128, 1996.

Ukai M, Maeda H, Nanya Y, Kameyama T and Matsuno K. Beneficial effects of acute and repeated administrations of σ receptor agonists on behavioral despair in mice exposed to tail suspension. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 61: 247-252, 1998.

Urani A, Roman FJ, Phan VL, Su TP and Maurice T. The antidepressant-like effect induced by σ_1 -receptor agonists and neuroactive steroids in mice submitted to the forced swimming test. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 298: 1269-1279, 2001.

Urani A, Romieu P, Portales-Casamar E, Roman FJ, Maurice T. The antidepressantlike effect induced by the sigma1 (σ 1) receptor agonist igmesine involves modulation of intracellular calcium mobilization. *Psychopharmacology (Berl.)* 163:26–35, 2002.

Urani A, Romieu P, Roman FJ, Yamada K, Noda Y, Kamei H, Manh TH, Nagai T, Nabeshima T, Maurice T. Enhanced antidepressant efficacy of $\sigma 1$ receptor agonists in rats after chronic intracerebroventricular infusion of β -amyloid-(1-40) protein. *Eur. J. Pharmacol* 486:151–161, 2004.

Ushijima I, Kobayashi T, Suetsugi M, Watanabe K, Yamada M and Yamaguchi K. Cocaine: evidence for NMDA-, □carboline- and dopaminergic-mediated seizures in mice. *Brain Res* 797: 347-350, 1998.

Vaupel DB. Naltrexone fails to antagonize the sigma effects of PCP and SKF 10,047 in the dog. *Eur J Pharmacol* 92: 269-274, 1983.

Vilner BJ, Bowen WD. Modulation of cellular calcium by sigma-2 receptors: release from intracellular stores in human SK-N-SH neuroblastoma cells. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*;292(3):900-11, 2000.

Walker JM, Matsumoto RR, Bowen WD, Gans DL, Jones KD and Walker FO. Evidence for a role of haloperidol-sensitive sigma-'opiate' receptors in the motor effects of antipsychotic drugs. *Neurology* 38: 961-965, 1988.

Walker JM, Bowen WD, Walker FO, Matsumoto RR, De Costa B and Rice KC. Sigma receptors: biology and function. *Pharmacol Rev* 42: 355-402, 1990.

Walker JM, Bowen WD, Goldstein SR, Roberts AH, Patrick SL, Hohmann AG and DeCosta B. Autoradiographic distribution of [³H](+)-pentazocine and [³H]1,3-di-o-tolylguanidine (DTG) binding sites in guinea pig brain: a comparative study. *Brain Res* 581: 33-38, 1992.

Walker JM, Bowen WD, Patrick SL, Williams WE, Mascarella SW, Bai X, Carroll FI. A comparison of (-)deoxybenzomorphans devoid of opiate activity with their dextrorotatory phenolic counterparts suggests role of sigma 2 receptors in motor function. *Eur J Pharmacol* 26;231(1):61-8, 1993.

Wang HH, Chien JW, Chou YC, Liao JF and Chen CF. Anti-amnesic effect of dimemorfan in mice. *Br J Pharmacol* 138: 941-949, 2003.

Wang J, Mack AL, Coop A, Matsumoto RR. Novel sigma (σ) receptor agonists produce antidepressant-like effects in mice. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol* 17:708–716, 2007.

Weatherspoon JK and Werling LL. Modulation of amphetamine-stimulated [³H]dopamine release from rat pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells by σ type 2 receptors. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 289: 278-284, 1999.

Witkin JM, Terry P, Menkel M, Hickey P, Pontecorvo M, Ferkany J and Katz JL. Effects of the selective *sigma* receptor ligand, 6- [6- (4- hydroxypiperidinyl) hexyloxy]-3- methylflavone (NPC 16377), on behavioral and toxic effects of cocaine. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 266: 473-482, 1993.

Wolfe SA, Jr., Kulsakdinun C, Battaglia G, Jaffe JH and De Souza EB. Initial identification and characterization of *sigma* receptors on human peripheral blood leukocytes. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 247: 1114-1119, 1988.

Wolfe SA, Jr., Culp SG and De Souza EB. Sigma-receptors in endocrine organs: identification, characterization, and autoradiographic localization in rat pituitary, adrenal, testis, and ovary. *Endocrinology* 124: 1160-1172, 1989.

Wong EH, Knight AR, Woodruff GN. [³H]MK-801 labels a site on the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor channel complex in rat brain membranes. *J Neurochem*. Jan;50(1):274-81, 1988.

Yagasaki Y, Numakawa T, Kumamaru E, Hayashi T, Su TP and Kunugi H. Chronic antidepressants potentiate via sigma-1 receptors the brain-derived neurotrophic factor-induced signaling for glutamate release. *J Biol Chem* 281: 12941-12949, 2006.

Yamada M, Nishigami T, Nakasho K, Nishimoto Y, Miyaji H. Relationship between sigma-like site and progesteronebinding site of adult male rat liver microsomes. *Hepatology* 20(5):1271-80, 1994.

Yamada K. and Nabeshima T. Animal models of Alzheimer's disease and evaluation of anti-dementia drugs, *Pharmacol Ther* 88: 93–113, 2000.

Yamazaki Y, Ishioka M, Matsubayashi H, Amano T and Sasa M. Inhibition by sigma receptor ligand, MS-377, of *N*-methyl-Daspartate- induced currents in dopamine neurons of the rat ventral tegmental area. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 161: 64-69, 2002.

Zamanillo D, Andreu F, Ovalle S, Perez MP, Romero G, Farre AJ and Guitart X. Upregulation of sigma1 receptor mRNA in rat brain by a putative atypical antipsychotic and sigma receptor ligand. *Neurosci Lett* 282: 169-172, 2000.

Zhang J, Chiodo LA, Wettstein JG, Junien JL and Freeman AS. Acute effects of *sigma* ligands on the electrophysiological activity of rat nigrostriatal and mesoaccumbal dopaminergic neurons. *Synapse* 11: 267-278, 1992.

Zhang J, Chiodo LA and Freeman AS. Effects of phencyclidine, MK-801 and 1,3di(2-tolyl)guanidine on non-dopaminergic midbrain neurons. *Eur J Pharmacol* 230: 371-374, 1993a. **Zhang H and Cuevas J**. σ Receptor activation blocks potassium channels and depresses neuroexcitability in rat intracardiac neurons. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 313: 1387-1396, 2005.

Zhang J, Chiodo LA, Wettstein JG, Junien JL and Freeman AS. Repeated administration of *sigma* ligands alters the population activity of rat midbrain dopaminergic neurons. *Synapse* 13: 223-230, 1993b.

Zukin SR. Differing stereospecificities distinguish opiate receptor subtypes. *Life Sci* 31: 1307-1310, 1982

CHAPTER 2,

THE DOPAMINE TRANSPORTER

2.1 Historical background

Neurons rely upon chemical neurotransmitters for rapid (order of milliseconds) and precise communication with each other and with target organs. Neurotransmitters released into the synaptic cleft activate specific receptors on the postsynaptic neuron, which in turn causes opening of ion channels and activation of signal transduction cascades in the post-synaptic cell resulting in transmission of the signal.

The dopamine (DA) neurotransmitter was originally assumed to be a mere intermediate in the biosynthesis of norepinephrine (NE), until Carlsson and coworkers performed experiments on reserpinized animals and revealed a previously unrecognized role for DA in the central nervous system (CNS) (Carlsson et al., 1957). The neurotoxin reserpine alters the pH gradient required for monoamine uptake into the synaptic vesicle and the animals treated with reserpine become immobile, contributing to what is known as reserpine syndrome. Loss of NE was assumed to be the cause of this syndrome because treatment of reserpinized animals with the NE precursor 3,4-Dihydroxyphenylalanine (DOPA) reversed the reserpine syndrome (Carlsson et al., 1957). However, analysis of tissue from reserpinized and DOPA treated rabbits revealed that while animals regained mobility, there was only modest recovery of NE levels in the brain (Carlsson et al., 1957). This intriguing discovery soon led to the finding that the DA, not the NE is correlated with recovery from reserpine syndrome (Carlsson and Waldeck, 1958). For the first time, the role of DA as a potential neuromodulator of movement defects was recognized and described.

The lifetime of the neurotransmitter released into the synaptic cleft is predominantly regulated by specific proteins that mediate their reuptake into the presynaptic cell, the neurotransmitter transporters. Julius Axelrod was the first to introduce the concept of reuptake by demonstrating that synaptically released noradrenaline is taken up by specific transporters in sympathetic nerve terminals (Hertting and Axelrod, 1961). Subsequently, reuptake mechanisms have been discovered for serotonin, DA, γ -amino butyric acid (GABA), glycine and a number of other neuromodulators. To date, neurotransmitter transporters have been described to play a very important role in regulating temporal and aspects of spatial neurotransmission.

2.2 Functions of DAT

2.2.1 Physiological activity of DAT

The DA transporter (DAT) is a membrane protein whose physiological function is to clear released DA from the synaptic cleft, effectively reducing the concentration of DA at both pre- and post-synaptic DA receptors (Nelson, 1998). Therefore, DAT modulates the spatial and temporal aspects of dopaminergic synaptic transmission and, while it regulates the key step for terminating DA action it is considered an integral part of the DA system (Mortensen and Amara, 2003; Torres and Amara, 2007).

The DA is uptaken against its concentration gradient. As discussed in section 2.3.2, the driving force for this process is granted by the Na^+ and Cl^- ions symport. Electrophysiological studies have revealed that DAT also

exhibits channel-like properties (Kahlig et al., 2005; Carvelli et al., 2004). These studies demonstrate that in addition to a carrier, DAT also acts as a channel and directly modulates membrane potential and neuronal function (Blakely and DeFelice, 2007).

The dopaminergic system is involved in learning, reward-seeking behavior, movement, and emotion (Sotnikova et al., 2006). Due to the crucial role of DAT in terminating the dopaminergic neurotransmission, dysfunctions of DAT contribute to the development of several neurological and psychiatric disorders (Torres, 2006), such as attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and Parkinson's disease (PD).

2.2.2 DAT mediated DA efflux

In addition to the physiological uptake activity, DAT has been shown to be capable of mediating DA efflux (Khoshbouei et al., 2005). Efflux of DA through DAT has been shown primarily using AMPH stimulation (Khoshbouei et al., 2003). Initial studies examining reverse transport for DAT revealed that PKC activation increased DA release from striatal slices with this effect being blocked by DAT inhibitors (Kantor and Gnegy, 1998; Cowell et al., 2000). A link to PKC and potential AMPH induced efflux came from studies using the mutagenesis techniques. In these researches, the five *N*-terminal serine residues in hDAT, which are considered to be sites of PKC phosphorylation, have been substituted with alanines. While alanine substitution of these residues did not effect DA uptake or surface expression, AMPH mediated efflux was completely abolished (Khoshbouei et al., 2004). Substitution of these alanine residues with aspartic acid residues, which mimics phosphorylation at these sites, restored AMPH mediated efflux (Khoshbouei et al., 2004). This work suggests that NH₂- terminal phosphorylation directly by PKC or via another kinase, not only affects transporter surface expression, but also enables the transporter to efflux DA.

2.3 Structural basis of physiological functions

2.3.1 Molecular characterization

DAT is a member of the family of Na⁺, Cl⁻ -dependent substratespecific neuronal membrane transporters. This neurotransmitter sodium symporter family (NSSf) includes also transporters for NE, serotonine, GABA, AA such as glycine, taurine, proline, betaine, creatine and some bacterial homologues (Amara and Khuar, 1993; Giros and Caron, 1993; Uhl and Kitayama, 1993; Blakely et al., 1994; Reith et al., 1997).

The cloning of the DA transporter came in 1991 when several groups using information from other recently cloned biogenic amine transporters, expressed cDNA capable of mediating DA uptake into non-DA cells (Giros et al., 1991; Usdin et al., 1991). To date it is known that DAT gene belongs to the solute carrier 6 genes (SLC6A3) family, the same family of other monoamine transporter, such as SERT and NET. The initial determination of the membrane topology of DAT was based upon hydrophobic sequence analysis and sequence similarities with the GABA transporter. These methods predicted twelve transmembrane domains (TMD) with a large extracellular loop between the third and fourth TMDs (Kilty et al., 1991). Further characterization of this protein used proteases, which digest proteins into smaller fragments, and glycosylation, which occurs only on extracellular loops, largely verified the initial predictions of membrane topology (Vaughan and Kuhar, 1996). Thus, to date, it's accepted that the topological arrangement of DAT consists of 12 membrane-spanning α -helices with intracellular amino and carboxyl-terminal domains (Fig.2.1). There are three putative N-linked glycosylation sites on the large extracellular loop between TM3 and TM4. DAT also contains a number of potential phosphorylation sites on the intracellular domains, which suggests that kinases may mediate regulation of the transport process.



Figure 2.1. Topology of the Human Dopamine Transporter (hDAT). Illustration of the two-dimensional topology of the hDAT showing intracellular N and C termini and the amino acid sequence. There are 12 transmembrane domains with alternating intra- and extra-cellular loops. N-linked glycosyl groups are shown at the consensus asparagine glycosylation sites, Asn 181, Asn 188, and Asn 205, in the second extracellular loop. In addition, cysteines 180 and 189 in the second extracellular loop are disulfide bonded (adapted from Giros & Caron, 1993).

2.3.2 Structural basis of DA uptake

As other members of NSSf, the DAT enables the transport of substrate together with Na⁺ and Cl⁻ as cosubstrates (Gu et al., 1994; McElvain and Schenk, 1992). When DA binds to the transporter in combination with Na⁺ and Cl⁻, the transporter becomes active and can transport DA inside the cell. During a transport cycle, two Na⁺, one Cl⁻ and one charged molecule of DA are translocated resulting in the net movement of two positive charges per molecule of DA (Gu et al., 1994; McElvain and Schenk, 1992). Another plasma membrane protein, an Na+-, K+-ATPase cootransporter, maintains an inwardly directed transmembrane Na⁺ gradient by pumping Na^+ ions out of, and K^+ into, the cell. This transmembrane gradient is important, because it represents the driving force of the uptake process (Rudnick, 2002; Chen and Reith, 2003), however the exact mechanism of the transporter involved in this coupled transport process remain unclear. A great advance in understanding the NSSf has been the crystalization of a member of this family, the bacterial leucine transporter (Leu T_{Aa}), from Aquifex aeolicus (Yamashita et al., 2005). Despite a low similaritiy between the eukaryotic and prokaryotic members of the NSSf, the LeuT_{Aa} crystal structure provides the most relevant informations available for this family because few key regions are highly conserved throughout all of these symporters (Beuming et al., 2006; Zhou et al., 2007; Huang and Zhan, 2007; Rudnick, 2007). The LeuT_{Aa} consists of 12 transmembrane domains (TM#), where domains TM1 to TM5 superimpose to TM6 to TM10 by 176.5° (Fig.2.2). TM1 and TM6 are in direct contact with the binding site of leucine (the substrate) and the sodium ions (Fig.2.2).


Figure 2.2. Topology of the $LeuT_{Aa}$

If the molecular structure of LeuT_{Aa} and other Na^+/Cl^- -dependent transporters correlate, TM1 and TM6 would play a vital role in the substrate binding of DAT, SERT, and NET.

2.3.3 Glycosilation of DAT

The glycosylation is a post-translational enzymatic process that links glycans to proteins only in specifics glycosylation sites. The *N*-linked glycosylation occurs when glycans are attached to a nitrogen of asparagine or arginine side chains and it represent a crucial step for the folding of some eukaryotic proteins.

Human DAT (hDAT) is a heavily glycosylated (glycosylation accounts for ~ 30% of the molecular weight of DAT) protein *in vivo*. The large extracellular loop between TMD3 and TMD4 carries three asparagine residues at position 181, 188, and 205 which are considered three putative *N*-linked glycosylation sites (Giros et al., 1994). In order to understand whether or how glycosylation affects DAT function, several mutated transporters have been generated. In a study, Torres et al (Torres et al., 2003) describe four glycosylation mutants of human DAT: N181Q, N188Q, N205Q, and the triple mutant. The single aminoacid mutants display normal DA uptake and surface expression, indicating that single glycosylation sites are not essential for these processes. The triple mutant has a normal Km for DA uptake but suffers from a 2-fold reduction in Vmax along with a distribution more toward the cell interior as compared with wild type. Similar results were obtained by Li et al. (Li et al., 2004) since they reported that the non-glycosylated DAT does not transport DA as efficiently as wild-type DAT and prevention of *N*-glycosylation also enhances the potency of cocaine-like drugs in inhibiting DA uptake into intact cells, without changing their affinity for DAT when measured in membrane preparations prepared from these cells. Thus, non-glycosylated hDAT mutants both possess an appreciably reduced catalytic activity and an altered inhibitor sensitivity compared with wild type.

2.3.4 Phosphorylation of DAT

Phosphorylation is the addition of a phosphate (PO₄) group to a protein. The addition of a PO₄ molecule to a sries of AA residues can turn a hydrophobic portion of a protein into a polar and extremely hydrophilic portion of molecule, introducing deep conformational changes in the structure of the protein. This process is mainly regulated by two enzymes, the kinases that introduce and the phosphatases that cleave the PO₄ group and it represent a very important regulatory mechanism that occurs in both prokaryotic and eukaryotic organisms.

The elucidation of the primary amino acid sequence of DAT reveals the presence of several potential phosphorylation sites for protein kinases (Giros et al. 1991; Shimada et al. 1991; Usdin et al. 1991). The predicted intracellular domains of the human DAT contain 15 serine, 9 threonine, and 5 tyrosine residues, many of which are found in consensus sequences for protein kinase C (PKC), cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA), cGMPdependent protein kinase (PKG), and calcium calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (CaMK). Some of these sites are highly conserved throughout the neurotransmitter transporter family, including a PKC/PKG consensus sequence in intracellular loop 2 and several sites in the N- and C-terminal tails close to TMs 1 and 12 (Vaughan 2004).

Metabolic phosphorylation of DAT with ${}^{32}PO_4$ has been demonstrated in the human, rat, and mouse isoforms of DAT (reviewed in Vaughan 2006); moreover, it has been shown that, also in absence of exogenous treatment, both overexpressed and native DATs diplay a constituive phosphorylation and deposphorylation. Thus, DAT can be considered a phosphoprotein.

As discussed in 2.5, PMA and OA treatments stimulate DAT phosphorylation and also lead to reductions in DA transport activity (Zahniser and Doolen 2001; Vaughan 2004). For this reason, it was early hypothesized that phosphorylation could be a signal for transporter internalization (Gainetdinov et al., 2004). However, the deletion of the hDAT and rDAT *N*-terminal serine clusters, that abolishes transporter phosphorylation, does not affect PKC-induced downregulation or internalization, demonstrating that transporter downregulation can occur in the absence of stimulated phosphorylation (Granas et al. 2003; Cervinski et al. 2005). These finding clearly demonstrate that DAT phosphorylation is not an internalization signal and that induction of PKC-dependent downregulation might therefore occur via phosphorylation of endocytic components or other DAT-associated proteins.

As better illustrated in 2.2.2, to date the only process identified that requires DAT phosphorylation is substrate-induced efflux of DA (Granas et al. 2003; Khoshbouei et al. 2004).

2.4 Localization of DAT

2.4.1 Anathomical distribution of DAT

The anatomical and subcellular distribution of DAT can be detected using various techniques, such as *in situ* hybridization, [³H]WIN-35,065-2 binding and uptake of the tritiated DA ([³H]DA). Among these three techniques, the use of antibodies anti-DAT led to the most accurate analysis of its distribution.

The DAT is mainly present at the SNC level, but it has been also found in the perifery. At SNC level, DAT localizes exclusively on DA neurons, such as the neurons of the two major midbrain dopaminergic projection pathways:

- 4) the mesocorticolimbic DA neurons with cell bodies (somatodendritic regions/compartments) in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and projecting to the medial prefrontal cortex and nucleus accumbens (NAc, or ventral striatum)
- 5) the nigrostriatal DA neurons with cell bodies in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNc) and projecting to the dorsal striatum (dSTR)

DAT levels were found to vary in these different cortical area, confirming for the first time that native DAT levels differ across brain regions (Ciliax et al., 1999).

High-resolution electron microscopy has been used to visualize gold labeled antibodies directed against the rat DA transporter (rDAT); these studies demonstrate that rDAT is mainly located at the plasma membrane in various compartments of DA neurons. In the cell body, DAT is found at the plasma membrane in tubulovesicular structures. DAT was also found associated with the plasma membranes in intermediate and distal dendrites in the VTA (Hersch et al., 1997; Nirenberg et al., 1997). DAT immunoreactivity was also noted in dendritic compartments in the VTA, with the majority of immunogold signal emanating from plasma membrane inserted DAT (Nirenberg et al., 1997).



Figure 2.3. A) DAT immunostaining in the pars compacta of the substantia nigra (Hersch et al., 1997); B) High resolution imaging of a DA synapse displaying the "peri-synaptic" localization of rDAT (arrows) (Hersch et al., 1997).

B Using both and NH₂-terminal and second extracellular loop antibodies, it has been also confirmed the predicted topology of the transporter, verifying that the NH₂-terminus and the second extracellular loop were found on opposing faces of the plasma membrane (Hersch et al., 1997). Also in these studies was noted a colocalization of DAT with presynaptic DA D₂ receptor (Hersch et al., 1997). This colocalization might be interesting since, at this level, the D₂ receptors work as DA autoreceptors bearing a negative feedback regulation of the extracellular DA. In fact it is known that, once activated, the presynaptic D₂ receptors inhibit the DA synthesis and release and increase the reuptake of the intersynaptic DA.

DAT is not expressed only in the SNC; in rats it has been found in lymphocytes and in spleen, kidney and thyme cells (Mignini et al., 2006).

2.4.2 Subcellular localization of DAT

DAT is a membrane protein and, like others membrane proteins, it is synthesized in the ER Since DAT is proposed to be *N*-glycosylated in the extracellular loops (see section 2.3.1), the transporter must pass through the Golgi to acquire this post-translational modification. From the Golgi apparatus, DAT then traffics to the plasma membrane (reviewed in Zahniser and Sorkin, 2009).

Mutagenesis studies have shown that several regions of DAT are somehow involved in the veiculation of the newly-synthesized transporters (reviewed in Zahniser and Sorkin, 2009). Site-point mutagenesis of the carboxyl-terminal tail or truncation of this region results in inefficient plasma membrane expression of DAT (Torres et al., 2001; Bjerggaard et al., 2004). In addition, an almost complete retention of the transporter in the ER also results from a single mutation of the conserved Gly585 to alanine (Miranda et al., 2004). This dysregulation is probably due to deep changes in the intramolecular interactions necessary for the proper folding of DAT.

Anyway, the exact mechanisms that control movement of newlysynthesized DAT from Golgi to specific cell surface locations within the axons and distal dendrites are not known (reviewed Zahniser and Sorkin, 2009).

It is possible that DAT is inserted into the plasma membrane in the soma and then moves laterally along the plane of the membrane to its functional sites where it is retained by specific interactions with the resident proteins.

Alternatively, DAT could be moved from the soma to distal locations by anterograde vesicles in microtubule-dependent manner and then be inserted into the plasma membrane locally at the axonal varicosities and distal dendrites. It has been demonstrated that a dimerization/oligomerization of DAT takes place in the ER (Sorkina et al., 2003). This oligomerization has been proposed to be necessary for the correct anterograde transport of DAT (Sorkina et al., 2003; Torres et al., 2003).

2.5 DAT regulation

Neurotransmitter transporter often interprer the primary mechanism by wich neurons terminate the signal transmission. For this reason, fine and functional regulation pathways are capital step for modulating the neurotransmission.

DAT, like other neurotransmitter transporters, is subjected to constitutive and regulated endocytosis. Following the endocytotic process, the internalized DAT can be recycled back to the plasma membrane. This dynamic regulation of the transporters expression on cell surface is known as trafficking.

Trafficking of DAT is regulated by several different effectors:

- PKC

- inhibition of phosphatases
- mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase (MKP3)
- endogenous and exogenous ligands
- other proteins interacting with DAT

It is well estabilished and described that rapid loss of the surface DAT occurs within minutes after the activation of the PKC by phorbol esters,

such as PMA. This issue was first reported in *xenopus* oocytes and in Sf9 insect cells expressing the cloned hDAT Zhu et al., 1997; Pristupa et al., 1998). In addition, [³H]DA uptake experiments on dissociated embryonic mesencephalic neurons also showed that, following pretreatment with PMA the V_{max} of DA transport is strongly inhbited.

The PKC family comprises different classes of isoforms:

- classic isoforms, Ca²⁺- and diacylglycerol (DAG)-dependent (α , β_1 , β_2 , γ);
- non-classic isoforms, Ca^{2+}-indipendent, but DAG-dependent ($\delta,\,\epsilon,\,\theta,$ $\eta);$
- atypic isoforms Ca^{2+} and DAG-indipendent (λ , ζ).

Among all PKC isoforms, both β subtypes mainly appear to be responsible for regulation of DAT trafficking (reviewed in Vaughan 2006). However, the exact molecular mechanisms by wich PKC down-regulates DAT remains unclear.

As previously described (see section 2.3.4), deletion of DAT phosphorylation sites doesn't affect the PKC-induced clathrin-dynamin mediated internalization of the transporter, indicating that others mechanisms are likely to be involved.

Even if it is known that a pool of plasma membrane DAT is also associated with cholesterol-rich rafts, regulating its transport activity (Foster et al., 2008), cholesterol-disrupting drugs do not affect PKCdependent DAT endocytosis, suggesting that DAT internalization is not mediated by lipid rafts (Sorkina et al., 2005).

Recent mutagenesis studies suggest that the ubiquitination of DAT could be strictly connected to the observed PKC-stimulated endocytosis. In fact, specific site mutation of three lysine clustered in the DAT

aminoterminus, Lys19, Lys27, and Lys35 result in diminished internalization of DAT in response to PKC activation (Miranda et al., 2007). Screenings for identifying the proteins involved in PKC-dependent DAT trafficking toward the cytoplasm were made using siRNA techniques. These studies identified the NEDD4-2, a protein containing an E3 ubiquitin ligase domain, as an essential component of PKC-dependent DAT endocytosis (Sorkina et al., 2006). siRNA-induced knock-down of NEDD4-2 also results in inhibition of DAT ubiquitination, thus implicating NEDD4-2 as an E3 ligase for DAT (Sorkina et al., 2006). These data, together with DAT mutagenesis, indicate that ubiquitination of the DAT amino-terminus is crucial for PKC-dependent DAT endocytosis and that the NEDD4-2 itself may be one of the major PKC molecular effectors.



Figure 2.4. PKC dependent mechanism related to DAT internalization is the ubiquitination of the transporter. Ubiquitinated DAT is recruited into clathrin-coated pits (CCP) and then internalized via clathrin coated vesicles (CCV) to early recycling endosomes (EE/RE) wich prepare the DAT for being recycled back to the surface (adapted from Zhaniser and Sorkin, 2009).

The role of phosphatases in regulation of DAT phosphorylation levels has been established using the okadaic acid (OA) a broad-spectrum protein phosphatase inhibitor. Treatment of rat striatal tissue or heterologously expressing cells with OA produces robust increases in the DAT phosphorylation and it also decreases DAT cell surface expression and activity within 5–10min (Huff et al. 1997; Vaughan et al. 1997; Cowell et al. 2000; Granas et al. 2003; Lin et al. 2003; Cervinski et al. 2005). The phosphorylation increase, observed in absence of exogenous kinase activators, reflects the rate of basal phosphorylation indicating that, in resting neurons, significant tonic phosphatase activity maintains DAT in a state of relative dephosphorylation. This robust dephosphorylation pressure may lead to the identification of endogenous signals regulating DA uptake activity.

A recent genetic complementation screening, performed in *Xenopus* oocytes, identified a mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase phosphatase, MKP3, as a molecule that inhibits PKC internalization of DAT (Mortensen et al., 2008). In this study, transient expression of MPK3 in MDCK cells stably expressing DAT inhibited PKC-stimulated endocytosis of DAT and enhanced DAT activity. MPK3 does not interfere with PKC-induced ubiquitylation of DAT; the molecular mechanism underlying the MPK3 effects acts at a more downstream step, to stabilize DAT on cell surface by blocking dynamin-dependent internalization and slowing the DAT degradation processes (Mortensen et al., 2008).

Exogenous and endogenous substrates also strongly modulate DAT functions. Ethanol, arachidonic acid and nitric oxide has been shown to interfere with DAT activity (Cass et al., 1991; L'hirondel et al., 1995; Mayfield et al., 2001b; Kiss et al., 1999).

Ethanol potentiates DA uptake in Xenopus oocytes, SK-N-SH and HEK-293 cells (Riherd et al., 2008). Since ethanol's action on DAT function and regulation is consistent across both neuronal and non-neuronal models, a direct action of ethanol on transporter trafficking in mammalian systems has been proposed (Riherd et al., 2008). In C6 rat glioma cells, arachidonic acid induces a double effect; while a brief incubation leads to an increase of the DA uptake, a longer exposition completely abolishes the DAT activity (Zhang and Reith, 1996). In the same cell line, NO reduces the number of the DAT on the plasma membrane, but, simultaneously, it increases the SERT activity (Miller and Hoffman, 1994). This finding suggests that NO may regulate these two neuronal transporters with different molecular mechanisms.

Protein-protein interactions were also shown to regulate DAT trafficking. In cells, once internalized within vescicles, DAT can alternatively be degraded by lysosomes or anchors to the microtubular net before recycle back to the plasma membrane. A neuronal protein called α synuclein $(\alpha$ -Syn) is able to directly interact with recycled DAT and anchors it to the microtubules surface (reviewed in Sidhu et al., 2004). α -Syn is a small neuronal protein (140AA) implicated in many cellular processes; at presynaptic sites α -Syn is implicated in synaptic vesicle formation, axonal transport, and DA synthesis and metabolism. In a normal situation, α -Syn exists as a soluble or lipid-bound structure. From coimmunoprecipitation studies, α -Syn was found to interact directly with the DAT, forming a protein-protein heteromeric complex in transfected cells, primary cultures of mesencephalic neurons and rat SNC (Wersinger and Sidhu, 2003; Wersinger et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2001). These interactions occurs between the non-amyloid component domain (residues 58–107) of α -Syn and the last 22 amino acids of the carboxy-terminal tail of DAT

(Wersinger et al., 2003). α -Syn attenuates DAT function, trafficks DAT away from the plasma membrane and, participating in the formation of a protein-protein complex with DAT, anchors the monoamine transporter to microtubules membrane. Thus a probable α -Syn function is the maintenance of DA homeostasis through a modulation of DAT activity, by regulating its level at the cell surface (Wersinger and Sidhu, 2005).

To better understand the role of the α -Syn in the regulation of the DAT trafficking, the microtubular network has been destabilized treating the cells with colchicine, vinblastine, or nocodazole (Wersinger and Sidhu, 2005). Destabilization of the microtubular network disrupts the ability of α -Syn to modulate DAT function, resulting in an increased level of trafficking to the plasma membrane, which is accompanied by an increased rate of DA uptake, DA-induced oxidative stress, and accelerated cell death. Since DAT is the only means by which dopaminergic neurons can reuptake synaptically released DA (Gainetdinov and Caron, 2003). The increased presence of DAT at the plasma membrane clearly results in an increased rate of re-uptake, causing excessive accumulation of high intracellular levels of ROS and reactive nitrogen species; this latter effect contributes to cytotoxic events which culminate in neuronal death (Wersinger and Sidhu, 2005) and it can partially explain why mutations of α -Syn (se section 2.7) have been implicated in the genesis of Parkinson's disease (PD).

2.6 DAT pharmacology

2.6.1 Dopamine reuptake inhibitor

A dopamine reuptake inhibitor is a drug which is able to negatively affect the reuptake of DA by blocking DAT's action. In turn, this inhibition leads to increase extracellular concentrations of DA and therefore to potentiate the dopaminergic neurotransmission.

Inhibitors of DAT may be used in the clinical treatment of several pathologies, such as attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (Solanto, 1998), narcolepsy (Fry, 1998), major depressive disorder (if resistant to typical treatments) (Nutt, 2008) and PD (see section 2.7). In addition, DAT inhibitors may be employed as anorectics for treating severe obesity (reviewed in Wang et al., 2002), they are studied as anticraving agents against drug addiction (reviewed in Haile et al., 2009) and they are often used as tool to indagine the site of action of cocaine, amphetamine and MDMA on DAT (Meiergerd and Schenk, 1994; reviewed in Carroll et al., 1992).

Among the DAT inhibitors, nomifensine, mazindole, GBR 12909, metilphenidate, benztropine and Win 35,065-2 have been shown to inhibit the DA reuptake at very low concentration (Table 2.1).

Ligand	Chemical structure	$K_{i}\left(nM ight)$	DAT source	References
GBR-12909		30 ± 2.3	Striatal rat synaptosom es	Zhu et al., 2009
Mazindole		12 ± 2	CHO cells transfected with wild type hDAT	Uakiro et al., 2007
Nomifensine	NH ₂ CH ₃	Not measurable*	_	-
Benztropine	H ₃ C N	85 ± 9	CHO cells transfected with wild type hDAT	Uakiro et al., 2007
Cocaine	$CH_3 O C O CH_3$	197 ± 22	CHO cells transfected with wild type hDAT	Uakiro et al., 2007
MDMA		>10000	CHO cells transfected with wild type hDAT	Fantegrossi et al., 2009

Table 2.1. Pharmacology data of DAT receptor ligands; K_i were obtained by competitive binding experiments using [³H]Win-35,428 as tritiated probe

АМРН	NH ₂	478 ± 52	CHO cells transfected with wild type hDAT	Uakiro et al., 2007
Win-35,428	H ₃ C N CO ₂ CH ₃	2.81 ± 0.14	Sinaptosomi striatali di ratto	Zhu et al., 2009
Metilphenidate	N H CO ₂ CH ₃	72 ± 5	CHO cells transfected with wild type hDAT	Uakiro et al., 2007

* This value is impossible to evaluate with saturdards binding techniques, because nomifensine binds to the DAT on a different site than the ligand [³H]Win-35 (Meiergerd and Schenk, 1994).

2.6.2 DAT and psychostimulants

Addiction to psychostimulants drugs is a significant medical, social and economic problem facing society. Traditionally, addiction to these drugs was treated as a psychological disorder; however, after the elucidation of the dangerous physiological effects of these drugs, their abuse has been classified as a physiological disorder. Therefore, today drug addiction is defined as a brain disorder characterized by compulsive drugseeking behavior and uncontrollable drug intake (Koob, 2000). Although progress has been made in developing new psychosocial treatments for psychostimulants dependence, currently no medications approved for the treatment of cocaine dependence are available.

It has been shown that psychostimulant drugs interact with regions of the brain where dopaminergic terminals are abundant, specifically the mesolimbic dopaminergic system (Kreek, 2001). The two most widely abused psychostimulant drugs are cocaine and amphetamines (AMPHs).

Cocaine is the most powerful stimulant of natural origin (Fisher et al., 1987). It is extracted from the leaves of *Erythroxylon Coca* (Kreek et al.,

2005). It is still used by South Americans to relieve fatigue (Schultes, 1987). Pure cocaine (as hydrochloride) was used as a local anesthetic for surgeries in the 1880s and the main stimulant drug used in tonics and elixirs for various illnesses in the early 1900s (Koller-Becker, 1962). To date cocaine doesn't have any approved therapeutical indication, but it is widespread abused all around the planet as recreational drug. In last decade, the number of cocaine users has dramatically increased and to date cocaine abuse represent a serious health problem in many areas of the world. Only in the US, in 2001, there were an estimated 27.8 million who had used cocaine at least once in their lifetime (Gorelick et al., 2004; ONDCP, 2003) and in 2007 the estimated number of current cocaine users was 2.1 million (NIDA, research report series. Cocaine: abuse and addiction. 2009).

Amphetamine is a synthetic drug related to the plant derivative ephedrine and it was first synthesized in in 1887 (Edeleanu, 1887). Amphetamine is the first member of a group of compounds that have similar structures and biological properties and are collectively called "amphetamines". The group also includes methamphetamine, synthesized six years later and MDMA, patented in 1914 (Berman et al., 2008). AMPHs are known to produce insomnia and euphoria, enhance focus and decrease fatigue and appetite.

During time, amphetamine and methamphetamine were used for the treatment of narcolepsy, mild depression, postencephalitic parkinsonism, chronic alcoholism, cerebral arteriosclerosis and hay fever and they were also sold as decongestionant. During World War II amphetamine and methamphetamine were extensively used to combat fatigue and increase alertness in soldiers. To date, the only approved marketing indications for these two drugs are treatment of ADHD, obesity and narcolepsy (Berman

et al., 2008), but their use is tightly controlled, mainly because of their potential for abuse that can lead to severe psychological and physiological dependence (Berman et al., 2008). On the other hand, MDMA possess a too high abuse potential and it's not accepted for medical uses (Berman et al., 2008). According to the 2005 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH), in US an estimated 10.4 million people age 12 or older (4.3 percent of the population) have been tried with AMPHs at some time of their lives and, in the same year, the estimated number of current AMPHs users was 512,000 (Research Report Series. Methamphetamine: abuse and addiction).

Both cocaine and AMPHs act increasing the extracellular DA concentrations, which is thought to mediate the rewarding and reinforcing properties of these drugs (reviewed in Torres et al., 2003); however the molecular mechanism of action of these two drugs is quite different.

Cocaine binds to the 5-HT transporter (SERT) (Woolverton ans Johnson, 1992), norepinephrine transporter (NET) (Blakely et al., 1994) and DAT (Church et al., 1987; Di Chiara & Imperato, 1988; Hurd & Ungerstedt, 1989; Maisonneuve et al., 1990; Nielsen et al., 1983; Pani et al., 1990); thus cocaine inhibits presynaptic reuptake of 5-HT, norepinephrine and DA, elevating the concentration of these three neurotransmitters in the synaptic cleft. Although cocaine affects all the three monoamine transporters, the reinforcing and stimulating effects of cocaine seem to depend primarily on its interaction with DAT (Ritz et al., 1987; Koob and Bloom, 1988; Kuhar et al., 1991).

AMPHs have three effects at the monoaminergic synapse

- 1) blockade of DA uptake;
- 2) promotion of release of DA into the synaptic cleft;
- 3) inhibition of monoamine oxidase (MAO);

Concerning the first issue, it is well described that AMPHs are able to directly inhibit the DAT uptake activity (Schmitz et al., 2001).

For what it concerns the promotion of the DA release, AMPHs induce this effect through two mechanisms. On the one hand they activate the reversal DAT activity, wich is described in section 2.2.2. On the other hand, AMPHs can increase the DA release through the depletion of DA vescicles. It has been demonstrated the existence of two classes of DA vesicles that are differentially depleted by AMPH (Anderson et al., 1998): at low concentrations, AMPH preferentially depletes the large vesicles, while at higher concentrations, AMPH depletes small vesicles more than vesicles. It is known that, in the large SNC, dopaminergic neurotransmission is regulated by DAT, but also by another membranebound transporter: the vesicular monoamine transporter-2 (VMAT2). Once the DA is transported inside the cell, VMAT2 permits DA uptake into synaptic vesicles or other intracellular organelles (Wang et al., 1997). Numerous evidences support the hypothesis that AMPH could be taken up into vesicles by VMAT2 and displace the vescicular DA (reviewed in Sora et al., 2009). However, it has also been well estabilished that AMPHs compete with reserpine binding to VMAT2 (Peter et al., 1994); since reserpine acts by blocking the vesicular monoamine transporter VMAT2, it is still not straightforward to prove that AMPHs are actually VMAT2 transported substrates (reviewed in Sora et al., 2009).

As third and last point, it has been proved that AMPH inhibits the oxidation of aliphatic amines *ex vivo*, in tissues obtained from several sources including heart, liver and brain (Blaschko et al., 1940; Mann et al., 1937); specifically, AMPH acts as a competitive inhibitor for type A MAO (Mantle et al., 1976; Miller and Hoffman., 1980). In conclusion, the role of

MAO inhibition in the expression of the pharmacological effects of AMPH does not seem as robust as the effect of AMPH on amine transporters.

2.7 Molecular pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a chronic, progressive, neurodegenerative disorder clinically characterized by motor symptoms such as tremor at rest, rigidity, slowness of movement (bradykinesia) and postural instability (Jankovic, 2008).

In 1817 James Parkinson first described the motor symptoms of the clinical syndrome (called "shaking palsy" by the author) that was later to bear his name (Parkinson, reprinted 2002). More than 100 years passed (1919) after the original description by Parkinson before it was recognised that patients with PD progressively lose dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc). These neurons reside in the midbrain and project axons to the forebrain where they release DA into the striatum. Striatal DA release is critical for the coordination and initiation of movement. The loss of this DA input is primarily responsible for the manifestation of motor symptoms in PD. Another pathological hallmark of PD is the presence of intracytoplasmic abnormal aggregates of protein in dopaminergic neurons, called Lewy bodies (LB); first described in 1912 by Friedrich Lewy following post-mortem analysis of brains, LB are found primarily in the SNpc and another midbrain nucleus, the locus coeruleus (LC) in PD patients and are still considered one of the standard criterion for PD diagnosis (Gibb and Lees, 1988). In 1960 it was discovered that DA concentrations are markedly decreased in the striatum of patients with PD;

this finding soon led to the first trials of levodopa in PD patients (Birkmayer and Hornykiewicz, 1961).

To date, increased oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, genetic mutations, abnormal handling of misfolded proteins by the ubiquitin– proteasome and the autophagy–lysosomal systems, inflammation and other pathogenic mechanisms have been identified as contributing factors in the death of dopaminergic and non-dopaminergic cells in the brains of patients with PD. Some of them are briefly described in following sections.

2.7.1 Dopamine metabolism and oxidative stress

DA is synthesized in the cytoplasm from the amino acid tyrosine. Tyrosine is converted to L-DOPA by the cytoplasmic enzyme tyrosine hydroxylase (TH); this step represents the rate-limiting step of catecholamine synthesis (Fig.2.5) (Kumer and Vrana, 1996). L-DOPA is decarboxylated to DA by L-amino-acid decarboxylase (AADC) (Fig.2.5) (Kumer and Vrana, 1996). Newly synthesized DA is taken up into synaptic vesicles by the vesicular VMAT2 in a ATP-dependent process. Norepinephrine and epinephrine are subsequently synthesized from DA; thus biogen amines share the same biosynthesis pathway and primary pecursor. The multiple and complex mechanisms regulating TH activity and its expression are not the subjects of this PhD dissertation; however it worth remarking that TH activity is regulated through feedback inhibition by catecholamines (Zigmond et al., 1989) and that the activation of the DA D₂ autoreceptor further inhibits DA synthesis.

Vesicular DA is released into the synapse from the neuronal terminal by exocytosis following stimulation and recycled back into the terminal by DAT. Once reuptaken from the synaptic cleft, DA can either be stored into synaptic vesicles to be reused, or metabolized by mitochondrial MAO_B (Fig.2.5) (Berry et al., 1994) to form hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and 3,4dihydroxyphenylaldehyde, which is rapidly oxidized by aldehyde dehydrogenase to 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC). Approximately 40% of DOPAC is eliminated without further metabolism and 60% is converted to homovanillic acid (HVA) by catechol-Omethyltransferase (COMT) (Fig.2.5) (reviewed in Eisenhofer et al., 2004)



Figure 2.5. Metabolism of DA.

Cytosolic DA has the propensity to generate cytotoxic reactive oxygen species (ROS) and neurotoxic quinones (DAQs), spontaneously or by enzymatic metabolism (Graham, 1978; Hastings et al., 1996; Montine et al., 1997).

Oxidation of DA generates superoxide (O_2^-) and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) , which can form an hydroxyl radical (OH^-) in the iron-catalyzed Fenton reaction (Halliwell and Gutteridge, 1984). If these ROS are not inactivated by natural antioxidants (glutathione peroxidases, superoxide dismutases, catalase, reduced glutathione (GSH), ubiquinol, uric acid, essential minerals and vitamines), their high chemical reactivity can damage all types of cellular macromolecules susceptible to oxidation (German, 1999). Interestingly, GSH levels within dopaminergic neurons are depleted in PD patients, suggesting that, in these cells, the ability to manage ROS is compromised or overwhelmed by an abnormal ROS production (Jenner, 2003).

Inside cells, several enzymes can catalyze DAQs synthesis. These species react with cysteinyl residues of proteins to form 5-cysteyl-catechols adducts (LaVoie and Hastings., 1999). Since sulfhydryl groups of cysteine are often located in the active site of proteins, the normal cellular functions of the affected proteins can be inhibited by the covalent interaction with DAQs, with toxic consequences (LaVoie and Hastings., 1999).

In addition, also the DA metabolite DOPAC reacts with cystein residues of proteins to form covalent adducts (Fornstedt et al., 1986).

As reported, DA is likely to be considered a neurotoxic molecule. In normal conditions, VMAT2 sequesters about 90% of the catecholamines, leaving only a 10% to escape and being metabolized (reviewed in Eisenhofer et al., 2004). This rapid sequestration activity is thought to protect the cells from an excessive intracellular accumulation of DA and subsequent degradation to neurotoxic species. When a dysfunction causes the level of intracellular DA to abnormally increase, vescicles can't sequester the DA which is metabolized by MAO (A and B) and COMT with consequent overproduction of oxygen reactive species and toxic catabolites (Hastings, 1995, Hastings et al., 1996). Stress induced by these molecules leads cells to death.

Thus, DA concentrations in the cytoplasms appear to be strictly connect to DA neurotoxicity and, even if it is well estabilished that PD is a multifactorial disease, an increasing number of evidences suggests that DA metabolites-induced oxidative stress is a common mechanism by wich dysfunctions in synthesis, storage, release, reuptake and metabolism of DA lead to the dopaminergic neurons degeneration observed in PD (Jenner, 2003).

2.7.2 Genetic factors contributing to Parkinson's disease

It is known that a variety of genetic and environmental factors contribute to the degeneration of nigral DA neurons observed in PD. For what it concerns the genetic component, so far mutations of five genes have been linked clearly to familial forms of PD: leucin-rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2), serine/threonine-protein kinase (PINK1), DJ-1 (PARK7), α -synuclein (α -Syn) and parkin (PARK2).

LRRK2, or dardarin, is a protein member of the leucine-rich repeat kinase family. The cellular and molecular mechanisms of LRRK2 toxicity remain unclear, but it has been described that mutations in LRRK2 gene are associated with an autosomal-dominant Parkinsonism, with clinical and molecular features of PD, including deposits of aggregated protein (Smith et al., 2005), known as Parkinson's disease type 8.

PINK1 is a mitochondrial enzyme wich is thought to protect cells from stress-induced mitochondrial dysfunction. In fact, *in vitro* overexpression of wild type PINK1 reduces the basal neuronal pro-apoptotic activity preventing mitochondrial cytochrome c release and this function is abrogated in familial PD-linked PINK1 mutants (Petit et al., 2005).

DJ-1 is an highly conserved 189 amino acid protein wich is ubiquitously and widely expressed in most mammalian tissues, including brain and belongs to the DJ-1/ThiJ/PfpI superfamily. Deletion and point (L166P) mutations of DJ-1 have DJ-1 locus have been associated with a rare form of autosomal recessive early-onset parkinsonism, known as type 7 (Bonifati et al., 2003; Taira et al., 2004). DJ-1 eliminates hydrogen peroxide in vitro by oxidizing itself exhibiting intrinsic ROS scavenger properties and its expression is induced by oxidative stress (Taira et al., 2004). The protective role of DJ-1 is confirmed by the finding that mutations of DJ-1 lead to cell death *in vitro* (Taira et al., 2004).

 α -Syn is a protein underlying multiple cellular functions being involved in modulation of DAT recycling (see section 2.5) and regulation of neuronal Golgi apparatus and vesicle trafficking (Cooper et al., 2006) and it is also able to interact with microtubules (Alim et al., 2004) and membrane lipids (Uversky, 2007). Three missense mutations in α -Syn gene (A53T, A30P and E46K) (Kruger et al., 1998; Polymeropoulos et al., 1997; Zarranz et al., 2004) as well as α -Syn gene locus triplication (Singleton et al., 2003) are associated with autosomal dominant PD. The involvement of α -Syn in PD pathogenesis is further confirmed by the finding that fibrillar aggregations of α -Syn are the major structural component of Lewy bodies (Spillantini et al., 1998).

Mutated α -Syn and abnormal α -Syn expression alter multiple molecular functions of the cell to produce the neurotoxic effects. Both A30P and A53T mutants increase vulnerability of cells towards various toxic insults and enhance DAT-mediated DA toxicity (Lehmensiek et al., 2006). Mice expressing human A53T α -Syn develop mitochondrial pathologies and dysfunctions (Stichel et al., 2007). In addition, overexpression of α -Syn leads to accumulation of the protein wich cause a cytotoxic dysregulation of the vesicular trafficking from endoplasmic reticulum to Golgi apparatus (Cooper et al., 2006).

Due to the crucial roles of α -Syn in PD pathogenesis, to date the term "synucleinopathy" is often use in licterature as PD synonimous (Mosharov et al., 2009).

Parkin is s a component of a multiprotein E3 ubiquitin ligase complex which in turn is part of the ubiquitin-proteasome system that mediates the targeting of substrate proteins for proteasomal degradation (Shimura et al., 2000). Mutation of Parkin gene sequence have been identified in patients with a familial form of PD, known as autosomal recessive juvenile Parkinson disease (Polymeropoulos et al.,1997; Shimura et al., 2000).

A first obvious predicted mechanism for recessive Parkin mutations in PD is the accumulation of toxic proteins that would normally be degraded by Parkin. Although many substrates of E3 ubiquitin ligase have been identified (CDCrel-1, synphilin 1, α -Sp22, and α -Syn), none of them were found to accumulate in the brains of Parkin-deficient mice (Goldberg et al., 2003; Palacino et al., 2004). However, it is possible that another unidentified Parkin substrate can accumulate to toxic levels upon Parkin inactivation.

It is known that Parkin impairs the α -Syn/DAT coupling by interacting with the carboxyl-terminus of the DAT and blocks the α -Syn modulation of DAT trafficking (Moszczynska et al., 2007). In certain conditions, i.e. overexpression, α -Syn can even enhance both DAT cell surface expression and DAT-mediated DA uptake leading to an increase of the DA induced oxidative toxicity. This effect is counteracted by wild type Parkin that acts as a neuroprotective molecular mechanism, but it is still unclear if Parkin mediates these effects by blocking the DAT internalization or the DAT (Moszczynska et al., 2007). In exocytosis pathways addition, overexpression of Parkin alone also directly protects human DA neuroblastoma cell lines SH-SY5Y and SK-N-SH from apoptosis induced by DA or 6-OHDA and also decreases the level of ROS and protein carbonyls in the cell. (Moszczynska et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 2004). Consistent with this, PD-linked mutations of Parkin significantly abrogated the observed protective effect of wild-type Parkin, as well as its ability to suppress ROS and protein carbonylation (Jiang et al., 2004). For these reasons, to date, Parkin is considered a neuroprotective protein that is crucial for neuronal survival (Feany and Pallanck, 2003).

Klin

References

Alim MA, Ma QL, Takeda K, Aizawa T, Matsubara M, Nakamura M, Asada A, Saito T, Kaji H, Yoshii M, Hisanaga S, Uéda K. Demonstration of a role for alphasynuclein as a functional microtubuleassociated protein. *J. Alzheimers Dis.* 6 (4): 435–42; discussion 443–9. 2004.

Amara SG, Kuhar MJ.. Neurotransmitter transporters: recent progress. *Annu.Rev. Neurosci.* 16:73–93. 1993.

Anderson B.B., Chen G., Gutman D.A. and Ewing A.G. Dopamine levels of two classes of vesicles are differentially depleted by amphetamine, *Brain Res.* 788: 294–301. 1998.

Berman S, O'Neill J, Fears S, Bartzokis G, London ED. Abuse of amphetamines and structural abnormalities in the brain. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.*;1141:195-220. 2008.

Berry M. D., Juorio A. V. and Paterson I. A. The functional role of monoamine oxidases A and B in the mammalian central nervous system, *Prog. Neurob*iol. 42. 375–391. 1994.

Beuming T, Shi L, Javitch JA, and Weinstein H. A comprehensive structurebased alignment of prokaryotic and eukaryotic neurotransmitter/Na symporters (NSS). Aids in the use of the LeuT structure to probe NSS structure and function. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 70, 1630-1642. 2006.

Birkmayer W, Hornykiewicz O. The L-3,4-dioxyphenylalanine (DOPA)-effect in Parkinson-akinesia.WienWochenschr;73:787–8.1961.

Bjerggaard C., Fog J.U., Hastrup H., Madsen K., Loland C.J. and Javitch J.A. Surface targeting of the dopamine transporter involves discrete epitopes in the distal C terminus but does not require canonical PDZ domain interactions, *J Neurosci* 24:7024–7036. 2004.

Blakely RD, De Felice LJ, Hartzell HC. Molecular physiology of norepinephrine and serotonin transporters. *J. Exp. Biol.* 196:263–81. 1994.

Blakely RD and DeFelice LJ. All Aglow abut Presynaptic Receptor Regulation of Neurotransmitter Transporters. *Mol. Pharmacol.*, 71, 1206-1208. 2007.

Blaschko, H., Richter, D., Schlossmann,H.. The oxidation of adrenaline and other amines. *Biochem.* J. 31:2 1 87-96. 1940.

Bonifati, V., Rizzu, P., van Baren, M. J., Schaap, O., Breedveld, G. J., Krieger, E., Dekker, M. C., Squitieri, F., Ibanez, P., Joosse, M., van Dongen, J. W., Vanacore, N., van Swieten, J. C., Brice, A., Meco, G., van Duijn, C. M., Oostra, B. A., and Heutink, P. Mutations in the DJ-1 gene associated with autosomal recessive earlyonset parkinsonism. *Science* 299, 256-9. 2003.

Carlsson A, Lindqvist M, Magnusson T. 3,4-Dihydroxyphenylalanine and 5-hydroxytryptophan as reserpine antagonists. *Nature* 180:1200. 1957.

Carlsson A, Waldeck B. A fluorimetric method for the determination of dopamine (3-hydroxytyramine). *Acta Physiol Scand* 44:293-298. 1958.

Carroll FI, Lewin AH, Boja JW, Kuhar MJ. Cocaine receptor: biochemical characterization and structure-activity relationships of cocaine analogues at the dopamine transporter. *J Med Chem.* 35 (6):969-81. Review. 1992.

Carvelli L, McDonald PW, Blakely RD, and DeFelice LJ. Dopamine Transporters Depolarize Neurons by a Channel Mechanism. *PNAS* 101, 16046-16051. 2004.

Cass WA, Larson G, Fitzpatrick FA, Zahniser NR. Inhibitors of arachidonic acid metabolism: effects on rat striatal dopamine release and uptake. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 257(3):990-6. 1991.

Cervinski MA, Foster JD, Vaughan RA. Endogenous and psychoactive substrates stimulate dopamine transporter phosphorylation by a transport and protein kinase C dependent mechanism. *J Biol Chem* 280:40442–40449. 2005.

Chen N and Reith ME. Na⁺ and the substrate permeation pathway in dopamine transporters. *Eur J Pharmacol* 479:213-21. 2003.

Church, W. H., Justice, J. B., Jr. and Byrd, L. D. Extracellular dopamine in rat striatum following uptake inhibition by cocaine, nomifensine and benztropine. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 139, 345-348. 1987.

Ciliax BJ, Drash GW, Staley JK, Haber S, Mobley CJ, Miller GW, Mufson EJ, Mash DC, Levey AI. Immunocytochemical localization of the dopamine transporter in human brain. *J Comp Neurol* 409:38-56. 1999.

Cooper A. A., Gitler A. D., Cashikar A., Haynes C. M., Hill K. J., Bhullar B., Liu K., Xu K., Strathearn K. E., Liu F., Cao S., Caldwell K. A., Caldwell G. A., Marsischky G., Kolodner R. D., Labaer J., Rochet J. C., Bonini N. M. and Lindquist S. Alpha-synuclein blocks ERgolgi traffic and Rab1 rescues neuron loss in Parkinson's models. *Science* 313 (5785): 324–328. 2006.

Cowell RM, Kantor L, Hewlett GH, Frey KA, Gnegy ME. Dopamine transporter antagonists block phorbol ester-induced dopamine release and dopamine transporter phosphorylation in striatal synaptosomes. *Eur J Pharmacol* 389:59-65, 2000.

Di Chiara, G. and Imperato, A. Drugs abused by humans preferentially increase synaptic dopamine concentrations in the mesolimbic system of freely moving rats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 85, 5274-5278. 1988.

EdeleanuL.UbereinigeDerivatederPhenylmethacrylsaureundderPhenylisobuttersaure.BerDeutschChemGes.Vol 20:616.1887.

Eisenhofer G, Kopin IJ, Goldstein DS. Catecholamine metabolism: a contemporary view with implications for physiology and medicine, *Pharmacol. Rev.* 56:331–349. 2004.

Fantegrossi WE, Bauzo RM, ManvichDM, Morales JC, Votaw JR, GoodmanMM, Howell LL. Role of dopaminetransporters in the behavioral effects of 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA)innonhumanprimates.

Psychopharmacology (*Berl*);205(2):337-47. 2009.

Feany, M. B. and Pallanck, L. J. Parkin: a multipurpose neuroprotective agent? *Neuron* 38, 13-6. 2003.

Fisher, S., Raskin, A., and Uhlenhuth, E.H. Cocaine: Clinical and Biobehavioral Aspects. *Oxford University Press, Oxford.* 1987.

Fornstedt B, Rosengren E, Carlsson A. Occurrence and distribution of 5-S-cysteinyl derivatives of dopamine, dopa and dopac in the brains of eight mammalian species, *Neuropharmacology* 25:451–454. 1986.

Foster JD, Cervinski MA, Gorentla BK, Vaughan RA. Regulation of the dopamine transporter by phosphorylation. *Handb Exp Pharmacol.* (175):197-214. Review. 2006.

Foster J.D., Adkins S.D., Lever J.R. and Vaughan R.A. Phorbol ester induced trafficking-independent regulation and enhanced phosphorylation of the dopamine transporter associated with membrane rafts and cholesterol, *J Neurochem* 105:1683– 1699. 2008.

Fry JM. Treatment modalities for narcolepsy". *Neurology* 50 (2 Suppl 1): S43–8. 1998.

Gainetdinov, R. R., and Caron, M. G. Monoamine transporters: From genes to behavior, *Annu. ReV. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 43, 261-284. 2003.

Gainetdinov RR, Premont RT, Bohn LM, Lefkowitz RJ, Caron MG. Desensitization of G protein-coupled receptors and neuronal functions. Annu Rev Neurosci 27:107–144. 2004.

German B: Free radical and antioxidant protocols. *Am J Clin Nutr* 69: 1295, 1999.

Gibb WR, Lees AJ. The relevance of the Lewy body to the pathogenesis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*;51:745–52. 1988.

Giros B, el Mestikawy S, Bertrand L, Caron MG. Cloning and functional characterization of a cocaine-sensitive dopamine transporter. *FEBS Lett.* 16;295(1-3):149-54. 1991.

Giros B, Caron MG. Molecular characterization of the dopamine transporter. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 14:43–49. 1993.

Giros B, Wang YM, Suter S, McLeskey SB, Pifl C and Caron MG. Delineation of discrete domains for substrate, cocaine, and tricyclic antidepressant interactions. using chimeric dopamine-norepinephrine transporters. *J Biol Chem* 269: 15985-8. 2004.

Goldberg, M. S., Fleming, S. M., Palacino, J. J., Cepeda, C., Lam, H. A., Bhatnagar, A. Parkin-deficient mice exhibit nigrostriatal deficits but not loss of dopaminergic neurons. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 278, 43628–43635. 2003.

Gorelick, D. A., Gardner, E. L. and Zheng-Xiong, X. Agents in Development for the Management of Cocaine Abuse. *Drugs*, 64, 1547-1573. 2004.

Graham D.G., Oxidative pathways for catecholamines in the genesis of neuromelanin and cytotoxic quinones, *Mol. Pharmacol.* 14:633–643.; 1978.

Granas C, Ferrer J, Loland CJ, Javitch JA, Gether U. N-terminal truncation of the dopamine transporter abolishes phorbol ester- and substance P receptor-stimulated phosphorylation without impairing transporter internalization. *J Biol Chem* 278:4990–5000. 2003.

Gu, H., Wall, S., Rudnick, G. Stable expression of biogenic amine transporters reveals differences in inhibitor sensitivity, kinetics, and ion dependence. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269, 7124–7130. 1994.

Haile CN, Kosten TR, Kosten TA. Pharmacogenetic treatments for drug addiction: cocaine, amphetamine and methamphetamine. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse*.;35(3):161-77. Review. 2009.

Halliwell B. and Gutteridge J.M. Role of iron in oxygen radical reactions, *Methods Enzymol.* 105:47–56. 1984.

Hastings TG. Enzymatic oxidation of dopamine: the role of prostaglandin H synthase. J Neurochem. Feb;64(2):919-24. 1995.

Hastings TG, Lewis DA, Zigmond MJ. Role of oxidation in the neurotoxic effects of intrastriatal dopamine injections, Proc. Natl. *Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*: 1956–1961. 1996.

Hertting G and Axelrod J. Fate of tritiated noradrenaline at the sympathetic nerveendings. *Nature* 192:172-3. 1961.

Hersch SM, Yi H, Heilman CJ, Edwards RH, Levey AI. Subcellular localization and molecular topology of the dopamine transporter in the striatum and substantia nigra. *J Comp Neurol* 388:211-227. 1997.

Huang X, and Zhan C. How dopamine transporter interacts with dopamine: Insights from molecular modeling and simulation. *Biophys. J.*, 93, 3627-3639. 2007.

Huff RA, Vaughan RA, Kuhar MJ, Uhl GR. Phorbol esters increase dopamine transporter phosphorylation and decrease

transport V_{max}. *J Neurochem* 68:225–232. 1997.

Hurd, Y. L. and Ungerstedt, U. Cocaine: an *in vivo* microdialysis evaluation of its acute action on dopamine transmission in rat striatum. *Synapse*, 3, 48-54. 1989.

Jankovic J. Parkinson's disease: clinical features and diagnosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. Apr;79(4):368-76. Review. 2008.

Jenner, P. Oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 53 (Suppl. 3), S26–S36. 2003.

Jiang H., Ren Y., Zhao J. and Feng J. Parkin protects human dopaminergic neuroblastoma cells against dopamineinduced apoptosis. *Human Molecular Genetics* Vol. 13, No. 16 1745–1754. 2004.

Kahlig KM, Binda F, Khoshbouei H, Blakely RD, McMahon DG, Javitch JA, and Galli A. Amphetamine Induces Dopamine Efflux Through a Dopamine Transporter Channel. *PNAS*, 102, 3495-3500. 2005.

Kantor L and Gnegy ME. Protein kinase C inhibitors block amphetaminemediateddopamine release in rat striatal slices. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 284:592-8. 1998.

Khoshbouei H, Wang H, Lechleiter JD, Javitch JA, Galli A. Amphetamine-induced dopamine efflux. A voltage-sensitive and intracellular Na⁺-dependent mechanism. *J Biol Chem.* 4;278(14):12070-7. 2003.

Khoshbouei H, Sen N, Guptaroy B, Johnson L, Lund D, Gnegy ME, Galli A, Javitch JA. N-terminal phosphorylation of the dopamine transporter is required for amphetamine-induced efflux. *PLoS Biol* 2:E78, 2004.

Khoshbouei H, Sen N, Guptaroy B, Johnson L, Lund D, Gnegy ME, Galli A, and Javitch JA. Biogenic Amine Neurotransmitter Transporters: Just When You Thought You Knew Them. *Physiology* 20: 225-231, 2005.

Kilty JE, Lorang D, Amara SG. Cloning and expression of a cocaine-sensitive rat dopamine transporter. *Science* 254 (5031): 578–9. 1991.

Kiss JP, Hennings, Zsilla G, Vizi ES. A possible role of nitric oxide in the regulation of dopamine transporter function in the striatum. *Neurochem Int.* 34 (4):345-50. 1999.

Koller-Becker, H. Carl Koller and cocaine. *Psychoanal. Q.*, 32, 309-373. 1962.

Koob G.F. and Bloom F.E. Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms of Drug Dependence. *Science*, 242, 715-723. 1988.

Koob G.F. Neurobiology of Addiction: Toward the Development of New Therapies. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.*, 909, 170-185. 2000.

Kreek M.J. Drug Addictions, Molecular and Cellular Endpoints. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.*, 937, 27-49. 2001.

Kreek, M. J., Bart, G., Lilly, C., Laforge, K. S. and Nielsen, D. A. Pharmacogenetics and human molecular genetics of opiate and cocaine addictions and their treatments. Pharmacol Rev, 57, 1-26. 2005.

Kruger, R., Kuhn, W., Muller, T., Woitalla, D., Graeber, M., Kosel, S., Przuntek, H., Epplen, J. T., Schols, L., and Riess, O. Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. *Nat Genet* 18, 106-8. 1998.

Kuhar M.J., Ritz M.C., and Boja J.W. The Dopamine Hypothesis of the Reinforcing Properties of Cocaine. *Trends Neurosci.*, 14, 299-302. 1991

Kumer, S. C., and Vrana, K. E. Intricate regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase activity and gene expression. *J Neurochem* 67, 443-62. 1996.

L'hirondel M, Chéramy A, Godeheu G, Glowinski J. Effects of arachidonic acid on dopamine synthesis, spontaneous release, and uptake in striatal synaptosomes from the rat. *J Neurochem.* 64 (3):1406-9. 1995.

LaVoie, M. J., and Hastings, T. G. Dopamine quinone formation and protein modification associated with the striatal neurotoxicity of methamphetamine: evidence against a role for extracellular dopamine. *J Neurosci* 19, 1484-91. 1999.

Lee F.J., Liu F., Pristupa Z.B. and Niznik H.B. Direct binding and functional coupling of α -synuclein to the dopamine transporters accelerate dopamine-induced apoptosis. *FASEB J.* 15:916–926. 2001.

Lehmensiek V, Tan EM, Liebau S, Lenk T, Zettlmeisl H, Schwarz J, Storch A. Dopamine transporter-mediated cytotoxicity of 6-hydroxydopamine in vitro depends on expression of mutant alpha-synucleins related to Parkinson's disease. *Neurochem Int.*;48(5):329-40. 2006

Li LB, Chen N, Ramamoorthy S, Chi L, Cui XN, Wang LC, Reith ME. The role of N-glycosylation in function and surface trafficking of the human dopamine transporter. *J Biol Chem.* 14;279(20):21012-20. 2004. Lin Z, Zhang PW, Zhu X, Melgari JM, Huff R, Spieldoch RL, Uhl GR. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, protein kinase C, andMEK1/2 kinase regulation of dopamine transporters (DAT) require Nterminal DAT phosphoacceptor sites. *J Biol Chem* 278:20162–20170. 2003.

Maisonneuve, I. M., Keller, R. W. and Glick, S. D. Similar effects of D-amphetamine and cocaine on extracellular dopamine levels in medial prefrontal cortex of rats. *Brain Res*, 535, 221-226. 1990.

Mann, P. J. G., Quastel, J. H.. Benzedrine (β-phenylisopropylamine) and brain metabolism. *Biochem. J.* 34:414-31. 1937.

Mantle, T.J., Tipton , K.F., Garrett, N.. Inhibition of monoamine oxidase by amphetamine and related compounds. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 25:2073-77. 1976.

MayfieldRD,MaiyaR,KellerD,ZahniserNR.Ethanolpotentiatesthefunction of the human dopamine transporterexpressedinXenopusoocytes.JNeurochem.79 (5):1070-9.2001

McElvain, J.S., Schenk, J.O. A multisubstrate mechanism of striatal dopamine uptake and its inhibition by cocaine. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 43, 2189– 2199. 1992.

Meiergerd SM, Schenk JO. Kinetic evaluation of the commonality between the site(s) of action of cocaine and some other structurally similar and dissimilar inhibitors of the striatal transporter for dopamine. *J Neurochem*; 63(5):1683-92. 1994.

MigniniF, TrainiE, TomassoniD,AmentaF. Dopamineplasmamembranetransporter (DAT) in rat thymus and spleen:animmunochemicaland

immunohistochemical study. *Auton Autacoid Pharmacol*. Apr;26(2):183-9. 2006.

Miller, H.H., Shore, P.A., Clarke, D.E. In vivo monoamine oxidase inhibition by damphetamine. *Biochem* . *Pharmacol*. 29:1 347-54. 1980.

Miller KJ, Hoffman BJ. Adenosine A3 receptors regulate serotonin transport via nitric oxide and cGMP. *J Biol Chem*.269 (44):27351-6. 1994.

Miranda M., Sorkina T., Grammatopoulos T.N., Zawada W.M. and Sorkin A. Multiple molecular determinants in the carboxyl terminus regulate dopamine transporter export from endoplasmic reticulum, *J Biol Chem* 279:30760–30770. 2004.

Miranda M., Dionne K.R., Sorkina T. and Sorkin A. Three ubiquitin conjugation sites in the amino terminus of the dopamine transporter mediate protein kinase Cdependent endocytosis of the transporter, Mol Biol Cell 18:313–323. 2007.

Montine TJ, Picklo MJ, Amarnath V, Whetsell WO Jr, Graham DG. Neurotoxicity of endogenous cysteinylcatechols, *Exp. Neurol.* 148: 26–33. 1997.

Mortensen OV, and Amara SG. Dynamic Regulation of the Dopamine Transporter. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.*, 479, 159-170. 2003.

Mortensen OV, Larsen MB, Prasad BM, Amara SG. Genetic complementation screen identifies a mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase, MKP3, as a regulator of dopamine transporter trafficking. *Mol Biol Cell.* 19(7):2818-29. 2008.

Mosharov EV, Larsen KE, Kanter E, Phillips KA, Wilson K, Schmitz Y, Krantz **DE, Kobayashi K, Edwards RH, Sulzer D**. Interplay between cytosolic dopamine, calcium, and alpha-synuclein causes selective death of substantia nigra neurons. *Neuron*. 30;62(2):218-29. 2009.

Moszczynska A., Saleh J., Zhang H., Vukusic B., Lee F. J. S. and Liu F. Parkin Disrupts the α-Synuclein/Dopamine Transporter Interaction: Consequences Toward Dopamine-induced Toxicity. *J Mol Neurosci* 32:217–227. 2007.

Nelson N. The family of Na+/Clneurotransmitter transporters. J Neurochem 71:1785-803. 1998.

Nielsen, J. A., Chapin, D. S. and Moore, K. E. Differential effects of d-amphetamine, beta-phenylethylamine, cocaine and methylphenidate on the rate of dopamine synthesis in terminals of nigrostriatal and mesolimbic neurons and on the efflux of dopamine metabolites into cerebroventricular perfusates of rats. *Life Sci*, 33, 1899-1907. 1983.

Nirenberg MJ, Chan J, Pohorille A, Vaughan RA, Uhl GR, Kuhar MJ, Pickel VM. The dopamine transporter: comparative ultrastructure of dopaminergic axons in limbic and motor compartments of the nucleus accumbens. *J Neurosci* 17:6899-6907. 1997.

Nutt DJ. Relationship of neurotransmitters to the symptoms of major depressive disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry*.;69 Suppl E1:4-7. 2008.

Palacino, J. J., Sagi, D., Goldberg, M. S., Krauss, S., Motz, C., Wacker, M. Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative damage in parkin-deficient mice. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 279, 18614–18622. 2004.

Pani, L., Kuzmin, A., Diana, M., De
Montis, G., Gessa, G. L. and Rossetti, Z.
L. Calcium receptor antagonists modify
cocaine effects in the central nervous system
differently. *Eur J Pharmacol*, 190, 217-221.
1990.

Parkinson J. An essay on the shaking palsy. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci*;14:223–36. Reprinted in 2002.

Peter D., Jimenez J., Liu Y., Kim J.and Edwards R.H. The chromaffin granule and synaptic vesicle amine transporters differ in substrate recognition and sensitivity to inhibitors, J. Biol. Chem. 269: 7231–7237. 1994.

Petit, A., Kawarai, T., Paitel, E., Sanjo, N., Maj, M., Scheid, M., Chen, F., Gu, Y., Hasegawa, H., Salehi-Rad, S., Wang, L., Rogaeva, E., Fraser, P., Robinson, B., St George-Hyslop, P., and Tandon, A. Wildtype PINK1 prevents basal and induced neuronal apoptosis, a protective effect abrogated by Parkinson disease-related mutations. *J Biol Chem* 280, 34025-32. 2005.

Polymeropoulos, M. H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S. E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., Pike, B., Root, H., Rubenstein, J., Boyer, R., Stenroos, E. S., Chandrasekharappa, S., Athanassiadou, A., Papapetropoulos, T., Johnson, W. G., Lazzarini, A. M., Duvoisin, R. C., Di Iorio, G., Golbe, L. I., and Nussbaum, R. L. Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. *Science* 276, 2045-7. 1997. **Pristupa Z.B, McConkey F., Liu F., Man H.Y., Lee F.J.** and Wang Y.T. Protein kinase-mediated bidirectional trafficking and functional regulation of the human dopamine transporter, *Synapse* 30:79–87. 1998.

Reith MEA, Xu C, Chen N-H. Pharmacology and regulation of the neuronal dopamine transporter. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 324:1–10. 1997.

Riherd DN, Galindo DG, Krause LR, Mayfield RD. Ethanol potentiates dopamine uptake and increases cell surface distribution of dopamine transporters expressed in SK-N-SH and HEK-293 cells. *Alcohol*. Sep;42(6):499-508. 2008.

Ritz M., Lamb R., Goldberg S., and Kuhar M.J. Cocaine Receptors on Dopamine Transporter Are Related to Self-Administration of Cocaine. *Science*, 237, 1219-1223. 1987.

Rudnick, G. Mechanisms of biogenic amine transport. In: Reith, M.E.A. (Ed.), Neurotransmitter Transporter: Structure, Function, and Regulation. *Humana Press, Totowa, NJ*, pp. 25– 52. 2002.

Rudnick G. What Is an antidepressant binding site doing in a bacterial transporter? *ACS Chem. Biol.* 2, 606-609. 2007.

Schmitz Y., Lee C.J., Schmauss C., Gonon F. and Sulzer D. Amphetamine distorts synaptic dopamine overflow: effects on D2 autoreceptors, transporters, and synaptic vesicle stores, *J. Neurosci.* 21:5916–5924. 2001.

Schultes, R. E. Coca and Other Psychoactive Plants: Magico-Religious Roles in Primitive Societies of the New World In: Cocaine: Clinical and Biobehavioral Aspects, pp. 212-249. Oxford University Press, Oxford. 1987.

Shimada S, Kitayama S, Lin CL, Patel A,
Nanthakumar E, Gregor P, Kuhar M, Uhl
G. Cloning and expression of a cocainesensitive dopamine transporter
complementary DNA. *Science* 254:576–578.
1991.

Shimura, H., Hattori, N., Kubo, S., Mizuno, Y., Asakawa, S., Minoshima, S., Shimizu, N., Iwai, K., Chiba, T. and Tanaka, K. Familial Parkinson disease gene product, parkin, is a ubiquitin-protein ligase. *Nat. Genet.*, 25, 302–305. 2000.

Sidhu A, Wersinger C, Vernier P. Alpha-Synuclein regulation of the dopaminergic transporter: a possible role in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *FEBS Lett.* 565 (1-3):1-5. 2004.

Singleton, A. B., Farrer, M., Johnson, J., Singleton, A., Hague, S., Kachergus, J., Hulihan, M., Peuralinna, T., Dutra, A., Nussbaum, R., Lincoln, S., Crawley, A., Hanson, M., Maraganore, D., Adler, C., Cookson, M. R., Muenter, M., Baptista, M., Miller, D., Blancato, J., Hardy, J., and Gwinn-Hardy, K. alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science* 302, 841, 2003.

Smith WW, Pei Z, Jiang H, Moore DJ, Liang Y, West AB, Dawson VL, Dawson TM, Ross CA. Leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 (LRRK2) interacts with parkin, and mutant LRRK2 induces neuronal degeneration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102 (51):18676–81. 2005.

Solanto MV. Neuropsychopharmacological mechanisms of stimulant drug action in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: a

review and integration. *Behavioural Brain Research* 94 (1): 127–52. 1998.

Sora I, Li B, Fumushima S, Fukui A, Arime Y, Kasahara Y, Tomita H, Ikeda K. Monoamine transporter as a target molecule for psychostimulants. Int Rev *Neurobiol*.:85:29-33. 2009.

Sorkina T., Doolen S., Galperin E., Zahniser N.R. and Sorkin A. Oligomerization of dopamine transporters visualized in living cells by fluorescence resonance energy transfer microscopy, *J Biol Chem* 278:28274–28283. 2003

Sorkina T., Hoover B.R., Zahniser N.R. and Sorkin A. Constitutive and protein kinase C-induced internalization of the dopamine transporter is mediated by a clathrin-dependent mechanism, *Traffic* 6:157–170. 2005

Sorkina T., Miranda M., Dionne K.R., Hoover B.R., Zahniser N.R. and Sorkin A. RNA interference screen reveals an essential role of Nedd4-2 in dopamine transporter ubiquitination and endocytosis, *J Neurosci* 26:8195–8205. 2006

Sotnikova TD, Beaulieu J, Gainetdinov RR, and Caron MG. Molecular Biology, Pharmacology and Functional Role of the Plasma Membrane Dopamine Transporter. *CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets*, 5, 45-56. 2006.

Spillantini, M. G., Crowther, R. A., Jakes, R., Hasegawa, M., and Goedert, M. Alpha-Synuclein in filamentous inclusions of Lewy bodies from Parkinson's disease and dementia with lewy bodies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95, 6469-73. 1998.

Stichel CC, Zhu XR, Bader V, Linnartz B, Schmidt S, Lübbert H. Mono- and double-mutant mouse models of Parkinson's disease display severe mitochondrial damage. *Hum Mol Genet*. Oct 15;16(20):2377-93. 2007.

Taira T, Saito Y, Niki T, Iguchi-Ariga SM, Takahashi K, Ariga H. DJ-1 has a role in antioxidative stress to prevent cell death. *EMBO Rep.* Feb;5(2):213-8. 2004.

Torres G.E., Yao W.D., Mohn A.R., Quan H., Kim K.M. and Levey A.I. Functional interaction between monoamine plasma membrane transporters and the synaptic PDZ domain-containing protein PICK1, *Neuron* 30:121–134. 2001.

Torres GE, Carneiro A, Seamans K, Fiorentini C, Sweeney A, Yao WD, Caron MG. Oligomerization and trafficking of the human dopamine transporter. Mutational analysis identifies critical domains important for the functional expression of the transporter. *J Biol Chem*, 24;278(4):2731-9. 2003.

Torres GE, Gainetdinov RR and Caron MG. Plasma membrane monoamine transporters: structure, regulation and function. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 4:13-25.Review. 2003.

Torres GE. The Dopamine Transporter *Proteome. J. Neurochem.*, 97, 3-10. 2006.

Torres GE, and Amara SG. Glutamate and Monoamine Transporters: New Visions of Form and Function. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol., 17, 304-312. 2007.

Uhl GR, Kitayama S. A cloned dopamine transporter. Potential insights into Parkinson's disease pathogenesis. *Adv. Neurol.* 60:321–24. 1993.

Ukairo OT, Bondi CD, Newman AH, Kulkarni SS, Kozikowski AP, Pan S, **Surratt CK**. Recognition of benztropine by the dopamine transporter (DAT) differs from that of the classical dopamine uptake inhibitors cocaine, methylphenidate, and mazindol as a function of a DAT transmembrane 1 aspartic acid residue. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 314 (2):575-83. 2005.

Usdin TB, Mezey E, Chen C, Brownstein MJ, Hoffman BJ. Cloning of the cocainesensitive bovine dopamine transporter. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 15;88(24):11168-71. 1991.

Uversky VN. Neuropathology, biochemistry, and biophysics of alpha-synuclein aggregation. *J. Neurochem.* 103 (1): 17–37. 2007.

Vaughan RA, Kuhar MJ. Dopamine transporter ligand binding domains. Structural and functional properties revealed by limited proteolysis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271 (35): 21672–80. 1996.

Vaughan RA, Huff RA, Uhl GR, Kuhar MJ. Protein kinase C-mediated phosphorylation and functional regulation of dopamine transporters in striatal synaptosomes. *J Biol Chem* 272:15541– 15546. 1997.

Vaughan RA. Phosphorylation and regulation of psychostimulant-sensitive neurotransmitter transporters. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 310:1–7. 2004.

Wang YM, Gainetdinov RR, Fumagalli F, Xu F, Jones SR, Bock CB, Miller GW, Wightman RM, Caron MG. Knockout of the vesicular monoamine transporter 2 gene results in neonatal death and supersensitivity to cocaine and amphetamine. *Neuron*.:19(6):1285-96. 1997. Wang GJ, Volkow ND, Fowler JS. The role of dopamine in motivation for food in humans: implications for obesity. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*. Oct;6(5):601-9. Review. 2002.

Wersinger C., Sidhu A. Attenuation of dopamine transporter activity by alphasynuclein. *Neurosci Lett.* 340 (3):189-92. 2003.

Wersinger C., Prou D., Vernier P. and Sidhu A. Modulation of dopamine transporter function by alpha-synuclein is altered by impairment of cell adhesion and by induction of oxidative stress. *FASEB J.* 17 (14):2151–2153. 2003.

Wersinger C, Sidhu A. Disruption of the interaction of alpha-synuclein with microtubules enhances cell surface recruitment of the dopamine transporter. *Biochemistry.* Oct 18;44(41):13612-24. 2005.

Woolverton, W. L. and Johnson, K. M. Neurobiology of Cocaine Abuse. Trends Pharmacol Sci, 13, 193-200. 1992.

Yamashita A, Singh SK, Kawate T, Jin Y, Gouaux E. Crystal structure of a bacterial homologue of Na⁺/Cl⁻-dependent neurotransmitter transporters. *Nature*. Sep 8;437(7056):215-23. 2005.

Zhang L, Reith ME. Regulation of the functional activity of the human dopamine transporter by the arachidonic acid pathway. Eur J Pharmacol. 21;315(3):345-54. 1996.

Zahniser NR, Doolen S. Chronic and acute regulation of Na+/Cl--dependent neurotransmitter transporters: drugs, substrates, presynaptic receptors, and signaling systems. *Pharmacol Ther* 92:21– 55. 2001
Zahniser NR, Sorkin A. Trafficking of dopamine transporters in psychostimulant actions. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.*;20(4):411-7. Review. 2009.

Zarranz, J. J., Alegre, J., Gomez-Esteban, J. C., Lezcano, E., Ros, R., Ampuero, I., Vidal, L., Hoenicka, J., Rodriguez, O., Atares, B., Llorens, V., Gomez Tortosa, E., del Ser, T., Munoz, D. G., and de Yebenes, J. G. The new mutation, E46K, of alpha-synuclein causes Parkinson and Lewy body dementia. Ann Neurol 55, 164-73. 2004.

Zhou Z, Zhen J, Karpowich NK, Goetz RM, Law CJ, Reith ME, and Wang D. LeuT-Desipramine structure reveals how antidepressants block neurotransmitter reuptake. *Science*, 317:1390-1393. 2007.

Zhu S.-J, Kavanaugh M.P., Sonders M.S, Amara S.G. and Zahniser N.R. Activation of protein kinase C inhibits uptake, currents and binding associated with the human dopamine transporter expressed in Xenopus Oocytes, *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 282:1358– 1365. 1997.

Zhu J, Mactutus CF, Wallace DR, Booze RM. HIV-1 Tat protein-induced rapid and reversible decrease in [3H]dopamine uptake: dissociation of [3H]dopamine uptake and [3H] - 2beta-carbomethoxy - 3 - beta - (4 fluorophenyl) tropane (WIN 35,428) binding in rat striatal synaptosomes. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*. 329(3):1071-83. 2009

Zigmond R. F., Schwarzschild M. A., and Rittenhouse A. R. Acute regulation of tyrosine hydroxylase by nerve activity and by neurotransmitters via phosphorylation. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci* 12, 415–461. 1989.

AIM OF THE STUDY, METHODS AND RESULTS

CHAPTER 3,

MOLECULAR REGULATION OF DAT UPTAKE ACTIVITY BY σ_1 RECEPTORS

3.1 Aim of the study

Stimulation of σ_1 receptors has a biphasic effect on intersynaptic [dopamine] (DA) *In vivo*, σ_1 agonists rapidly produce a significant (40-50% of basal levels) increase in extracellular [DA] observed within 30 minutes of administration. This increase is followed by a more prolonged (150 minutes) and marked decrease (-70% of basal levels) of the extracellular DA levels (see section 1.9.7).

It has been shown that DA release is inhibited by σ_1 agonists in many experimental paradigms (see section 1.9.7). For this reason, inhibition of DA release has been proposed to contribute σ_1 -mediated fluctuations of extracellular [DA]. However, the hypothesis that σ_1 receptors could act through the modulation of DA uptake has never been investigated.

In dopaminergic neurons, uptake of intersynaptic DA is mediated by DA transporter (DAT) and this uptake represents the most relevant molecular mechanism extinguishing dopaminergic signal.

Due to the key role of DAT in regulating extracellular DA levels, the first part of this research has been performed to understand if σ_1 receptors may modulate DAT uptake mechanisms in cells models and, to investigate it, eight different clones have been set up.

A) HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y native cells;

B) HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y cells stably transfected with human σ_1 (h σ_1) receptors;

C) HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y native cells, transiently transfected with human DAT (hDAT);

D) HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y cells stably transfected with human $h\sigma_1$ (A), transiently transfected with human DAT (hDAT).

Cells A) were adopted to estimate basal values. B) clones have been used to check the stable transfection of $h\sigma_1$ and to produce the double transfected D) clones. Ultimately, C) and D) were employed in uptake assays as model of hDAT in presence or absence of $h\sigma_1$ overexpression. 48h after transfection with hDAT, uptake activity has been evaluated adopting the [³H]DA uptake assay, a technique that is well charachterized in literature (Cervinski et al., 2005). Once obtained basal uptake values, a molecular screening was performed to elucidate relationship between σ_1 agonists and antagonists and the amount of uptaken DA.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Cell cultures

For this work two different cell lines have been employed:

- <u>HEK-293</u> is a cell line derived from human embryonic kidney cells. This cell line has been obtained from healthy aborted fetus and immortalized using sheared adenovirus 5 DNA (Graham et al., 1977). HEK-293 are very easy to grow and transfected and are widely employed in cell biology.
- <u>SH-SY5Y</u> is a thrice-cloned neuroblastoma sub-line of a bone marrow biopsy-derived line SK-N-SH (Biedler et al., 1978). SH-SY5Y neuroblast-like subclone preserves norepinephrine (NE) neurons characteristics since it possess endogenous NE uptake activity and dopamine-β-hydroxylase activity. However, this line loses its neuronal characteristics with increasing passage

numbers and it is not recommended to continue culture beyond 20 passages. SH-SY5Y cell line is difficult to transfect and it is very sensitive to growth conditions, but it is considered a good non-primary model of neurones.

HEK-293 were grown in 75 ml sterile tissue-treated cell culture flasks (Sarsted), in a CO₂ water-jacketed incubator at 37°C with 5% CO₂ content. The medium used for HEK cells was the Minimum Essential Eagle (MEM, Lonza) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Lonza), 100 μ g/ml penicillin-streptomycin (Gibco), 2 mM L-glutamine (Lonza) and 1% Non Essential Amino Acids (NEAA, Gibco). Cells were splitted to 1:8 rate once they reached about 80% of confluence.

SH-SY5Y were grown in 75 ml sterile tissue-treated cell culture flasks (Sarsted), in a CO₂ water-jacketed incubator at 37°C with 5% CO₂ content. The medium used for SH-SY5Y cells was 41,5% Nutrient Mixture F-12 (Ham's F-12 Lonza) and 41,5% MEM (Gibco), supplemented with 15% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Lonza), 100 μ g/ml penicillin-streptomycin (Gibco), 2 mM L-glutamine (Lonza) and 1% Non Essential Amino Acids (NEAA, Gibco). Cells were splitted to 1:6 rate once they reached about 80% of confluence.

3.2.2 Plasmids characterization

Three plasmids have been employed in this study.

3.2.2.1 pCMV6 Entry-hSigma-1

This plasmid was bought from OriGene Technologies Inc. and encodes for the complete $h\sigma_1$ open reading frame (ORF) (672 bp, reference sequence: NM_005866.2) fused with the expression Myc/Flag tag peptides at the Cterminal extremity.

After bacteria transformation and plasmid purification (see section 3.2.3), the integrity of plasmid DNA was checked running the product of a double restriction enzyme digestion on agarose gel (1% p/v).



Figure 3.1. (*A*) schematic map of pCMV6Entry- $h\sigma_1$; (*B*) digestion of the purified plasmid with restriction enzymes KpnI and XhoI produces a predicted fragment of about 700bp.

<u>3.2.2.2</u> <u>pEGFP-C1-hDAT</u>

This plasmid was a kind gift of Professor Susan Amara, Thomas Detre Professor and Chair of Neurobiology at University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine. pEGFP-C1-hDAT encodes for the complete hDAT ORF (1863 bp, reference sequence: NG_015885.1) fused with the enhanced green fluorescence protein (EGFP) at N-terminus.

After bacteria transformation and plasmid purification (see section 3.2.3), the integrity of plasmid DNA was checked running the product of a double restriction enzyme digestion on agarose gel (1% p/v).



Figure 3.2. (*A*) schematic map of pEGFP-C1-hDAT; (*B*) digestion of the purified plasmid with restriction enzymes KpnI and XhoI produces a predicted fragment of about 1900bp.

<u>3.2.2.3</u> pcDNA3.1(-)-hDAT

This plasmid was subcloned from pEGFP-C1-hDAT. Briefly, the tract of DNA including hDAT sequence was excised through digestion with KpnI and XhoI restriction enzymes. Simultaneously, the same restriction enzymes were used to cut the destination vector (pcDNA3.1(-)). Digestion products were then separeted on agarose gel (1% p/v) and purified with a commercial kit

(Promega Wizard[®] SV Gel and PCR Clean-Up System). Once extracted, purified and quantified, a 3:1 ratio of insert and destination vector were mixed toghether with T4 DNA ligase (Invitrogen) and the product of ligase reaction was directly transformed into a E.Coli strain (see section 3.2.3 for transformation procedure).

After bacteria transformation and plasmid purification (see section 3.2.3), the integrity of plasmid DNA was checked running the product of a double restriction enzyme digestion on agarose gel (1% p/v).



Figure 3.3. (*A*) schematic map of pcDNA3.1(-)-hDAT; (*B*) digestion of the purified plasmid with restriction enzymes KpnI and XhoI produces a predicted fragment of about 1900bp.

3.2.3 Bacteria transformation, growth and plasmid purification

Invitrogen One Shot TOP10[®] library efficiency chemically competent *E.Coli* were transformed according to manufacter protocols. Briefly, 1µg of plasmid DNA was pipetted directly into the vial of competent cells and the mixture was incubated 30 minutes on ice. After this phase, the vial was incubated for 30 sec in a prewarmed water bath at 42°C and placed in ice for 3 minutes. 250 µl of pre-warmed S.O.C were then added to the bacteria and the mixture was left 1 hour at 225 rpm in a shaking incubator at 37°C. 20 µl to 100 µl of the transformation vial content were then spread on Luria-Bertani (LB) agar plates containing 50µg/ml of the required selection antibiotic and dishes were inverted and incubated at 37°C overnight. The day after, newborn monoclonal colonies were selected to grow 16 hours in 5 ml of liquid LB media; plasmids were then extracted and analyzed by enzymatic restriction digestion and sequencing.

Selected colonies were grown in 5 ml and 100 ml, respectively for mini and midi preparations. Plasmids were purified using anion-exchange tips provided in a commercial kit (QIAGEN Plasmid Midi Kit) and the extracted DNA was quantified by reading the absorbance at 260, 280 e 320 nm.

3.2.4 Transfection and selection of the enginereed eukaryotic clones

Both HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y were transfected using the ExGen500 cationic polymer gene delivery reagent (Fermentas). Specifically, 3.3μ l of ExGen500 were used to complex 1 µg of plasmid DNA for transfecting 80000 cells.

Transiently transfected cells were used 48h after transfection.

Stable transfected cells were selected by supplementing the complete medium with G418 at the final concentration of 500 μ g/ml. Transfected cells were then maintained in this conditions and they were used at least 3 weeks after selection with G418.

3.2.5 β -galactosidase enzyme assay system

 β -galactosidase enzyme assay system was used to evaluate β galactosidase activity in lysates prepared from cells transfected with pSV-β-Gal vector. To estimate β -galactosidase activity, a commercial kit has been employed (Beta-Glo[®] Assay System-Promega). 48 h after transfection with pSV- β -Gal, about 150000 cells were lysed by freeze thawing in 200 µl of lysis buffer and 50 μ l of this lysate were mixed with 50 μ l of Beta-Glo[®] substrate. Samples were then incubated for 2 h, allowing the substrate (D-luciferin-o- β galactopyranoside) to be cleaved to release luciferin. Luciferin serves as a substrate for luciferase that is also present in the reagent. As result of the luciferase activity, oxyluciferin is formed with subsequent light emission, Victor² wich is detected and quantified in a PerkinElmer luminometer/spectrophotometr. The level of pSV- β -Gal plasmid expression is directly related to luminescence, expressed in arbitrary luminescence units.

3.2.6 Protein extraction and quantitation

Proteins were extracted using a commercial kit (NE-PERTM Extraction reagent; Pierce). Briefly cells were pelleted and resuspended in 100 μ L of CER I buffer After 10 min incubation on ice, 5.5 μ L of CER II buffer was added and the mixture was vortexed, incubated on ice for 1 min and then resuspended. The cytoplasmic fraction was separated by centrifugation at

16000 g for 5 min. Proteins were then quantified using the method of Lowry (Lowry et al., 1951).

3.2.7 Western blot experiments

Proteins of the cytoplasmic extract (50 μ g) were denatured at 95°C for 3 min before being loaded and separated by 12% sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE).

We used a MagicMarkTM XP Western Standard as molecular weight standard. Proteins were then transferred to ProtranTM nitrocellulose membranes which were blocked with 5% nonfat milk in TBS (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, containing 150 mM NaCl) plus 0.1% Tween 20 for 2 h at room temperature (RT). After washing three times the membrane with TBS, blots were probed for 1 h at RT in TBS containing monoclonal ANTI-FLAGTM M5 antibody (Sigma-Aldrich) at final concentration of 10 µg/ml. The membranes were incubated with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies at a dilution 1:10000. of Blots were developed with SuperSignal West Pico chemiluminescent substrate according to the manufacturer's protocol (PierceTM). Chemiluminescence was acquired using a luminescent image analyzer LAS-3000 (Fuji-filmTM). The membranes were incubated with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies at a dilution of 1:2000. Blots were finally developed with SuperSignal West Pico chemiluminescent substrate according the manufacturer's protocol (PierceTM). to Chemiluminescence was acquired using a luminescent image analyzer LAS-3000 (Fuji-FilmTM).

3.2.8 DA uptake experiments

³H]DA assays were performed in 24-wells plates (Corning) precoated with poly-L-lysine. Four days before the experiments, 70000 cells were seeded in each well of the plate. 24h later, cells were transfected with pcDNA3.1(-)-hDAT and then left 48 h in the incubator at 37 °C. The day of the experiment, cells were washed once with 1 ml of PBS and incubated for 2 hours in serum free media. Cells were then washed twice with PBS and triplicate wells were pretreated at 37 °C with 300µl of filtered Krebs-Ringer HEPES (KRH) buffer (25 mM HEPES, 125mM NaCl, 4.8mM KCl, 1.2mM KH₂PO₄, 1.3mM CaCl₂, 1.2 mM MgSO₄, 5.6 mM glucose, pH 7.4) containing vehicle, σ ligands, or phosphorylation modulators. σ ligands and PKC modulators were added respectively. 1 h and 30 min prior to start the assay for DA transport. Compounds were dissolved at high concentration (10⁻²M) in DMSO followed by dilution in KRH buffer to a final DMSO concentration range varying from 1% to 0.0000001% v/v. At the end of the pretreatment interval, cells were placed on ice and uptake was initiated by adding 3.03 µl of a 100X DA stock solution to bring the final concentration of [³H]DA (PerkinElmer, 35Ci/mmol) to 10 nM and that of total DA to 3 µM. Control wells didn't receive any treatment and nonspecific uptake was determined in the presence of nomifensine 10 μ M. Uptake assays were carried out at 37 °C for 10 min and terminated by rapidly washing the wells three times with 1 ml of ice-cold KRH. Cells were solubilized with 500 µl of a 2% SDS solution and lysates were then measured for incorporated radioactivity by liquid scintillation after 2 h of incubation in scintillation cocktail.

3.2.9 Analysis of data

Data were analyzed with GraphPad Prism[®] software (version 4.0; GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA).

[³H]DA uptake data were normalized by setting DPM values of controls as 100% and of background as 0%. Controls were transfected with pcDNA3.1(-)-hDAT and didn't receive any treatment before being assayed for [³H]DA uptake activity. Background data were obtained by measuring [³H]DA uptake in cells not transfected cells with the hDAT plasmid and treating transfected cells with nomifensine (DAT selective inhibitor) for 30 minutes at final concentration of 10 μ M (see section 3.3.3).

All data are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) for the indicated number of experiments. Statistical significance was determined by Newman-Keuls test after analysis of variance (ANOVA) using GraphPad Prism Prism[®] software (version 4.0; GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). Newman-Keuls test post ANOVA was used to compare all data versus controls and among multiple groups. P-values < 0.05 were considered to be significant.

3.2.10 Immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy

70000 cells/well were seeded in a 6-wells plate containing a sterilized poly-L-lysine precoated microscope glass coverslip (Carlo Erba). After 48 h cells were transfected with pEGFP-C1-hDAT. 48 h after transfection cells were incubated incubated for 1 h in serum free medium in presence, or in absence of (+)-pentazocine at final concentration of 1 μ M and then fixed with 0.5 ml of a 3% solution paraformaldehyde (PFA) in PBS at 25 °C for 15 minutes. Fixed cells were then washed three times with a PBS-BSA 3%

solution and permeabilized in 70% ice-cold ethanol for 3 minutes. After washing three times with PBS-BSA 3%, samples were incubated 2h at RT in PBS-BSA 3% containing monoclonal mouse ANTI-FLAGTM M2 antibody (Sigma-Aldrich) at final concentration of 1 μ g/ml. Cells were washed three times with PBS-BSA 3% and incubated for 1h at RT with PBS-BSA 3% containing 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) at final concentration of 300 nM to stain nuclei and CFTM555 goat anti-mouse anti-mouse secondary antibody (Biotium) at final concentration of 7 μ g/ml. Cells were washed three times with with PBS-BSA 3% and coverslip were mounted onto a preclean slide (Carlo Erba) using ProLong® Gold Antifade Reagent (Invitrogen) as mounting media. Mounted slides were left overnight at RT in the dark and then analyzed by confocal microscopy using a Nikon C1si equipped with Nikon eclypse TE300 confocal laser-scanning microscope.

DAPI, EGFP and CFTM555 secondary antibody were excited respectively at 405 nm, 488 nm and 543 nm and multiple images were were detected respectively at 450 nm, 515 nm and 605 nm.

3.3 Controls employed to validate experimental groups

Several controls were performed to validate the experimental procedure adopted to investigate cell [³H]DA uptake and cell viability.

3.3.1 Validation of transfection techniques using β-galactosidase enzyme assay system

Efficiency of transfection conditions was checked by the β -galactosidase enzyme assay system (See section 3.2.5).

A)



B)





Results of β -galactosidase assays are reported in figure 3.4. In both HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y cell lines, transiently transfected with pSV- β -Gal, produced luminescence is 3 times higher than in not transfected controls. This result indicates that β -galactosidase is overexpressed only in cells that received the pSV- β -Gal plasmid. Moreover, these data indicate that following transient transfection with pSV- β -Gal vector, expression of β -galactosidase in cells stably transfected with h σ_1 receptor does not change in comparison to cells transfected with pSV- β -Gal vector alone. Thus, the expression of β galactosidase is not influenced by the presence of pCMV6 Entry-h σ_1 vector.

Transfection conditions optimized with pSV-β-Gal were then used in experiments done on cells transfected with pcDNA3.1(-)-hDAT plasmid.

3.3.2 Western blot of stably expressed $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG fusion protein

Overexpression of fusion protein $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG was confirmed with western blot experiments. Cells overexpressing $h\sigma_1$ were then selected and used in experiments.



Figure 3.5. Western blot of HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y stably expressing $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG fusion protein compared to not transfected (NT) cells.

3.3.3 Topology and expression analysis of EGFP-hDAT and $h\sigma_1$ in HEK-293 by confocal microscopy

In the experiments, nuclei were stained with DAPI, which emission falls in blue wavelength range.

Not transfected control are not showed because in these cells any greenshifted fluorescence was detectable.

Since EGFP-hDAT fusion protein is able to produce fluorescence alone while excited at 488 nm, its detection doesn't need conjugation with any secondary fluorescent antibody (Fig.3.6).



Figure 3.6. Confocal images of HEK-293 transiently transfected with pEGFP-C1-hDAT; A) image of EGFP-hDAT alone; **B**) merged image of nucleus marker (blue) and EGFPhDAT (green); note that EGFP-hDAT fluorescence appears predominantly near the cell surface.

These experiments confirm that HEK-293 cells transiently transfected with the pEGFP-C1-hDAT plasmid express the fluorescent fusion protein. Noteworthy, EGFP-hDAT appears mainly located on the plasma membrane level suggesting that the expressed protein is a functional membrane transporter. As it concerns the detection of $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG, this fusion protein requires conjugation with a fluorescent probe in order to be detected by confocal microscopy. A red-shifted secondary antibody was choosen as it doesn't interfere with blue DAPI and green EGFP fluorofores.



Figure 3.7. Confocal images of HEK-293 stably transfected with pCMV6 Entry–hSigma1. **A**) separated images of nuclei stained with DAPI (blue) and $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptors labeled with a fluorescent probe (red); **B**) merged image of nucleus and $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptor markers; note that $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptors fluorescence appears predominantly in the cytoplasm.

These experiments confirm the stable expression of $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG fusion protein. According to previously described subcellular localization of rat σ_1 receptors (see section 1.4.2), overexpressed $h\sigma_1$ receptors are mainly localized in the cytoplasm and less around the cell membrane.

Cootransfection of both EGFP-hDAT and $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG fusion proteins was also confirmed by confocal microscopy techniques. As showed in figure 3.8, both the proteins are expressed in double transfected clones.





Figure 3.8. Confocal images of HEK-293 cootransfected with pCMV6 Entry–hSigma, and -C1–hDAT; **A**) separated images of nuclei stained with DAPI (blue), $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptors labeled with a fluorescent probe (red) and EGFP-hDAT (green); **B**) merged image of nucleus and $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptor markers and EGFP-hDAT; note that $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptors fluorescence appears predominantly in the cytoplasm whereas EGFP-hDAT appears mainly located on the plasma membrane.

3.3.4 Set up of [³H]DA uptake assay

[³H]DA uptake assays were performed in order to check if native HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y possess a basal uptake activity of the [³H]DA and if, once transfected with pcDNA3.1(-)-hDAT, they are able to express a functional protein capable to elevate [³H]DA uptake. Thus, uptake abilities of not transfected (NT) cells or of cells transfected with pcDNA3.1(-) empty vector and of cells transfected with pcDNA3.1(-)-hDAT were compared counting the recovered radioactivity after 10 minutes of incubation at 37°C in KRH buffer containing the [³H]DA.



Figure 3.9. DPM values retrieved in three different clones of **A**) results on HEK-293, data are presented as mean \pm SEM of two independent experiments (carried out in triplicate); **B**) results on SH-SY5Y, after 10 minutes of incubation at 37°C with [³H]DA in KRH buffer data are presented as mean \pm SEM of two independent experiments (carried out in triplicate).

Since radioactivity recovered in cells transfected with pcDNA3.1(-)hDAT is extremely higher compared to controls that did not receive this plasmid, experiments showed in figure 3.6 confirm that uptake of extracellular [³H]DA depends on hDAT activity. Noteworthy, in transfected HEK-293 (HEK-293-hDAT) the retrieved radioactivity was higher than in transfected SH-SY5Y (SH-SY5Y-hDAT) (15000 DPM vs 2700 DPM) whereas background was almost the same in both cell lines (~600 DPM). This difference between HEK-293-hDAT and SH-SY5Y-hDAT is mainly to ascribe to transfection efficiency, which is known to be pretty much lower in SH-SY5Y. Before to start to perform uptake assays to test the interactions between σ_1 receptors and hDAT, method validation was to examine the responsiveness of this system to DAT substrates, known to alter its activity and expression.



*** = P<0,001 vs HEK-293-hDAT control (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

= P<0,001 vs HEK-293 $h\sigma_1$ + hDAT control (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

\$\$\$ = P<0,001 vs HEK-293-hDAT treated with staurosporine 10 µM + PMA 1 µM (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

§§§ = P<0,001 vs HEK-293 hσ₁ + hDAT treated with staurosporine 10 μM + PMA 1 μM (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)



*** = P<0,001 vs SH-SY5Y hDAT control (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)</pre>

= P<0,001 vs SH-SY5Y ho1 + hDAT control (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

\$\$\$ = P<0,001 vs SH-SY5Y hDAT treated with staurosporine 10 μM + PMA 1 μM (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

§§§ = P<0,001 vs SH-SY5Y hσ₁ + hDAT treated with staurosporine 10 μM + PMA 1 μM (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

Figure 3.10. Effect of nomifensine, PMA and staurosporine on $[{}^{3}H]DA$ uptake in **A**) results on HEK-293, data are presented as mean ±SEM of four independent experiments (carried out in triplicate); **B**) results on SH-SY5Y, data are presented as mean ±SEM of two independent experiments (carried out in triplicate).

Nomifensine is a known DA reuptake inhibitor (Meiergerd and Schenk, 1994); as displayed in figure 3.7 nomifensine at 1 μ M completely blocked reuptake of extracellular DA in both HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y and retrieved radioactivity was reduced to not transfected (NT) level.

PMA is known to reduce *in vitro* the V_{max} of [³H]DA uptake by approximately 40% vs control: an effect blocked by the protein kinase inhibitor staurosporine (Pristupa et al., 1998). As it's shown in Fig.3.7, in cells transfected with pcDNA3.1(-)-hDAT, PMA and staurosporine cause the same effects described in literature.

These results demonstrate that the expressed recombinant hDAT is actively working and the conditions optimized for these experiments were used to assay σ receptors ligand and to study their modulation on hDAT activity. Nomifensine, at final concentration of 1 μ M, was choosen to estimate background radioactivity in uptake experiments.

3.3.5 Effect of vehicle on $[^{3}H]DA$ uptake

Since most of σ ligands are lipophilic, DMSO was choosen as the veihcle to solubilize these drugs were primarily solubilized at 10⁻² M stock solution. Further diluitions were performed in sterile KRH buffer. Thus, when σ ligands were employed at final concentrations at 100 μ M, 10 μ M, 1 μ M, 0.1 μ M and 0.01 μ M, concentration of DMSO, expressed in % v/v, was respectively 1%, 0.1%, 0.01%, 0.001% and 0.0001%. Effect of 1h incubation

with these concentration of DMSO on $[^{3}H]DA$ was also checked before assaying the σ ligands.



Figure 3.11. Effect of different concentrations of DMSO alone on [³*H*]*DA uptake.*

In HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y, DMSO interfered with uptake only when used at 1% v/v. DMSO toxicity is probably the cause of reduction of [³H]DA uptake observed with 1% (v/v) of DMSO alone; in fact, after 1 h of treatment, cells that received 1% (v/v) of DMSO were detached from the well, floating, then in the medium.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Effect of (+)-pentazocine on $[^{3}H]DA$ uptake

The first σ ligand employed in [³H]DA uptake assays was (+)pentazocine, the prototype of σ_1 agonists, which possess high affinity for σ_1 binding sites (K_i = 16.7 nM) (Fig.3.8).



= P<0,001 vs HEK-293 hDAT treated with 10 μ M (+)-pentazocine (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA) \$\$\$ = P<0,001 vs HEK-293 hDAT treated with 1 μ M (+)-pentazocine (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

= P<0,01 vs HEK-293 hDAT treated with 0.1 μM (+)-pentazocine (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)



= P<0,05 vs SH-SY5Y hDAT treated with (+)-pentazocine 10 μ M (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA) \$\$ = P<0,001 vs SH-SY5Y hDAT treated with (+)-pentazocine 1 μ M (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA) § = P<0,01 vs SH-SY5Y hDAT treated with (+)-pentazocine 0.1 μ M (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA) £ £ = P<0,01 vs SH-SY5Y hDAT treated with (+)-pentazocine 0.01 μ M (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA) $\Omega\Omega\Omega = P<0,001$ vs SH-SY5Y hDAT treated with (+)-pentazocine 1 nM (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

Figure 3.12. Effect of different concentrations of (+)-pentazocine on $[^{3}H]DA$ uptake in A) results on HEK-293, data are presented as mean \pm SEM of five independent experiments (carried out in triplicate); **B**) results on SH-SY5Y, data are presented as mean \pm SEM of two independent experiments (carried out in triplicate).

(+)-pentazocine, concentration-dependently increases the uptake of [³H]DA in cells stably overexpressing $h\sigma_1$, with a maximum increase of about 40% over the basal values. Interistingly, concentration-response studies showed a different trend between HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y cell lines.

In kidney derived cells, the maximum effect of (+)-pentazocine was observed at 0.1 μ M. At 0.01 μ M (+)-pentazocine was less effective and inactive at 1 nM. Considering that K_i of (+)-pentazocine for σ_1 receptor falls in nM range (Tab 1.1), it's interesting to note that the more active

concentrations of the σ_1 agonist (0.1 µM) is higher than expected. To explain this, subcellular localization of σ receptors might be taken in account. At resting state, σ_1 receptors are cytoplasmatic proteins, mainly concentrated in ER lipid rafts. Thus ligands have to cross cells plasmalemma either passively or transported by membrane carriers in order to reach their target. In addition, it has been often reported that high concentrations are required to activate σ_1 receptors (Gudelsky et al., 1995 and 1999; Moison et al., 2003).

In neuroblastoma derived cells, concentration-response curve of (+)-pentazocine better fits with its calculated K_i. In fact, in the SH-SY5Y model, the maximum effect was reached at (+)-pentazocine was used at final concentration of 1 nM. Thus it appears that SH-SY5Y appear to be more sensitive to (+)-pentazocine than HEK-293.

3.4.2 Effects of (-)-pentazocine on $[^{3}H]DA$ uptake

Since the (-) isomer of pentazocine possess a 50 time lower affinity for σ_1 receptors (Tab.1.1), in cells cotransfected with $h\sigma_1$ receptor and hDAT concentration-effect curves of (-)-pentazocine were obtained in order to confirm the specific involvement of overexpressed $h\sigma_1$ receptors in the reported actions of (+)-pentazocine.



*** = P<0,001 vs not treated control (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

= P<0,001 vs HEK-293 ho1 + hDAT treated with 1 µM (-)-pentazocine (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

\$ = P<0,05 vs HEK-293 hσ₁ + hDAT treated with 0.1 μM (-)-pentazocine (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)







(+)-pentazocine	-9.92	0.12
(-)-pentazocine	-7.413	38.68

95% Confidence Intervals			
	(-)-pentazocine	(+)-pentazocine	
EC ₅₀ (nM)	9.10 to 164.27	2.92 to 45.64	
LOG EC ₅₀	-8.041 to -6.784	-8.534 to -7.341	

** = P<0,01 vs not treated control (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

= P<0,05 vs SH-SY5Y ho1 + hDAT treated with (-)-pentazocine 0.01 µM (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

\$ = P<0,05 vs SH-SY5Y hσ1 + hDAT treated with (-)-pentazocine 1 nM (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

Figure 3.13. Comparison between effects of (+)- and (-)-pentazocine on $[^{3}H]DA$ uptake in *A*) results on HEK-293, data are presented as mean ±SEM of four independent experiments (carried out in triplicate); *B*) results on SH-SY5Y, data are presented as mean ±SEM of two independent experiments (carried out in triplicate).

(-)-pentazocine was not able to increase [³H]DA uptake in HEK-293 and, in SH-SY5Y, calculated EC₅₀ for (–)-pentazocine is 322-fold higher than EC₅₀ calculated for its (+) isomer. These results are in line with the low affinity of (-)-pentazocine for σ_1 receptors and demonstrate the specific involvement of overexpressed $h\sigma_1$ in modulating hDAT [³H]DA uptake.

3.4.3 Effects of σ_1 antagonists

Effects of σ antagonists BD-1047 and NE-100 on [³H]DA uptake were also evaluated in presence and in absence of (+)-pentazocine.



Figure 3.14. Effects of σ antagonists on [³H]DA uptake; **A**) results on HEK-293, data are presented as mean ±SEM of three independent experiments (carried out in triplicate); **B**) results on SH-SY5Y, data are presented as mean ±SEM of two independent experiments (carried out in triplicate).

BD-1047 and NE-100 alone did not affect hDAT activity and it is relevant that these classics σ_1 antagonists were able to prevent the activation of $h\sigma_1$ by (+)-pentazocine. These results further confirm the specific involvement of transfected $h\sigma_1$ as effector of (+)-pentazocine effects.

3.4.4 Effects of SM-21

To evaluate any interference of endogenous σ_2 receptors, the σ_2 selective agonist SM-21 was also tested.



Figure 3.15. Effects of σ_2 selective agonist SM-21 at 1 μ M on [³H]DA uptake in A) results on HEK-293; B) results on SH-SY5Y.

As showed in figure 3.15, pretreatment with SM-21 slightly reduces [³H]DA uptake both in HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y native or stably overexpressing $h\sigma_1$ receptors. Since in these experiments σ_2 receptors

recruitment could induce the opposite effect observed for the 1 subtype of σ receptors family, it would be interesting in the future to better characterize this feature. However data are not statistically significative and thus, in this thesis, SM-21 effects aren't further discussed.

References

Biedler JL, Roffler-Tarlov S, Schachner M, Freedman LS. Multiple neurotransmitter synthesis by human neuroblastoma cell lines and clones. *Cancer Res.* 38(11 Pt 1):3751-7. 1978.

Cervinski MA, Foster JD, Vaughan RA. Endogenous and psychoactive substrates stimulate dopamine transporter phosphorylation by a transport and protein kinase C dependent mechanism. *J Biol Chem* 280:40442–40449. 2005.

Graham FL, Smiley J, Russell WC, Nairn R. Characteristics of a human cell line transformed by DNA from human adenovirus type 5. *J. Gen. Virol.* 36 (1): 59–74. 1977.

Lowry, O., H., Rosebrough, N. J., Fan, A. L, and Randall, R. J. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. *J. Biol. Chem.* 193: 265-271, 1951.

Gudelsky GA. Effects of σ receptor ligands on the extracellular concentration of dopamine in the striatum and prefrontal cortex of the rat. *Eur J Pharmacol* 286: 223-228, 1995.

Meiergerd SM, Schenk JO. Kinetic evaluation of the commonality between the site(s) of action of cocaine and some other structurally similar and dissimilar inhibitors of the striatal transporter for dopamine. *J. Neurochem.* 63(5):1683-92. 1994.

Moison D, De Deurwaerdere P, Cagnotto A, Marrazzo A, Prezzavento O, Ronsisvalle G, Mennini T and Spampinato U. Intrastriatal administration of sigma ligands inhibits basal dopamine release *in vivo*. *Neuropharmacology* 45: 945-953, 2003. **Pristupa ZB, McConkey F, Liu F, Man HY, Lee FJ, Wang YT, Niznik HB**. Protein kinasemediated bidirectional trafficking and functional regulation of the human dopamine transporter. *Synapse.* 30(1):79-87. 1998.

CHAPTER 4,

FUNCTIONAL CONSEQUENCES OF σ₁-MEDIATED INCREASE OF DOPAMINE UPTAKE

4.1 Aim of the study

Uptake assays shown in chapter 3 demonstrate that in HEK-293 and in SH-SY5Y $h\sigma_1$ receptors activation by (+)-pentazocine positively modulates the hDAT uptake.

As described in section 2.7.1, DA is likely to be considered a neurotoxic molecule. In fact, when as consequence of exposure to toxic agents intracellular levels of DA abnormally increase, vescicles can't sequester the DA which is metabolized by MAO (A and B) and COMT with consequent overproduction of oxygen reactive species and toxic catabolites (Hastings, 1995, Hastings et al., 1996). Stress induced by these molecules leads cells to death.

For the second part of this thesis, experiments have been performed in order to investigate functional alterations caused by the (+)-pentazocinemediated increase of DA uptake; particularly it has been investigated if the increase of intracellular [DA] could affect cells viability.

Basal toxicity of DA was first evaluated in native cells and in cells transiently transfected with pcDNA.31-hDAT. Once obtained control values, a molecular screening has been performed to elucidate relationship between σ_1 agonists and antagonists and uptaken DA toxicity.

Cells viability was estimated using the MTT assay, described in section 4.2.1.

4.2 Methods

Cells culture, transfections conditions and controls are described in chapter 3, section 3.2.

4.2.1 MTT viability assay

3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) is a light sensitive yellow salt, highly soluble in water and in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) which is reduced to unsoluble purple formazan in living cells. These reductions take place only when mithocondrial reductase enzymes are active; since these enzymes are active only in undamaged cells, this conversion is used as a measure of cellular viability. Purple formazan is soluble in lipophilic solvents, such as DMSO and isopropyl; the dissolved formazan produces a purple solution and absorbance of this colored solution can be quantified by measuring it between 500 and 600 nm by a spectrophotometer. Thus, when the amount of purple formazan produced by treated cells is compared with the amount of formazan produced by untreated controls, the effectiveness of the treatment in causing death can be deduced through the production of a dose-response curve.

Viability assays were performed in 24-wells plates (Corning) precoated with poly-L-lysine. Five days before viability assays, 70000 cells were seeded in each well of the plate. 24h later, each well was transfected with pcDNA3.1(-)-hDAT. 48h after transfection, HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y were then treated with different concentration of DA and σ ligands, diluted in respective cell medium. Cell toxicity was evaluated 24h after treatments with the colorimetric MTT viability assay. Optimized conditions used in this research are following reported. Exactly 24h after treatments, cells were washed two times with PBS and, in each well, medium was substituted with 500 μ l of a 200 μ M solution of MTT in sterile PBS and the plate was incubated 1,5h at 37°C. After incubation, plates were centrifuged for 30 minutes at 2600 g in a Beckman Coulter TM Allegra 25 R centrifuge, using a plate rotor to precipitate formazan. Surnatant was rapidly eliminated and formazan was solubilized by adding 500 μ l of DMSO in each well. 24-wells plates were shaked for 1h on a plate shaker at 250 rpm and absorbance was directly measured in a PerkinElmer Victor² luminometer/spectrophotometr (545 nm).

4.2.2 Data analysis

Data were analyzed with GraphPad Prism[®] software (version 4.0; GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA).

Viability data were normalized by setting absorbance values of controls as 100% and of background as 0%. Controls were transfected with pcDNA3.1(-)-hDAT and didn't receive any treatment before being assayed for MTT conversion in formazan. Background data were obtained treating cells with DA at final concentration of 5 mM. In fact, while using such high concentration of DA, spontaneous oxidation of the catecholamine is enough to kill all treated cells.

All data are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) for the indicated number of experiments. Statistical significance was determined by Newman-Keuls test post ANOVA using GraphPad Prism Prism[®] software (version 4.0; GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). Newman-Keuls test post ANOVA was used to compare all data versus controls and among multiple groups. P-values < 0.05 were considered to be significant.
4.2.3 Set up of viability assays

Viability assays were primarly performed in order to check the toxicity of DA at different concentration in native HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y, or in cells transiently transfected with pcDNA3.1(-)-hDAT.

Native cells are not able to uptake extracellular DA and then the catecholamine toxicity should be ascribed mainly to autoxidation of the molecule. Once transfected with hDAT, cells gain the ability to inwardly transport the DA and uptaken DA is metabolized to release toxic species directly in the cytoplasmatic lumen.

A first set of experiments was performed to demonstrate that transfected cells are more sensitive to DA toxicity (Fig.5.1)



CLONE	LOG EC ₅₀	EC ₅₀ (mM)
HEK-293	-2.83	1.49
HEK-293 + hDAT	-3.00	1.00
HEK-293 + hDAT + hσ ₁	-2.99	1.01

95% Confidence Intervals			
	HEK-293 HEK-293 + hDAT		HEK-293 + hDAT + hσ ₁
EC ₅₀ (mM)	1.40 to 1.59	0.95 to 1.05	0.94 to 1.11
LOG EC ₅₀	-2.854 to -2.798	-3.024 to -2.975	-3.028 to -2.956



Figure 4.1. Toxicity of different concentration of DA in three different cell clones after 24h of incubation. A) HEK-293 the data are presented as mean \pm SEM of four independent experiment (carried out in triplicate); B) SH-SY5Y 293 the data are presented as mean \pm SEM of two independent experiments (carried out in triplicate).

As evinced from EC_{50} values, DA is more toxic in cells transfected with hDAT. In addition, SH-SY5Y are more sensitive to DA than HEK-293. This is probably due to a different DA metabolism efficiency, wich is higher in the neuronal- than in the kidney-derived cell line.

To confirm the role of DA uptake and metabolism in mediating DA toxicity, cells transfected with hDAT were exposed to lethal concentrations of DA (1 mM for HEK-293, 500 μ M for SH-SY5Y) in presence and in absence of nomifensine, a DAT selective inhibitor and of selegiline, a MAO-B inhbitor, at the final concentration of 1 μ M.



Figure 4.2. Protective effect of nomifensine and selegiline in presence of toxic concentration of DA. A) HEK-293 the data are presented as mean \pm SEM of two independent experiments (carried out in triplicate); B) SH-SY5Y the data are presented as mean \pm SEM of two independent experiments (carried out in triplicate).

When cells are exposed to DA in the presence of nomifensine, viability is increased of about 40% in HEK-293 and of about 60% in SH-SY5Y, in comparison to cells exposed to DA alone. Protective activity of nomifensine confirms the role of cell uptake in mediating DA toxicity. Moreover, selegiline is able to decrease the mortality rate; this last finding indicates that, in both the cell lines, oxidative metabolism of DA contribute to the toxicity of this catecholamine.

However, viability never reaches the control values. This is due to the autoxidation of DA wich produces toxic species. Thus, the concentrations of DA used to estimate σ_1 contribution to cell toxicity were choosen in order to reduce the DA autoxidation counterpart.

4.2.4 Effect of vehicle on cell viability

As previously reported (see section 3.3.5), most of σ ligands are lipophilic, thus DMSO was choosen as veihcle to solubilize drugs at 10⁻² M as stock solution. Further diluitions were performed in sterile media. When σ ligands were employed at 100µM, 10µM, 1µM, 0.1µM and 0.01µM, concentration of DMSO, expressed in % v/v, was respectively 1%, 0.1%, 0.01%, 0.001% and 0.0001%. Effect of 1h incubation with these concentration of DMSO alone on cell viability was also checked (Fig.5.3)



Figure 4.3. Effect of DMSO on cellular viability; **A**) HEK-293 the data are presented as mean \pm SEM of two independent experiments (carried out in triplicate); **B**) SH-SY5Y the data are presented as mean \pm SEM of two independent experiments(carried out in triplicate).

DMSO is toxic when used at the concentration of 1% v/v in both HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Effects of (+)-pentazocine on DA toxicity

Data acquired to set up viability assays were used to choose the concentrations of DA used in first set of experiments, wich are respectively 500 μ M for HEK-293 and 150 μ M for SH-SY5Y. These concentrations are slightly lower than EC₅₀ and allow to estimate the σ_1 contribution to cell toxicity avoiding any interference induced by DA autoxidation alone. (+)-pentazocine was used at 1 μ M in both cell lines.





B) SH-SY5Y



 ^{** =} P<0,01 vs SH-SY5Y hσ₁ + (+)-pentazocine 1 μM + DA 150 μM (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)
= P<0,01 vs SH-SY5Y hDAT + (+)-pentazocine 1 μM + DA 150 μM (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

Figure 4.4. Effect of (+)-pentazocine at the concentration of 1 μ M on DA toxicity; A) HEK-293 the data are presented as mean ±SEM of five independent (carried out in triplicate); B) SH-SY5Y the data are presented as mean ±SEM of two independent experiments (carried out in triplicate).

(+)-pentazocine at 1 μ M is able to increase the toxicity of the DA only in cells co-expressing both $h\sigma_1$ receptor and hDAT. The increase of DA cell toxicity is to ascribe only to $h\sigma_1$ receptor activation.

 EC_{50} curves were also obtained for the σ_1 agonist treating the cells with different concentrations of (+)-pentazocine, in presence of a fixed concentration of DA, respectively 500 μ M for HEK-293 and 150 μ M for SH-SY5Y.

A) HEK-293



CLONE		ес ₅₀ (µм)
HEK-293 hDAT	-4.75	17.68
HEK-293 hσ ₁	-4.76	17.36
HEK-293 hDAT + $h\sigma_1$	-7.01	0.01

95% Confidence Intervals			
	HEK-293 hDAT HEK-293 hσ ₁		HEK-293 + hDAT + hσ ₁
EC ₅₀ (µМ)	7.27 to 43.03	8.05 to 37.44	0.06 to 0.17
LOG EC ₅₀	-5.14 to -4.37	-5.10 to -4.43	-7.25 to -6.76



			+ Πσ ₁
ЕС ₅₀ (µМ)	2.35 to 179.01	2.36 to 180.00	0.09 to 0.27
LOG EC ₅₀	-5.63 to -3.75	-5.63 to -3.75	-7.04 to -6.56

Figure 4.5. EC_{50} curves of (+)-pentazocine obtained in presence of a fixed concentration of DA; **A**) HEK-293, concentration of DA was 500 μ M, the data are presented as mean

 \pm SEM of four independent experiments (carried out in triplicate); **B**) SH-SY5Y, concentration of DA was 150 μ M, the data are presented as mean \pm SEM of two independent experiments (carried out in triplicate).

In both HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y, EC₅₀ values of cells transfected with hDAT alone are almost superimposable to EC₅₀ of cells transfected with $h\sigma_1$ alone. In these case the toxicity seems to be mediated exclusively by the vehicle (see also Fig. 5.3); therefore these results indicate that (+)-pentazocine alone is not toxic in this model. In cells expressing both $h\sigma_1$ and hDAT, toxicity of DA is increased by (+)-pentazocine in a concentration-dependent manner. These data strongly support the involvement of $h\sigma_1$ receptors. However, to further confirm the role of the stably overexpressed protein, effects of σ_1 selective antagonists BD-1047 and NE-100 were also evaluated in presence and in absence of (+)-pentazocine.

A) HEK-293



= P<0,001 vs HEK-293 hDAT + $h\sigma_1$ + BD-1047 + (+)-pentazocine 1 μ M + DA 500 μ M (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA) ### = P<0,001 vs HEK-293 hDAT + $h\sigma_1$ + NE-100 + (+)-pentazocine 1 μ M + DA 500 μ M (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

B) SH-SY5Y



* = P<0,05 vs SH-SY5Y hDAT + $h\sigma_1$ + BD-1047 + (+)-pentazocine 1 μ M + DA 150 μ M (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA) # = P<0,05 vs SH-SY5Y hDAT + $h\sigma_1$ + NE-100 + (+)-pentazocine 1 μ M + DA 150 μ M (Newman-Keuls's test post ANOVA)

Figure 4.6. σ_1 selective antagonists BD-1047 and NE-100 block (+)-pentazocine-induced increase of DA toxicity; **A**) HEK-293, the data are presented as mean ±SEM of four independent experiments (carried out in triplicate); **B**) SH-SY5Y, the data are presented as mean ±SEM of two independent experiments (carried out in triplicate).

As showed in figure 5.6, both BD-1047 and NE-100 are not toxic when used alone at the concentration of 1 μ M and they are able to revert the (+)pentazocine-induced increase of DA cell toxicity. These data confirm that when overexpressed h σ_1 receptors, (+)-pentazocine mediates the observed alteration of cell susceptibility to DA toxicity.

In conclusion, it has been shown that (+)-pentazocine increases DA cell toxicity in a concentration-dependent manner only in cells co-expressing $h\sigma_1$ and hDAT. σ_1 selective antagonists are able to block the action of the agonist (+)-pentazocine. Since it has been demonstrated in chapter 3 that $h\sigma_1$

receptors activation enhances the hDAT uptake activity, the observed (+)pentazocine-mediated increase of DA cell toxicity is likely to be induced by raised intracellular DA levels.

References

Hastings TG. Enzymatic oxidation of dopamine: the role of prostaglandin H synthase. J Neurochem. Feb;64(2):919-24. 1995.

Hastings TG, Lewis DA, Zigmond MJ. Role of oxidation in the neurotoxic effects of intrastriatal dopamine injections, Proc. Natl. *Acad. Sci. U. S. A*.: 1956–1961. 1996.

CHAPTER 5,

CONFOCAL MICROSCOPY STUDIES

5.1 Aim of the study

The described cross-talking between $h\sigma_1$ receptor and hDAT has been further investigated using confocal microscopy. Methods are described in section 3.2.10 and results are presented in next section (5.2).

5.2 Results

Confocal images were first taken to validate the experimental conditions and to verify if HEK-293 cells transfected with pEGFP-C1-hDAT and pCMV6 Entry-hSigma-1 plasmids were able to express the proteins under investigation. Results of these control experiments are shown in section 3.3.3.

Following studies were performed in order to describe molecular dynamics underlying the σ_1 -mediated increase of DA uptake. Four experimental groups have been then established:

Group #	EGFP- hDAT	hσ1- FLAG	(+)-pentazocine 1 μM (1h pretreatment)
1)	+	-	-
2)	+	-	+
3)	+	+	-
4)	+	+	+

5.2.1 Confocal images of groups 1) and 2)

Uptake studies performed in HEK-293 and detailed in chapter 3 demonstrate that the modulation of DA uptake activity induced by (+)-pentazocine is observed only in cells stably expressing the $h\sigma_1$ receptors. For this reason groups 1) and 2) were employed as negative controls, to check if (+)-pentazocine is able to modify the distribution of EGFP-hDAT in absence of overexpressed $h\sigma_1$ receptors. Confocal images of these group are reported in figure 5.1.

Group 1)









Figure 5.1. Confocal images of group 1) and 2); **A**) separated images of nuclei stained with DAPI (blue) and EGFP-hDAT (green); **B**) merged image of nucleus and $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptor markers; note that, in both 1) and 2) groups, EGFP-hDAT fluorescence appears predominantly in near the cell surface.

In both groups, EGFP-hDAT appears mainly distributed on plasmalemma, but a slight green emission is detectable also in the cytoplasm; however it is impossible to distinguish if this cytoplasmatic fluorescence is due to background, or it is given by intracellular recycled transporters. In conclusion, no differences are detectable between group 1) and 2).

5.2.2 Confocal images of groups 3) and 4)

Comparison of images acquired for group 3) and 4) allows to acquire more clear data.



Group 3)

Figure 5.2. Confocal images of group 3); **A**) separated images of nuclei stained with DAPI (blue), $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptors labeled with a fluorescent probe (red) and EGFP-hDAT (green); **B**) merged image of nucleus and $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptor markers and EGFP-hDAT; **C**) merged image of labeled $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptor and EGFP-hDAT, color is due to colocalization of the green and the red fluorescence; note that $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptors fluorescence appears predominantly in the cytoplasm whereas EGFP-hDAT appears mainly located on the plasma membrane. However a slight green emission is detectable also in the cytoplasm.



Group 4)





Figure 5.3. Confocal images of group 4); A) and C) separated images of nuclei stained with DAPI (blue), $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptors labeled with a fluorescent probe (red) and EGFPhDAT (green); B) merged image of nucleus and $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptor markers and EGFPhDAT; D) merged image of nucleus marker and EGFP-hDAT; E) merged image of labeled $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptor and nucleus; F) merged image of labeled $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptor and EGFP-hDAT, yellow color is due to colocalization of the green and the red fluorescence; note that in the group 4) (exposed to (+)-pentazocine for 1 h) $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG receptors fluorescence is more distributed on the plasma membrane, in comparison to the untreated group 3). Also EGFP-hDAT green fluorescence appears more concentrated on plasmalemma in comparison to group 3). In addition, note that green and red fluorescence colocalize at cell surface level.

By comparing group 3) and group 4), redistribution of $h\sigma_1$ receptor (stained in red) is clear. In fact, in non treated cells, $h\sigma_1$ receptors are mainly concentrated in the cytoplasm (see also picture 3.7). Following exposure to (+)-pentazocine, the red stained protein massively translocates towards the plasma membrane.

As far as it concerns the EGFP-hDAT, if we compare the image of group 3) with the images of group 4), hDAT seems to be more located at plasma membrane level in cells pretreated with (+)-pentazocine.

In addition, $h\sigma_1$ and hDAT appear to colocalize both in treated and in non-treated cells. Thus, in conclusion, these confocal studies show that pretreatment with (+)-pentazocine induce a redistribution of intracellular $h\sigma_1$ receptors and suggest that the observed increase of [³H]DA uptake could be mediated by a $h\sigma_1$ redistribution from the cytoplasm to the cell membrane where hDAT is localized.

DISCUSSION

CHAPTER 6,

DISCUSSION

6.1 Discussion

The concept of sigma (σ) receptors was first introduced in literature by Martin and colleagues (Martin et al., 1976), up to now, numerous studies have tried to unrevail their role in neuronal transmission. This study reports for the first time that in two cells model, HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y cells, h σ 1 receptor is able to modulate the DA uptake mediated by hDAT.

Results illustrated in this thesis demonstrate that activation of overexpressed $h\sigma_1$ receptors by (+)-pentazocine, the σ_1 agonist prototype, determines an increase of 40% of the extracellular [³H]DA uptake, in comparison to non-treated controls. The hypothesis that this effect is mediated by the $h\sigma_1$ receptors is confirmed by results obtained in uptake assays, hereafter reported:

- 1) (+)-pentazocine mediates the increase of [³H]DA uptake only in cells stably transfected with the vector encoding for the fusion protein $h\sigma_1$ -FLAG. EC₅₀ value obtained for the σ_1 agonist in HEK-293 cell line is higher than the EC₅₀ obtained in SH-SY5Y. This difference is mainly to ascribe to the different nature of these cells.
- 2) (-)-pentazocine, wich has a 42 lower affinity for σ_1 than its (+) isomer, is not able to increase the [³H]DA uptake in HEK-293. In SH-SY5Y, calculated EC₅₀ for (-)-pentazocine is 322 fold higher than EC₅₀ calculated for the (+)-pentazocine. These results are in line with the different affinity of (+)-and (-) isomers of pentazocine for the σ_1 receptors.

3) In both the cell lines, the σ_1 antagonists BD-1047 and NE-100 prevent the positive effect of (+)-pentazocine on DA reuptake; these compounds had no effect on uptake if used alone.

Involvement of σ_1 receptors in the modulation of extracellular levels of DA has been previously described in vivo (Gudelsky, 1999; Moison et al., 2003). In these studies, intrastriatal infusion of σ_1 receptors agonists, particularly (+)-pentazocine, produced a biphasic effect on extracellular DA concentration, consisting in a rapid increase, during the first thirty minutes, followed by a more prolonged and marked decrease (Fig.1.6 A and B) (Gudelsky 1999; Moison et al., 2003). The biphasic effect is mainly evident when higher concentrations of the σ_1 ligand are administered. At lower doses, the σ_1 agonists definitely appear to reduce the extracellular [DA] (Gudelsky 1999; Moison et al., 2003). According to these observations, in the rat intravenous administration of σ agonists decreases the firing rate of rats DA neurons (Steinfels et al., 1989; Minabe et al., 1999) and this reduction is prevented by the σ_1 antagonist NE-100. The σ -mediated reduction of extracellular [DA] has been related to inhibition of release of this catecholamine. However, the hypothesis that σ_1 receptors may also increase the DA uptake has never been investigated. Results showed in this Ph.D. dissertation are partially in line with what has been previously reported by Gudelsky and Minabe. In fact, the σ_1 -mediated increase of [³H]DA uptake could represent another mechanism by which (+)-pentazocine regulates the extracellular [DA] in vivo.

In the experimental model adopted in this study, as expected, the major activity of σ_1 selective antagonists BD-1047 and NE-100 was to block the effects of the agonist and, hence, they prevented the (+)-pentazocine-induced increase of the [³H]DA uptake. σ_1 antagonists have been investigated for the treatment of psychostimulant abuse since they are able to block several

cocaine and amphetamine mediated effects, like sensitization, relapse, iperlocomotion and overdose death (Maurice et al., 2002). These drugs are also able to directly bind the σ_1 receptors at micromolar concentrations, achievable following their *in vivo* administration (Maurice et al., 2002). As widely described in the literature (see section 2.6.2), both cocaine and amphetamine act increasing the extracellular DA concentrations, which is thought to mediate the rewarding and reinforcing properties of these drugs. Thus, it is not easy to fit our results with these axioms, because in our models the σ_1 agonist actually reduces the extracellular level of DA instead of increase it and σ_1 antagonists would even prevent this decrease.

In the attempting to explain these discrepancies, it is necessary not to consider the dopaminergic system as the only target of σ_1 receptors. In fact, as described in chapter 1, activation of σ_1 receptors may alter several neurotransmitter systems, such as the cholinergic, noradrenergic, GABAergic, serotoninergic and glutammatergic systems. This thesis describes a cross talking between the $h\sigma_1$ receptor and the hDAT in two cell models; therefore it is not possible to exclude that *in vivo* σ_1 receptors activation by psychostimulants may involve multiple neuronal pathways.

For the second part of this thesis, experiments have been performed in order to investigate functional alterations caused by the (+)-pentazocinemediated increase of DA uptake; particularly it has been investigated if the increase of intracellular [DA] could affect cells viability. In fact, when intracellular levels of DA abnormally increase, vescicles can't sequester the DA which is metabolized by MAO (A and B) and COMT with consequent overproduction of oxygen reactive species and toxic catabolites (Hastings, 1995, Hastings et al., 1996). Stress induced by these molecules may leads cells to death. As is possible to evince from data showed in chapter 4, DA is more toxic in cells that transiently espress the hDAT, underlying the role of cell uptake in mediating DA toxicity . SH-SY5Y are more sensitive to DA than the HEK-293; this difference is probably due to DA metabolism efficiency, wich is higher in the neuronal- than in the kidney-derived cell line.

For what it concerns the role of the transfected $h\sigma_1$ in modulating the DA cell toxicity, this study demonstrates that (+)-pentazocine increases DA cell toxicity in a concentration-dependent manner only in cells co-expressing $h\sigma_1$ and hDAT. Such effects are evident exclusively when DA is present at a concentration slightly lower than EC₅₀ that allow to estimate the σ_1 contribution to cell toxicity avoiding any interference induced by DA autoxidation alone (respectively μ M for HEK-293 and 150 μ M for SH-SY5Y). EC50 curves of (+)-pentazocine were thus obtained.

Published studies concerning *in vivo* DA metabolism modulation by σ_1 receptors demonstrate that some σ_1 ligands are able to increase extracellular levels of two DA metabolites, dihydroxy phenylacetic acid (DOPAC) and homovanillic acid (HVA), in the striatum and medial prefrontal cortex (Matsuno et al., 1995; Skuza et al., 1998; Kanzaki et al., 1992). Our results are in line with these findings. In fact the increase of DA metabolism could be induced through the σ_1 -mediate raise of intracellular DA levels; moreover, the increase of extracellular DA metabolism markers help to explain the σ_1 -mediated increase of DA cell toxicity described.

Relevant is the protective action of σ_1 antagonists versus the (+)pentazocine-stimulated decrease of viability in presence of DA. In fact, toxic effects of psychostimulants are mainly mediated by alterations of extracellular DA concentrations (Gluck et al., 2001). In this context, the σ_1 antagonists, which were proposed as antipsychostimulant therapy, may also have a role in protecting neurons from psychostimulant-induced toxicity. A mapping study of σ_1 receptors in Parkinson's disease (PD) using the σ ligand [¹¹C]SA4503 and positron emission tomography (PET) has been performed (Mishina et al., 2005). In PD patients, binding of the radiotracer was significantly lower on the more affected than the less affected side of the anterior putamen, but there was no significant difference with respect to the binding between patients and controls. However, in this study changes of basal activity of σ_1 have not been described. Further studies are necessary to better explore any functional relationship between the disappearance of DA and of the σ_1 binding sites in the same neurons.

The data of this thesis support the idea that activation of σ_1 receptors, by any endogenous or exogenous ligand, may facilitate DA uptake and thus, by increasing its cellular concentration, may contribute to cause cell death. It could be suggested the σ_1 binding sites, located inside the dopaminergic neurons, may contribute to the vulnerability of these cells by elevating intracellular levels of free DA. Numerous compounds, including several drugs of abuse, bind to σ_1 receptors and activating them could facilitate the damage of dopaminergic neurons exposed to higher intracellular DA levels. If this hypothesis will be confirmed by future investigations, it could be appropriated to test σ_1 receptor antagonists in PD experimental models as adjuvant to conventional therapies.

In the last part of this thesis, functional cross-talking between $h\sigma_1$ receptor and hDAT has been further investigated using confocal microscopy. From the acquired data it could be suggested that, following exposure to (+)-pentazocine, the $h\sigma_1$ receptors massively translocate towards the plasma membrane. Translocation of rat σ_1 receptors are known to occurr after 1 h of exposure to (+)-pentazocine (Hayashi and Su, 2003). However this is the first time that a translocation of the human subtype σ_1 receptor in HEK-293 is described. In addition, colocalization of hDAT and $h\sigma_1$ appears to occur both in treated and in non-treated cells, suggesting that the observed increase of [³H]DA uptake could be mediated by the $h\sigma_1$ redistribution from the cytoplasm to the cell membrane where hDAT is localized. Any physical interaction between the two proteins remains to be proved.

6.2 Concluding remarks

In this thesis, modulatory effects of hDAT by $h\sigma_1$ receptors has been described in cell models.

It has been demonstrated that the σ_1 receptor agonist (+)-pentazocine induces a potentiation of the hDAT [³H]DA uptake activity only in cells stably expressing the $h\sigma_1$ receptor in a concentration-dependent manner. This effect is abolished by pretreatment with σ_1 antagonists BD-1047 and NE-100, which are not able to modify the [³H]DA uptake if tested alone.

It has been demonstrated that viability of cells is strongly affected by the level of the uptaken DA; in viability assays, (+)-pentazocine increases cells susceptibility to DA toxicity in a concentration-dependent manner only in groups of cells that co-express the $h\sigma_1$ and the hDAT. This effect is prevented by pretreatment with σ_1 antagonists BD-1047 and NE-100. The significant increase of toxicity induced by (+)-pentazocine could be explained by virtue of the raised intracellular [DA], which has been proved in DA uptake assays. Confocal microscopy studies showed that $h\sigma_1$ receptors are able to translocate toward the membrane following exposure to (+)-pentazocine; in addition colocalization of hDAT and $h\sigma_1$ appear to occur both in treated and in non-treated cells. Thus, $h\sigma_1$ translocation could represent a key step in mediating the observed increase of [³H]DA uptake.

References

Gluck MR, Moy LY, Jayatilleke E, Hogan KA, Manzino L, Sonsalla PK. Parallel increases in lipid and protein oxidative markers in several mouse brain regions after methamphetamine treatment. *J Neurochem* 79, 152–160. 2001.

Gudelsky GA. Biphasic effect of sigma receptor ligands on the extracellular concentration of dopamine in the striatum of the rat. *J Neural Transm* 106: 849-856, 1999.

Hastings TG. Enzymatic oxidation of dopamine: the role of prostaglandin H synthase. J Neurochem. Feb;64(2):919-24. 1995.

Hastings TG, Lewis DA, Zigmond MJ. Role of oxidation in the neurotoxic effects of intrastriatal dopamine injections, Proc. Natl. *Acad. Sci. U. S. A*.: 1956–1961. 1996.

Hayashi T and Su TP. Intracellular dynamics of σ_1 receptors (σ_1 binding sites) in NG108-15 cells. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 306: 726-733, 2003a

Kanzaki A, Okumura K, Ujike H, Tsuchida K, Akiyama K and Otsuki S. BMY-14802 reverses the reduction of striatal dopamine release induced

by (+)-3-[3-hydroxyphenyl]-*N*- (1propyl)piperidine. *J Neural Transm Gen Sect* 90: 137-144, 1992.

Martin WR, Eades CG, Thompson JA, Huppler RE and Gilbert PE. The effects of morphineand nalorphine- like drugs in the nondependent and morphine-dependent chronic spinal dog. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 197: 517-532, 1976.

Matsuno K, Matsunaga KH and Mita S. Acute effects of sigma ligands on the extracellular

DOPAC level in rat frontal cortex and striatum. *Neurochem Res* 20: 233-238, 1995

Maurice T, Martin-Fardon R, Romieu P and Matsumoto RR. Sigma1 (σ_1) receptor antagonists represent a new strategy against cocaine addiction and toxicity. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 26: 499-527, 2002.

Minabe Y, Matsuno K and Ashby CR, Jr. Acute and chronic administration of the selective sigmal receptor agonist SA4503 significantly alters the activity of midbrain dopamine neurons in rats: An *in vivo* electrophysiological study. *Synapse* 33: 129- 140, 1999.

Mishina M, Ishiwata K, Ishii K, Kitamura S, Kimura Y, Kawamura K, Oda K, Sasaki T, Sakayori O, Hamamoto M, Kobayashi S, Katayama Y. Function of sigma1 receptors in Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurol Scand.* Aug;112(2):103-7. 2005.

Moison D, De Deurwaerdere P, Cagnotto A, Marrazzo A, Prezzavento O, Ronsisvalle G, Mennini T and Spampinato U. Intrastriatal administration of sigma ligands inhibits basal dopamine release *in vivo*. *Neuropharmacology* 45: 945-953, 2003.

Skuza G, Golembiowska K and Wedzony K. Effect of EMD 57445, the selective σ receptor ligand, on the turnover and release of dopamine. *Pol J Pharmacol* 50: 61-64, 1998.

Steinfels GF, Tam SW and Cook L. Electrophysiological effects of selective sigmareceptor agonists, antagonists, and the selective phencyclidine receptor agonist MK-801 on midbrain dopamine neurons.

Neuropsychopharmacology 2: 201-208, 1989.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to:

- My mentor, Professor Santi Spampinato, for his support, patience and encouragement throughout my graduate studies. His technical and editorial advices were essential to the completion of this dissertation.
- Professor Giorgio Cantelli Forti for his kind support, avalibility and patience.
- Professor Christopher Mcurdy, for the guidance, the friendship and all that I have learnt from him about life and chemistry throughout the period that I spent at OLEMISS in Oxford Mississippi.
- Professor Jacques Poupaert who has always inspired my ideas with philosophic and scientific conversations.
- Professor Giulio Muccioli that brilliantly guided me with kindness and patience when I was a young undergraduate student.
- Professor Didier M. Lambert that allowed me to work in his laboratory, experience that I always remember with affection.

Professor Nadia Calonghi for her kind help with the confocal microscopy.

Professor Susan Amara for her kind avalaibility and for her precious contribute to this PhD. investigation.

Giulia, my beloved wife, the main reason of my life.

- My parents, whose love have supported me all through these years. Thank you to believe in me.
- My second mother Ziella that never misses an occasion to show me her love; I always felt so lucky to have an angel like you by my side.
- Zia Francesca that always guided me through life with love and helped me taking the hardest decisions.

Nicoletta and Giuseppe that always take care of me like a son.

- Giammi and Antonino, the best collegues you can dream. You can't understand how important is for me your friendship. Thank you for all your encouragement and for the wonderful scientific conversations.
- Leonardo, Pablo, MariaGrazia and Edie, my italo-american family. I shared with you some of the best moments of my life. I'll never forget a second of such precious days toghether.